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Dear Shareholders, 
Reviewing the Reports that accompanied the financial statements of these last few years, 
we find, year after year, evidence of a complex process that saw our Group gradually evolve 
as a result of the 2009 crisis that led to unprecedented scenarios in all markets. 

In response to the crisis, we put in place a detailed and rigorous action plan, aimed at 
bringing the Group to economic and financial equilibrium, which was concluded precisely 
at the end of 2016. 

This process led us to make choices very different from certain projects undertaken 
in past years. By this I refer, for example, to the exit from the non-core business of mi-
cro-gears (miniGears) or the sale of the majority interest in O&KA (gearboxes for heavy 
duty machines). Or, finally, to the deconsolidation of Elettronica Santerno, last November, 
which marked the final exit of Carraro from the photovoltaic business. All this in order to 
focus attention on the most typical Carraro skills. 

In 2012, we focussed on “sustainable growth”. In 2013, we “refocussed” on the core 
business. In 2014, on the “governance review”. In 2015, on “rationalisation”. 2016 will be 
remembered as the year of the turnaround, because precisely the sale of Elettronica San-
terno marks the end of a cycle. The current scope of our activities is the result of the re-
structuring process in which we have been heavily engaged in recent years, and represents 
the baseline for the next steps towards a new and vital growth phase. 

Albeit with a reduced absolute size, the Group now presents itself on the market with 
greater strength, thanks largely to a specific focus which sees us fully focused on trans-
mission systems for off-highway vehicles and on specialised tractors. This thanks to the 
optimisation of our global manufacturing platform, to the rationalisation of the suppli-
er-partner network, as well as to the acceleration of Research and Development processes, 
fundamental to ensure increasing levels of innovation and technology to propose to the 
market. 

Turning to the 2016 figures, the year that we left behind us recorded a decrease in turn-
over of 12%, from 674 million to 594 million Euros. A decrease which is reduced to 8.3% 
taking into account the deconsolidation of O&KA and Elettronica Santerno. In parallel, 
the past 12 months were affected by important non-recurring items, excluding which, and 
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with constant perimeter, the Group achieved a net profit of 4.8 million Euros, in sharp 
contrast compared to the loss of 3.5 million Euros in 2015. At the same time, the indebt-
edness decreased, with a net negative financial position significantly improved from 227.8 
to 183.2 million Euros. In this context, Research and Innovation expenditure in 2016 
amounted to 14.7 million Euros (2.5% of turnover), up compared to 13.8 million Euros 
(2% of turnover) in 2015. 

The analysis of these figures alone is sufficient to understand the new competitive po-
sitioning of the Group which, even in the presence of lower volumes, is back in profit, 
continuing to increase investment in R&D, while simultaneously strengthening the rela-
tionship with its key customers. 

Today, therefore, we close the important restructuring process in which we have been 
engaged in recent years, which has led to a new and more solid structure of the Group. 

Lean global management 
Compared to 2008, the management structure has been radically reviewed in order to 
speed up the decision making process, and we are already seeing significant improve-
ments in responsiveness and response times. With this approach, middle management 
has been reinforced, reducing the top management functions while simultaneously pro-
moting some of our local managers in the important sites of China and India to key roles. 
This as a confirmation of our determination to develop human capital at all latitudes. 

Focus on the core business and investments in new technologies 
From four business areas with distinct objectives, risk profiles and markets, we now have a 
single macro-area with a return to the development of agricultural tractors and construc-
tion machinery, as well as specialised tractors for vineyards and orchards. Concentration 
on the core business has, in recent years, allowed us to focus major investments in both 
production processes as well as new products. On the one hand we have increased the 
technological level of our internal systems, redesigning the layout of key plants such as 
Maniago (for gears), Rovigo (for tractors) and Pune – India (for new lines of agricultural 
axles) making them references of excellence on the market. On the other, extension of the 
product range has continued, thanks to the strong drive in R&D that has led to the launch 
of more than 30 projects, especially in the field of highly technological transmissions and 
specialised tractors that have already stimulated the interest of the most important global 
industry players. 

Integrated global platform 
Twenty years since the start of the internationalisation process, the Group now has plants 
in every strategic area, from China to India, from Europe to South America. 

In recent years we have optimised our production platform, on the one hand reducing 
non-strategic assets and, on the other, investing to enter new geographical areas of inter-
est, such as Brazil. 

The tight integration between the various Group plants, guaranteed by a highly devel-
oped centralised control, now allows us to balance the level of plant utilization according 
to the needs of individual markets with great flexibility. 
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Management 4.0 
As a result of major investments aimed at developing innovative interconnected technol-
ogy platforms, all Group sites now operate with highly efficient and automated methods. 
All this happens in a manner consistent with the evolution of our manufacturing process-
es that are fully compliant with the “4.0” management era, with assembly lines and work 
areas monitored in real time. Thanks to the Carraro Live WIP™ project, more than 30% 
of our production stations are already connected and ensure traceability, flexibility and 
above all optimal control of product/process quality. 

With the closure of 2016, we therefore definitively leave a very complex period behind us 
and look ahead, bearing in mind a very clear keyword: growth. Today our Group has all it 
takes to achieve significant levels of competitiveness, to return to produce profits and to 
further invest in its development. 

Precisely confirming the validity of the actions undertaken, and in support of strength-
ening the Group’s equity, last year a capital increase was launched. This operation has al-
ready seen the controlling shareholders paying in 34 million Euros. This important sign of 
confidence is combined with the support of the banking system that has always followed 
us closely, as have our customers. 

We were born with agricultural equipment, we grew up with tractors to then focus on 
transmission systems. Our future will go from here, in the wake of a new mission that 
will see us as unique protagonists in the development of highly technological solutions 
for off-highway machines, from single components to complete tractors, not forgetting 
advanced mechanics. 

Thanks to what has been sown, with 2017 we are on the eve of a new era of growth, en-
couraged in this by the positive signals that we are receiving from our target markets. In 
the construction machinery sector, the outlook for Europe and the United States is largely 
stable, but there is the expectation of a possible renewal of the installed base; in the agri-
cultural sector, on the one hand India is confirming its positive trend, while on the other, 
South America is showing signs of recovery. 

Faced with these scenarios, it is always nevertheless necessary to keep our guard up, 
aware of the risk of volatility and possible sudden changes of direction. Precisely for this 
reason, it is crucial to be able to interpret trends in advance and, above all, be prepared to 
change direction quickly if necessary. 

In this context, we can say with certainty that the Group now has all the levers to com-
pete effectively and start on the road towards full recovery and growth. 

ENRICO CARRARO

Chairman
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DISCLAIMER
This document contains forward-
looking statements, in particular 
in the section “Business outlook 
and projections for 2017”, in 
relation to future events and the 
operating, economic and financial 
results of the Carraro Group. 
These forecasts have by their

very nature a component of 
risk and uncertainty, as they 
depend on the occurrence of 
future events and developments. 
The actual results may differ, 
even significantly, from those 
announced in relation to a 
multiplicity of factors.
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carry out their work within the limits of the powers conferred on them 
by the Board of Directors in the meeting of 27 March 2015, in accordance 
with applicable legal constraints, in terms of matters which cannot be 
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Ownership Structure



Carraro Spa

Carraro 
International Sa

Carraro 
Drive Tech Spa

Elettronica
Santerno Spa

Ownership Structure

0.0001%

0.
04

79
%

8.43%

Friulia

1.3648%

Local Partners

Siap Spa

Minigears Inc.

Gear World

North America Llc

Minigears

Property

56.69%

43.31%

100%

99
.9
52
1%

10
0
%

1%

100%

98.6352%

Carra
ro 

Deutschland Gmbh

Carraro 

Technologies Ltd.

Carraro Drive Tech 

do Brasil In
c.

Carraro 

Argentin
a Sa

45
%

100
%

99.9999%

Carra
ro North 

Americ
a Inc. (V

.B.)

Carraro India

Pvt Ltd.

Carraro China 

Drives Syst Co. Ltd.

O&K Antriebstechnik

Gmbh

100%

Fon Sa

100%

99
%

27.3572%
21.6

455
%

Gerardo

E. Francia

100%

10
0
%

10
0

%



Carraro Spa

Carraro 
International Sa

Carraro 
Drive Tech Spa

Elettronica
Santerno Spa

Annual Review 201612 – 13

0.0001%

0.
04

79
%

8.43%

Friulia

1.3648%

Local Partners

Siap Spa

Minigears Inc.

Gear World

North America Llc

Minigears

Property

56.69%

43.31%

100%

99
.9
52
1%

10
0
%

1%

100%

98.6352%

Carra
ro 

Deutschland Gmbh

Carraro 

Technologies Ltd.

Carraro Drive Tech 

do Brasil In
c.

Carraro 

Argentin
a Sa

45
%

100
%

99.9999%

Carra
ro North 

Americ
a Inc. (V

.B.)

Carraro India

Pvt Ltd.

Carraro China 

Drives Syst Co. Ltd.

O&K Antriebstechnik

Gmbh

100%

Fon Sa

100%

99
%

27.3572%

21.6
455

%

Gerardo

E. Francia

100%

10
0
%

10
0

%



Annual Review 201614 – 15

Consolidated Income Statement
as at 31/12/2016

31.12.16 % 31.12.15 % Changes

31.12.16 31.12.15

Revenues from sales  593,747 100.00%  674,010 100.00% -80,263 -11.91%

Purchases of goods and materials
(net of changes in inventories)

-357,066 -60.14% -401,175 -59.52%  44,109 10.99%

Services and Use of third-party 
goods and services

-96,450 -16.24% -109,690 -16.27%  13,240 12.07%

Personnel costs -97,871 -16.48% -125,063 -18.56%  27,192 21.74%

Amortisation, depreciation 
and impairment of assets

-27,918 -4.70% -48,908 -7.26%  20,990 42.92%

Provisions for risks -10,306 -1.74% -11,586 -1.72%  1,280 11.05%

Other income and expenses  3,439 0.58%  17,758 2.63% -14,319 -80.63%

Internal construction  4,184 0.70%  4,985 0.74% -801 -16.07%

Operating costs -581,988 -98.02% -673,679 -99.95%  91,691 13.61%

Operating profit/(loss) (ebit)  11,759 1.98%  331 0.05%  11,428 

Income and expenses 
from equity investments

-14 0.00%  22,825 3.39% -22,839 

Other financial income  2,200 0.37%  3,764 0.56% -1,564 -41.55%

Financial costs and expenses -13,644 -2.30% -20,182 -2.99%  6,538 32.40%

Net gains/(losses) 
on foreign exchange

-1,836 -0.31% -4,471 -0.66%  2,635 58.94%

Value adjustments of financial assets -213 -0.04%  - 0.00% -213 

Gains/(losses) on financial assets -13,507 -2.27%  1,936 0.29% -15,443 

Profit/(loss) before taxes -1,748 -0.29%  2,267 0.34% -4,015 

Current and deferred income taxes -7,340 -1.24% -11,373 -1.69%  4,033 35.46%

Net profit/(loss) -9,088 -1.53% -9,106 -1.35%  18 0.20%

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minorities  1 0.00%  191 0.03% -190 -99.48%

Group consolidated profit/(loss) -9,087 -1.53% -8,915 -1.32% -172 -1.93%

Ebitda  39,182 6.60%  46,938 6.69% -7,756 -16.52%
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Directors' Report on Operations

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31/12/2016

31.12.16 31.12.15

Property, plant and equipment  150,849  163,828 

Intangible fixed assets  61,117  70,702 

Real estate investments  695  695 

Investments  18,561  16,552 

Financial assets  10,616  8,896 

Deferred tax assets  21,781  29,796 

Trade receivables and other receivables  3,551  3,056 

Non-current assets  267,170  293,525 

Closing inventory  90,665  118,086 

Trade receivables and other receivables  72,916  88,683 

Financial assets  7,711  8,972 

Cash and cash equivalents  47,753  70,758 

Current assets  219,045  286,499 

Total assets  486,215  580,024 

Share Capital  23,915  23,915 

Reserves  46,995  26,854 

Foreign currency translation reserve -15,094 -13,489 

Profit/loss for the year -9,087 -8,915 

Minority interests  -  2,658 

Shareholders’ equity  46,729  31,023 

Financial liabilities  159,783  180,188 

Trade payables and other payables  646  910 

Deferred tax liabilities  2,117  3,214 

Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits  10,697  11,643 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  4,711  3,253 

Non-current liabilities  177,954  199,208 

Financial liabilities  88,448  135,443 

Trade payables and other payables  151,442  190,944 

Current taxes payables  6,473  5,384 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  15,169  18,022 

Current liabilities  261,532  349,793 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  486,215  580,024 
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Analysis of Net Working Capital of Operations
as at 31/12/2016

31.12.16 31.12.15

Trade Receivables  50,637  61,954 

Inventory  90,665  118,086 

Trade Payables -129,087 -167,283 

Net Working Capital of operations  12,215  12,757 
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Carraro is an international Group, leader in transmission systems for off-highway vehicles 
and specialised tractors, with Headquarters in Italy in Campodarsego (Padua).

Completing the strategic plan of refocussing the Group on its core business, in Novem-
ber 2016, a 51% stake of Elettronica Santerno Spa was sold to Enertronica Spa, specialis-
ing in power electronics. 

The Group’s activities are currently divided into two Business Areas:

› Drive systems
 Through the subsidiaries Carraro Drive Tech and Siap, the Group designs, manu-

factures and sells transmission systems (axles, transmissions and drives) mainly for 
agricultural and construction equipment, and also markets a wide range of gears for 
very diverse sectors, from the automotive industry to material handling, agricultural 
applications and construction equipment.

› Tractors
 Through the subsidiary Carraro Agritalia, the Group designs and manufactures spe-

cial tractors (for vineyards and orchards from 60 to 100 hp) for third-party brands, 
namely John Deere, Massey Ferguson and Claas, as well as a specialist own-brand 
range; Agritalia also provides engineering services for the design of innovative trac-
tor ranges.

The Carraro
Group
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agriculture

The persistence of still very low commodity prices limited, also for 2016, the investment 
capacity of farmers in new machinery and vehicles and only in India was there a marked 
change in trend, with a significant increase in volumes. 

Demand in Western Europe remained generally at levels slightly lower than 2015, with 
some exceptions. Larger machines, directly related to the production of agricultural com-
modities, were more penalised than those in the compact segment. A positive demand 
was however confirmed for specialised (Vineyard-Orchard, where out Group is present 
with Divisione Agritalia) tractors, thanks to the good performance of their respective sec-
tors. For 2017, early indications are for a market in line with the year just ended.

Turkey maintained fairly good sales of agricultural machinery, even allowing for signifi-
cant volatility due to the socio-political situation of the area. The country has good growth 
potential for sales to both the domestic as well as export markets, particularly to neigh-
bouring countries and North Africa, but the persistence of the aforementioned instability, 
exchange rate trend and the introduction of new import duties contribute to maintaining 
a high degree of uncertainty, especially in the short term. 

Demand in North America was confirmed to be still weak, especially for the more pow-
erful machines (tractors and harvesting machines), while it was more dynamic for medi-
um to small tractors. According to the forecast on the evolution of agricultural commodity 
prices, no significant change in trend is expected in 2017.

The tractor market in China saw a significant drop in sales volume over the previous 
year, more marked for tractors under 100 horsepower, where in fact there are no govern-
ment purchasing subsidies. Also the more powerful machines, despite the subsidies, did 
not record a positive trend over the previous year. The projection for 2017 is still very un-
certain, with cautious optimism only for machines above 100 horsepower. 

In India, sales volumes improved compared to 2015, driven by domestic demand, while 
there was a slowdown in exports. The positive trend of the monsoon and the increase in 
the guaranteed minimum price for crops facilitated the growth of domestic sales. Also for 
2017, the growth trend is expected to continue and remain so in the medium term. 

Reference
Markets
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In South America, 2016 ended with a very negative result and it is believed that the 
market has reached its minimum level. Some signs of a change in trend emerged towards 
the end of the year and the conditions for its continuation should materialise in 2017. 

construction equipment

In the various geographical areas, the negative trends in place in recent years were largely 
confirmed, with a particular slowdown in the latter part of the year due to a weaker mac-
roeconomic scenario. In this context, the compact machines recorded overall stability in 
volumes compared to the more powerful machines, much more penalised. In particular, 
the demand for mining machines seems to have stabilised at a very low level, and a num-
ber of analysts believe that the time is ripe for a weak turnaround, thanks to the recovery 
in commodity prices (copper for example). 

In Europe, the market in 2016 essentially confirmed the prospects of a slight improve-
ment compared to 2015, albeit with a marked differentiation between countries. The total 
volume of sales was slightly up compared to 2015, due to good demand for specialist com-
pact machines (loaders and excavators). The increased investments in the construction 
industry in continental European countries in fact offset the weak demand for machinery 
in other more peripheral European countries. 

It should nevertheless be remembered that in this area the construction sector is al-
ready highly mechanised; demand essentially derives from replacement needs due to the 
obsolescence of the vehicle fleet. The prospects for 2017 are still positive. 

During 2016, Turkey was significantly affected by the well known geopolitical situation; 
the weak and erratic positive signs on the demand side for construction machinery con-
tinue to be thwarted by the uncertainty of the overall economic scenario that has effective-
ly frozen new investments in the construction industry.

During 2016, North America saw a progressive weakening of demand for new con-
struction machinery, confirming a clear distinction in trend between Utility machines, 
which maintained an acceptable level of demand, and that of larger machines, with a sig-
nificantly declining trend. The crisis in the mining industry remains unchanged, even if 
new investments in machinery are being recorded, the first signs of a possible turnaround. 
Excluding the impact of specific policies in favour of this industry, which are also part of 
the program of the new administration, the market seems to have reached a stable though 
limited dimension. 

In 2016, China’s construction and mining machinery market continued its downward 
trend. The level reached at the end of year should also be substantially maintained in 
2017, the enormous quantity of machinery over-produced until 2013 having been largely 
absorbed.

Some positive effects are expected in the medium term from the long-term investment 
plan in infrastructure, called “One Belt, One Road”, which should help relaunch the sector. 

Some uncertainty remains caused by the price of vehicles following the transition to a 
higher Emission Stage, which may result in the short term in a possible slowdown in sales.
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In India, the construction machinery market was very positive, with double-digit vol-
ume growth over the previous year. The demand generated by large infrastructure invest-
ments should extend its effect to at least the whole of 2017, and potentially beyond. 

The profound crisis in the construction machinery market in South America did not 
diminish in 2016. 

Particularly in Brazil, the main export market of the Area, the crisis of confidence of 
international investors in the country’s system continues, with a consequent decrease in 
investments. The combination with lower government incentives caused a veritable halt, 
almost eliminating the demand for new machinery. No elements for a substantial turna-
round are forecast for 2017.



Key
Factors of

Success
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Research
and Innovation

The Group’s key success factor 

In keeping with a process started in previous years, the Group maintain high focus on 
R&D, with particular reference to the new range of transmissions, axles and tractors. In 
particular, during 2016, R&D costs amounting to 2.5% of turnover were incurred (com-
pared to 2% in 2015).

transmission systems and gearboxes 

The development of the new Carraro transmissions continued in 2016. In the agriculture 
sector, the CTS (Carraro Twin Shift) product family, already on the test bench with the 
T180, saw completion of the design and start of prototyping of the T100, a version up 
to 100Hp intended, as a first application, for vehicles produced by Agritalia. Feasibility 
studies also derived additional versions from the T180 model which, thanks to a modular 
approach of the basic architecture of the new transmission proposal, will ensure a greater 
number of variants available. The prototyping of a new compact version of the T100 was 
also launched, instrumental to the new range of reduced wheelbase Carraro Tractors.

In the construction equipment sector, the new TCH transmission (especially the “drive 
side” version which provides optimal application ergonomics) for telehandlers was much 
appreciated by the market and is currently in the prototype stage. Also the backhoe loader 
transmission family, with the TB Power Servo Synchro (semi-automatic with electronic 
control) and Power Shift (fully automatic with electronic control) versions, generated 
significant market interest. 

axle range evolution 

The evolution and standardisation initiated in 2015 continued in 2016, with the technical 
definition of most of the functional subassemblies. In agriculture, new axle models were 
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successfully launched on the market in China and India. 
A new suspended axle solution (Ifas) for compact tractors was also designed and is now 

in the prototype stage. In parallel, a new family of portal axles, addressed to emerging 
markets and specialised tractors, was initiated in the two versions up to 75 Hp and up to 
50 Hp, the first launched in prototyping and the second in optimisation. 

tractors 

During 2016, research and development activities were geared towards four main objec-
tives: 

› extension of the tractor range to cover new market opportunities 
› technical renewal of all products for alignment with the Stage IIIB emissions direc-

tives and with the “Mother Regulation” European directive 
› model and ergonomics restyling to accompany the regulatory alignments 
› common platform 

This is the sense of the redesign of the new specialised tractors that will go into pro-
duction in 2017 in which, in addition to the increase in maximum available power, new 
integrated diagnostic systems, interiors and control systems were developed.

The offer was expanded with cab models for low orchards and open field versions for 
emerging countries. The design of specialised tractors up to 70 Hp completed the first 
phase of development in 2016 and will be tested in the field in 2017.

In terms of basic innovation, important investments were made for vehicle integration 
of the new hydropneumatic suspension axles (Ifas) and new transmissions. In particular, 
studies were initiated for the development of tractors with Carraro Dual Clutch transmis-
sions, as well as projects for the new generation of stage V tractors.

treasury shares 

As at 31 December 2016, the company held 2,626,988 treasury shares for a total invest-
ment of 6.666 million Euros.



Highlights
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Summary
of Financial 
Year 2016

foreword

In 2016, the Group completed a series of restructuring operations. For a correct compar-
ison and better understanding of the actual results of the period, adjustments of actual 
data will be highlighted. 

In particular, the adjusted data will take account of transactions not related to ordi-
nary operations, such as restructuring activities, which mainly concerned Carraro Ar-
gentina, the impairment of certain intangible assets and other non-recurring income 
and expenses.

The proforma data will take into account the effects of the deconsolidation of O&KA 
(for constant perimeter) due to the sale of a 55% stake which took place in 2015 and the 
effects of the deconsolidation resulting from the sale of 51% of Elettronica Santerno Spa 
and its subsidiaries (for constant perimeter) in November 2016.

The following alternative performance indicators will also be used: 
› Ebitda: the sum of operating profit/(loss) of the income statement, amortisation, 

depreciation and impairment of fixed assets
› Ebit: earnings before tax taxes and financial income and expenses, with no adjust-

ments;
› Net Working Capital of operations: difference between Trade Receivables, Net In-

ventories and Trade Payables in the balance sheet;
› Net financial position of operations: Esma Net Financial Debt determined in accord-

ance with the provisions of paragraph 127 of the recommendations contained in the 
Esma document no. 319 of 2013, implementing Regulation (EC) 809/2004, deduct-
ed, where applicable, non-current receivables and financial assets;
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performance

With the sale of the controlling stake of Santerno and the restructuring of Carraro Argen-
tina, the process of restructuring and refocusing on the core business started following the 
crisis in 2009 due to the changed and radical transformations of the main target markets, 
can be considered completed.

A long and complicated journey that involved optimisation of the industrial footprint, 
rationalisation of the supply chain, also through partnerships with suppliers, reduction 
and streamlining of the structure (lean management) and a series of not strictly necessary 
asset disposals to achieve the defined objectives. This resulted over time in the use of sig-
nificant resources to bring the Group not only to the right size, but also to a new level of 
competitiveness and innovation, key factors for growth and for the future of the company 
(as can be seen from the chart below showing the ten-year trend in revenue, Ebitda, Nfp 
of operations and net Income). Once again in its history, the Group has proved its capac-
ity to interpret the new business cycle through a radical alignment of the organisational 
structure. 
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It is worth noting that, even in the presence of an overall reduction in fixed costs in 
absolute terms, over the years research and development costs have never been penalised.

The fruits of this gigantic effort are particularly visible in 2016 and provide a solid basis 
for looking to the future. Despite the contraction in volumes, margins, net of non-recur-
ring operational items, shows an improvement both in absolute as well as percentage of 
sales terms. As we will see below, the improvement is even more evident when consider-
ing the homogeneity of the perimeter, in particular as regards net profit/(loss), which is 
significantly positive. 

As a further demonstration and guarantee of the seriousness of this commitment, 
which over time always received the support of the banks, in June a capital increase was 
announced for the amount guaranteed by the main shareholders, amounting to 34 mil-
lion Euros. 

The ability to meet its commitments was particularly appreciated by the main custom-
ers of the Group which also guaranteed and renewed their trust in recent years. 
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65,409 M€
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60,744 M€
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* net of non-recurring operating costs and with the exclusion 
of the Electronics Business Area and of the subsidiary 
O&K Antriebstechnik Gmbh

Other fixed costs [M€]*
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results summary

The Group closed 2016 with a consolidated turnover of 593.747 million Euros, down 
11.9% compared to 674.010 million Euros in 2015. The 2016 proforma turnover amount-
ed to 557.823 million Euros, compared to a proforma turnover of 610.576 million Euros 
in 2015, down 8.6%. 

Turnover for the business areas operating in the mechanical engineering sector (Drive-
tech and Agritalia) was down by 8.4%. In particular, the Drive Tech Business Area record-
ed a decrease of 10.2% (proforma) and Agritalia had a decrease in sales of 0.6%. 

The turnover of the Santerno Business Area at 31 December 2016 contributed to Group 
revenues for the amount of 36.153 million Euros, compared to 35.157 million Euros at 31 
December 2015. Bear in mind that, as a result of the above-mentioned sale of the majority, 
the results of the company and its subsidiaries were fully consolidated up to the month of 
November 2016 and therefore the comparison with 2015 is not homogeneous.

Consolidated margins (Ebitda and Ebit) for the year are affected by opposing non-re-
curring items: mainly Santerno goodwill impairment charge of 5.2 million Euros as a re-
sult of the sale of the investment (which follows the write-down of 16 million Euros made 
in 2015), and restructuring costs totalling 4.3 million Euros, related to the downsizing of 
the Argentine subsidiary.

Ebitda at 31 December 2016 amounted 39.182 million Euros (6.6% of turnover), down 
by 16.5% compared to the 46.938 million Euros (7.0% of turnover) of 2015, while Ebit 
2016 amounted to 11.759 thousand Euros (2.0% of turnover) an increase compared to 331 
thousand Euros (0.0% of turnover) in 2015. 

Net of the non-recurring operations and with constant perimeter, adjusted and profor-
ma Ebitda and Ebit would be the following:

Group 31.12.2016 % of turnover 31.12.2015 % of turnover

Ebitda  39,182 6.6%  46,938 7.0%

Adjusted ebitda  44,669 7.5%  42,627 6.3%

Adjusted proforma Ebitda  48,151 8.6%  50,642 8.3%

Ebit  11,759 2.0%  331 0.0%

Adjusted Ebit  22,459 3.8%  14,406 2.1%

Adjusted proforma Ebit 27,662 5.0% 26,534 4.3%

With reference to the business areas operating in the mechanical engineering segment, 
Ebitda at 31 December 2016 amounted to 45.265 million Euros (7.8% of turnover) com-
pared to 47.978 million Euros (7.2% of turnover) in the previous year. Ebit as at 31 De-
cember 2016 was equal to 27.337 million Euros (4.7% of turnover) compared to 24.416 
million Euros (3.7% of turnover). Net of the non-recurring operations and with constant 
perimeter, adjusted and proforma Ebitda and Ebit would be those indicated in the follow-
ing table:
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Mechanical engineering 31.12.2016 % of turnover 31.12.2015 % of turnover

Ebitda  45,265 7.8%  47,978 7.2%

Adjusted Ebitda  49,522 8.5%  41,674 6.3%

Adjusted proforma Ebitda  49,522 8.5%  47,005 7.4%

Ebit  27,337 4.7%  24,416 3.7%

Adjusted Ebit  31,594 5.4%  18,812 2.8%

Adjusted proforma Ebit  31,594 5.4%  25,424 4.0%

Net financial expenses amounted to 11.444 million Euros (1.9% of turnover) compared 
to 16.418 million Euros (2.4% of turnover) in 2015, while exchange rate losses amounted 
to 1.836 million Euros (0.3% of turnover) compared to 4.471 million Euros (0.7% of turn-
over) in 2015. 

Taxes for the period amounted to a total of 7.340 million Euros (1.2% of turnover) com-
pared to 11.373 million Euros (1.7% of turnover) in the previous year.

The Group closed with a loss of 9.087 million Euros (-1.5% of turnover) compared to 
a loss of 8.915 million Euros (-1.3% of turnover) in 2015. Net of the effects of non-recur-
ring operations with constant perimeter, the adjusted and proforma profit/(loss) can be 
inferred from the following table:

Group 31.12.2016 % of turnover 31.12.2015 % of turnover

Net profit/(loss) -9,087 -1.5% -8,915 -1.3%

Adjusted net profit/(loss) 436 0.1% -11,322 -1.7%

Adjusted net proforma profit/(loss)  4,785 0.9% -3,520 -0.6%

The Electronics Business Area (Elettronica Santerno), fully de-consolidated as of the 
end of November 2016, contributed to the Group’s profit/(loss) at 31 December 2016 with 
a negative Ebitda of 3.532 million Euros (-9.8% of turnover), a negative Ebit of 10.465 
million Euros (-28.9% of turnover) and a loss of 12.257 million Euros. 

The consolidated net financial position as at 31 December 2016 was negative at 183.200 
million Euros, improving on the figure of 227.783 million Euros as at 31 December 2015 
which, as at 30 June 2016 was negative at 194.618 million Euros. The positive variance 
over the previous year was due to a slight decrease in net working capital of operations 
(542,000 Euros), payment of the capital increase by the majority shareholders amounting 
to 34 million Euros, and the deconsolidation of Elettronica Santerno Spa and its subsidi-
aries (amounting to 9.493 million Euros)

The Group shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2016 was equal to 46.729 million 
Euros compared to 31.023 million Euros as at 31 December 2015. 

At 31 December 2016, the Group covenants provided for in the new agreement, signed 
with the banks on 24 December 2015, were complied with.
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2016
f 2015
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Net Revenues

593,747
f 674,010

Operating Income

11,759
f 331

Net Income

–9,087
f –8,915

Shareholders’ Equity

46,729
f 31,023

ROI

2.42 %
f 0.06%

ROE

–19.45 %
f –31.43%
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Gross Investments

16,015
f 25,414

Managers and Employees 

at 31/12

686
f 852

R&D/Sales 

2.5 %
f 2.0%

R&D 

14,673
f 13,764

Workers at 31/12

2,293
f 2,424
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Consolidated Ebit

Consolidated Sales Revenues
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Consolidated Net Income

Consolidated Net Financial Position
debt balance
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Consolidated Equity Structure
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OTHER
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France

6.5 %
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Drivetech
Summary Data and Graphs 

Shareholders’ equity

121,736
f 130,799

Gross investments

10,236
f 16,892

Net income

9,923
f 26,182
Net of minority interests

Net revenues

461,797
f 543,676

Operating income

21,137
f 18,134
Adjusted for the effect of exchange differences

Workforce at 31/12

2,589
f 2,739

Total Foreign Countries

88.3 %
f 89.4%
Turnover by Geographical Area

R&D

1,759
f 3,755

Managers/Employees
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Workforce Breakdown

Workers

2,112
f 2,233
Workforce Breakdown

Total Italy

11.7 %
f 10.6%
Turnover by Geographical Area
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Breakdown by Sector of Application
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Agritalia
Summary Data and Graphs 

Shareholders’ equity

–1,956
f 8,408

Gross investments

1,809
f 1,278 

Net income

6,172
f 5,902
Net of minority interests

Net revenues

119,756
f 120,429

Operating income

6,200
f 6,282
Adjusted for the effect of exchange differences

Workforce at 31/12

233
f 227

Total Foreign Countries 
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Turnover by Geographical Area

R&D
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f 33.8%
Turnover by Geographical Area
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Breakdown by Sector of Application
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Significant Events
in Financial Year  

2016

In February, Carraro Drive Tech Spa received the AEO (Authorised Economic Operator) 
certification issued by the Customs Authority. This certification attests that Carraro meets 
all the requirements in terms of administrative, financial and customs reliability, as well 
as safety standards for handling goods to and from foreign countries, in line with EU leg-
islation governing the relations between private entities and the authorities responsible 
for controlling international trade. 

Authorized Economic Operator certification will enable Carraro Drive Tech to benefit 
from greater efficiency in the export and import of goods, as well as – thanks to more ef-
ficient cooperation with the Customs Authorities – to obtain accreditation in other coun-
tries of the reliability and safety requirements certified by AEO status. 

On 8 February 2016, Carraro Drive Tech Spa acquired a stake of 8.43% in the subsidi-
ary Siap Spa from the holding company Friulia Spa which, as envisaged by the agreements 
originally signed, left the shareholding structure at the end of its institutional commit-
ment. 

In May, a further phase of the personnel reduction process in the production plant in 
Argentina was completed, following the decrease in turnover in the area in question. An 
agreement between Carraro Argentina and the union representatives was in fact signed at 
the Ministry of Labour that allowed the exit of 125 workers in accordance with the medi-
ation procedures provided for by local legislation.

On 27 June 2016, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro Spa approved 
a capital increase in subscription rights for the maximum amount of 54 million Euros, 
of which 34 million Euros subscribed and paid by the shareholders Finaid Spa and Julia 
Dora Koranyi Arduini. This subscription was conditional on receipt of prior exemption 
from Consob of a possible mandatory tender offer, following subscription by the Investor, 
received on 24 June 2016. Payment of the guaranteed minimum amount (34 million Eu-
ros) took place 29 June 2016. The capital increase will be executed as soon as clearance 
to publish the prospectus is obtained, originally scheduled for 31 December 2016 and 
subsequently extended to 30 June 2017 due to the work which had become necessary for 
preparation of the Prospectus.

On 30 November 2016, the agreement for the investment of Enertronica in the capital 



Highlights

of Elettronica Santerno Spa was finalised, resulting in the transfer of a 51% controlling 
interest to the same. The operation was implemented through the subscription of a capital 
increase for the amount of 2.25 million Euros, dedicated to the relaunch of the company 
and investment in R&D. The Carraro Group therefore maintains a 49% stake of the share 
capital of the company. 

Subsequent events
There are no subsequent events to report.
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During 2016, the share price maintained a trend similar to the Ftse Mib, albeit remaining 
below, except for the latter part of the year. After the sale of 51% of Elettronica Santerno 
Spa, the share price recovered value, outperforming the index value in January 2017.

The official average price of 2016 was 1.322 Euros, with a maximum listing of 1.893 
Euros on 4 January and a minimum listing at 1.117 Euros on 7 July.

Share
Performance
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Business Outlook
and Projections 

for 2017

For 2017, at constant perimeter, sales volumes slightly down compared to 2016 are ex-
pected. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON OPERATIONS
as at 31 December 2016

Balance Sheet and Financial data

Report



Directors’ Report on Operations

Turnover
The Group’s turnover as at 31 December 2016 amounted to 593.747 million Euros, 

down 11.9% compared to turnover for 2015, equal to 674.010 million Euros. 
The following table breaks turnover down by business segment:

Sales Sales to third parties

31.12.16 31.12.15 Diff % 31.12.16 31.12.15 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech  461,797  543,676 –15.1  439,637  522,627 –15.9

Carraro div. Agritalia  119,756  120,429 –0.6  115,081  116,192 –1.0

Elettronica Santerno  36,153  35,157 2.8  36,150  35,146 2.9

Non allocated business  23,327  26,097 –10.6.  56  45 24.4

Total segments  641,033  725,359 –11.6 590,924 674,010 –12.3

Intra-group
eliminations

–47,286 –51,349 –7.9  –  – 

Consolidated total  593,747  674,010 –11.9 590,924 674,010 –12,3

Related sales Intra-group sales

31.12.16 31.12.15 Diff % 31.12.16 31.12.15 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech  2,559  –  19,601  21,049 –6.9

Carraro div. Agritalia  –  –  4,675  4,237 10.3

Elettronica Santerno  –  –  3  11 –72.7

Non allocated business  264  –  23,007  26,052 –11.7

Total segments  2,823  – 47,286 51,349 –7.9

Intra-group
eliminations

– –  –47,286  –51,349 –7.9

Consolidated total  2,823  – – –

Intra-group sales refer to sales realised between companies from different business ar-
eas (in particular Carraro Drivetech and Divisione Agritalia). Sales to related companies 
refer to sales made to O&K.

The following table breaks down third party turnover by geographical area:

31.12.2016 % 31.12.2015 % Diff. 2016-15
%

India  65,014 11.00  52,669  7.81  23.44 

Germany  59,796 10.12  72,767 10.80 -17.83 

North America  56,828  9.62  81,755 12.13 -30.49 

South America  47,937 8.11  71,099 10.55 -32.58 

Turkey  47,733 8.08  48,095 7.14 -0.75 

Switzerland  39,981  6.77  49,620 7.36 -19.43 

France  38,253  6.47  39,422 5.85 -2.97 

United Kingdom  36,077 6.11  42,542 6.31 -15.20 

China  20,327 3.44  23,338  3.46 -12.90 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0



Annual Report 201662 – 63

South Africa  18,300  3.10  11,832 1.76  54.67 

Spain  14,186 2.40  9,307 1.38  52.42 

Poland  5,523 0.93  12,290 1.82 -55.06 

Other E.U. areas  29,846  5.05  35,466 5.26 -15.85 

Other non-E.U. areas  16,986  2.87  21,815  3.24 -22.14 

Total abroad  496,787 84.07  572,017 84.87 -13.15 

Italy  94,137 15.93  101,993 15.13 -7.70 

Total  590,924  100.00  674,010 100.00 -12.33 

of which:      

Total E.U. area  277,818  47.01  313,787  46.56 -11.46 

Total non-E.U. area  313,106  52.99 360,223 53.44 -13.08 

In analysing turnover, it should be noted that the Group mainly sells to the production 
sites of OEMs that may reside in different countries from the nations of end users of their 
products. 

In terms of positioning, this year India is in first place, exchanging positions with North 
America, now in third place, while Germany has maintained its position; South America 
collapsed and Turkey remained stable. All this is in line with the comments in the intro-
duction on markets.

Ebitda	and	Ebit
The following tables show details of the non-recurring items affecting Ebitda and Ebit.

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Ebitda  39,182 6.6  46,938 7.0 –16.5

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations

 5,487  –4,311   

of which:

Capital gain on the sale of real estate  
in Argentina

–12,159

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs 34 3,087

Other (impairment effect) 1,181 –

Adjusted Ebitda  44,669 7.5  42,627 6.3 4.8 

Ebit  11,759 2.0  331 0.0 

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations

 10,700  14,075   

of which:

Capital gain on the sale of real estate  
in Argentina

– –12,159

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659
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31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Intang. asset impairment 5,213 18,386

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs 34 3,087

Other (impairment effect) 1,181

Adjusted Ebit  22,459 3.8  14,406 2.1 55.9 

In addition to the above, the following table shows the detail of Proforma Ebitda and 
Ebit, excluding the contribution of Elettronica Santerno for 2015 and 2016 and that of 
O&K for 2015. 

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Proforma Ebitda   42,713 7.7  56,234 9.2 –24.0

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations

 5,438  –5,592   

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,806

Other (impairment effect) 1,181

Adjusted Ebitda Proforma  48,151 8.6  50,642 8.3 –4.9 

Proforma Ebit  22,224 4.0  30,626 5.0 –27.4

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations

 5,438  –4,092   

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Asset impairment – 1,500

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,806

Other (impairment effect) 1,181

Adjusted Ebit Proforma  27,662 5.0  26,534 4.3 4.3 

Below is the same information with reference to the business areas operating in the 
mechanical sector. 

Carraro Drivetech  
and Divisione Agritalia

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Ebitda  45,265 7.8  47,978 7.2 –5.7 

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations

4,257  –6,304   
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Carraro Drivetech  
and Divisione Agritalia

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Ebitda  49,522 8.5  41,674 6.3 18.8 

Ebit  27,337 4.7  24,416 3.7 12.0

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations

4,257  –5,604   

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Technical asset impairment – 700

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Ebit  31,594 5.4  18,812 2.8 67.9 

Carraro Drivetech  
and Divisione Agritalia

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Proforma Ebitda  45,265 7.8  53,309 8.4 –15.1 

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations

4,257  –6,304   

of which:

Capital gain on the sale 
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Proforma Ebitda  49,522 8.5  47,005 7.4 5.4 

Proforma Ebit  27,337 4.7  31,028 4.9 –11.9

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations

4,257  –5,604   

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Technical asset impairment – 700

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Proforma Ebit  31,594 5.4  25,424 4.0 24.3 
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Net	financial	expenses
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Net financial expenses –11,444 –1.9 –16,418 –2.4 30.3

The decrease in net financial expenses, which decreased from 16.418 million Euros in 
the previous year to 11.444 million Euros in 2016, was mainly attributable to the reduction 
in the Euribor rate (the currency with the largest total weight on debt is the Euro), and 
reductions in Indian and Chinese rates. 

Financial expenses also include the fees paid on medium and long-term loans that are 
absorbed during the depreciation plan of the same, as envisaged by the amortised cost.

Income	from	equity	investments
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Income/(expenses) from equity 
investments

–14 0.00 22,825 3.39 n.r.

Last year this item primarily included the net gain on the sale of a 55% stake in the Ger-
man company O&K Antriebstechnik, sale formalised on 30 December 2015.

Exchange	differences
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Exchange differences –1,836 –0.3 –4,471 –0.7 58.9

Exchange differences as at 31 December 2016 were negative, amounting to 1.836 mil-
lion Euros (-0.3% of turnover) compared to a negative value of 4.471 million Euros (-0.7% 
of turnover) as at 31 December 2015. 

Net	profit/(loss)
Figures as at 31.12.2016

2016 closed with a loss of 9.087 million Euros (-1.5% of turnover) compared to the loss 
of 8.915 million Euros (-1.3% of turnover) in 2015. Net of non-recurring operations and 
with constant perimeter, net profit would have been 4.785 million Euros (0.9% of turno-
ver), an increase compared to the loss of 3.520 million Euros (-0.6% of turnover) in 2015. 

Taxes as at 31 December 2016 amounted to 7.340 million Euros (1.2% of turnover) 
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against 11.373 million Euros (1.7% of turnover) as at 31 December 2015.

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Earnings before tax –1,748 –0.3 2,267 0.3 –177.1

Current and deferred income taxes –7,340 –1.2 –11,373 –1.7 

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minorities 1 0.0 191 0.0 

Net profit/(loss) –9,087 –1.5 –8,915 –1.3 1.9

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Net profit/(loss) –9,087 –1.5 –8,915 –1.3 1.9

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations net of the tax effect 

 9,523   –2,407  

Adjusted net profit/(loss) 436 0.1 –11,322 –1.7 n.r.

 
31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Proforma net profit/(loss) –282 –0.1 –5,958 –1.0 –95.3

Costs/(income) of non-recurring  
operations net of the tax effect 

 5,067   2,438  

Adjusted net proforma profit/(loss) 4,785 0.9 –3,520 –0.6 n.r.

Amortisation,	depreciation	and	impairment	of	assets
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Depreciation and amortisation  21,554 3.6  26,069 3.9 –17.3

Impairment of fixed assets 5,869 1.0 20,538 3.0 –71.4

Depreciation amounted to 21.554 million Euros (3.6% of turnover), a decrease com-
pared to 26.069 million Euros (3.9% of turnover) in 2015. Intangible fixed asset impair-
ments mainly refer to the goodwill impairment of the Santerno Business Area amounting 
to 5.213 million Euros, compared to a goodwill impairment charge of the same Business 
Area in 2015 of 16 million Euros.

Investments
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 31.12.15

Investments 16,015 25,414

In 2016, investments amounted to 16.015 million Euros compared to 25.414 million 
Euros in 2015, focussed on supporting the project for re-insourcing activities previously 
carried out externally and on systems efficiency and modernisation.
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Net	financial	position	of	operations		
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 30.09.16 30.06.16 31.12.15

Net financial position of operations –183,200 –190,578 –194,618 –227,783

The consolidated net financial position of operations as at 31 December 2016 was nega-
tive amounting to 183.200 million Euros, improving constantly during 2016 compared to 
the figure of 31 December 2015, when it was negative at 227.783 million Euros. This im-
provement was due to a slight decrease in net working capital of operations (from 12.757 
million Euros at 31 December 2015 to 12.215 million Euros at 31 December 2016), pay-
ment of the capital increase by the majority shareholders amounting to 34 million Euros, 
and the deconsolidation of Elettronica Santerno Spa and its subsidiaries (amounting to 
9.493 million Euros).

At 31 December 2016, the Group covenants provided for in the new agreement, signed 
with the banks on 24 December 2015, were complied with.

Research	and	innovation		
Expenses for Research and Innovation, the purposes and applications of which are 

commented on in a specific paragraph, amounted in 2016 to 14.673 million Euros, ac-
counting for 2.5% of turnover, compared with 13.764 million Euros, representing 2.0% of 
turnover in 2015.
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Personnel

Workforce	trend	
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Executives  25  29  43 

Clerical staff  661  823  929 

Factory workers  2,006  2,211  2,472 

Temporary workers  287  213  310 

Total  2,979  3,276  3,754 

Group personnel as at 31 December 2016 (including temporary workers, trainees and 
interim workers), amounted to 2,979 resources compared to 3,276 actually working as at 
31 December 2015. 

The personnel reduction compared to 31 December 2015 is primarily due to completion 
of the closure of the Gorizia plant, the restructuring implemented in Argentina, reduction 
of the workforce in China following the decrease in sales, implementation of the redun-
dancy procedures in certain Italian plants and deconsolidation of Elettronica Santerno.

Actions taken
As of 31 May 2016 the closure of the Gorizia plant was finalised with transfer of produc-

tion to the Campodarsego and Maniago sites. 
On 20 January 2016, Carraro Drive Tech Spa signed a defensive solidarity contract 

with the trade unions for the plant in Poggiofiorito (CH), contract that has already been 
authorised by the Ministry of Labour for a period of 24 months (expiry end of February 
2018).

On 4 October 2016, Carraro Spa and Carraro Drive Tech Spa signed an agreement on a 
redundancy procedure with the trade unions, pursuant to Law 223/1991, for a reduction 
of the company’s workforce at the Campodarsego (PD) plant. Under terms of the agree-
ment, in order to reduce the social and economic impact of personnel identified as re-
dundant, workers to be made redundant were selected based on the following criteria: (i) 
possession of the requisites for early or old age retirement; and (ii) voluntary adherence 
to redundancy. This procedure was concluded on 18 November 2016 with the signing of 
the mediation agreements and termination of employment for 23 employees, including 2 
office and 21 factory workers.

On 19 December 2016, Carraro Drive Tech Spa signed a further agreement regarding a 
redundancy/indemnity procedure with the trade unions, pursuant to Law 223/1991, for 
the reduction of the company’s workforce at the Poggiofiorito (CH) plant, according to the 
sole criterion of voluntary adherence to redundancy. This procedure was concluded on 31 
January 2017 with the signing of the mediation agreements and termination of employ-
ment for 11 employees, including 2 office and 9 factory workers.
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Risks regarding health and safety at work
The Group carries out industrial processes consisting to a large extent of machining, 

assembly of mechanical components and, to a lesser extent, installation of inverters in the 
industrial and photovoltaic sectors. The safety, health and environmental impacts risks 
arising from work activities are mainly those typical of manufacturing and to a lesser ex-
tent those of construction sites-installation and service of electrical equipment.

During 2016, the Group continued implementation of its EH&S management sys-
tem, compliant with ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001 standards and the UNI-INAIL guide-
lines, which constitutes the reference organisational model defined by Legislative Decree 
231/2001. All operating units in Italy and also those abroad operate with reference to 
the Group standards and compliance with local requirements. The Group EH&S Service 
ensures a continuous improvement process through EH&S system audits and monthly 
review of the related improvement plans.

Also in 2016, the organisation was able to implement many new initiatives and cer-
tain EH&S programmes which allowed performance to be improved. Each local unit has 
extended the approach of our EH&S Management System to many of the processes that 
have constituted the pillars for such developments. Compared to 2015, the Group overall 
reduced the number of days of prognosis by 38% and number of recordable accidents by 
16%.

With 2016, the fifth year of the Carraro Group EH&S Management System closed. 
Since September 2011, very significant results have been achieved: -78% accidents and 
-79% prognosis days. 
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Performance of the Parent Company

Carraro	Spa
Carraro Spa is the parent company, with strategic guidance, control and coordination 

functions, and centralises and integrates R&D activities. The company also has a pro-
duction site, Divisione Agritalia, based in Rovigo, for the development, manufacture and 
distribution of agricultural tractors based on agreements with major international manu-
facturers (Agco, John Deere, Claas). 

In 2016, Carraro Spa realised sales revenues of 142.863 million Euros (146.191 million 
Euros as at 31 December 2015), mostly generated by Divisione Agritalia and by R&D ac-
tivities. 

Ebitda was positive amounting to 6.414 million Euros, accounting for 4.5% of turnover, 
against a positive figure of 10.911 million Euros (7.5% of turnover) in the previous year. 
Ebit was positive, amounting to 2.273 million Euros (1.6% of turnover) compared to the 
positive value of 5.978 thousand Euros (4.1% of turnover) as at 31 December 2015. Net 
of items not related to ordinary operations, Ebitda would have been positive at 7.595 mil-
lion Euros (5.3% of turnover) compared to the 11.623 million Euros (8.1% of turnover) of 
2015, while Ebit would have been positive at 3.454 million Euros (2.4% of turnover) com-
pared to the positive value of 7.490 million Euros (5.1% of turnover) in the previous year.

Net financial expenses amounted to 7.162 million Euros (5% of turnover), a decrease 
compared to 7.778 million Euros (5.24% of turnover) as at 31 December 2015. 

Dividends at 31 December 2016 amounted to 6.468 million Euros.
With taxes payable amounting to 1.910 million Euros (4.080 million Euros payable in 

2015) 2016 closed with a net loss of 1.437 million Euros (-1.0% of turnover) compared to 
a loss of 3.849 million Euros (-2.6 of turnover) at 31 December 2015.

In 2016, amortisation and depreciation were equal to 4.141 million Euros in line with 
those of the previous year (4.132 million Euros). 

Gross investments amounted to 5.211 million Euros in 2016 (8.430 million Euros as at 
31 December 2015) and refer to maintaining facilities at Divisione Agritalia, and to R&D 
projects.

The net financial position of operations recorded debt amounting to 111.535 million 
Euros, compared to debt of 138.694 million Euros as at 31 December 2015. The improve-
ment in the net financial position was mainly due to the payment of 34 million Euros by 
way of capital increase by the shareholders, as previously described. 

The shareholders’ equity of Carraro Spa at 31 December 2016 amounted to 52.659 mil-
lion Euros, an increase compared to 21.494 million Euros in 2015, following the capital 
increase already mentioned which took place during the year.

The workforce as at 31 December 2016 totalled 388 persons (of which 155 at the hold-
ing in Campodarsego, including the R&D area with 81 people, and 233 at the Rovigo plant 
of Divisione Agritalia).
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Summary results of the parent company and the companies it directly controls, not 
attributable to any of the Business Areas, are given below.

Carraro Spa Carraro Deutschland GmbH

31.12.16 % of 
turn.

31.12.15 % of 
turn.

Diff.% 31.12.16 % of 
turn.

31.12.15 % of 
turn.

Diff.%

Turnover  142,863   146,191  –2.3 – – .

Ebitda 6,414 4.5 10,911 7.5 –41.2  –380  –370 2.7

Ebit 2,273 1.6 5,978 4.1 –62.0  –380  –370 2.7

Net Profit/(loss) –1,437 –1.0 –3,849 –2.6 –62.7  8,595  –526 n.r.

Amortisation,  
depreciation  
and impairment

 4,141 2.9  4,933 3.4 –16.1  –  – 

Investments 5,211 8,430  –  – 

Net financial position 
of operations

–111,535 –138,694 10,739 –611 

Shareholders’ equity  52,659  21,494  10,889  9,294 

Carraro International Sa 1 Mini Gears Inc.

31.12.16 % of 
turn.

31.12.15 % of 
turn.

Diff.% 31.12.16 % of 
turn.

31.12.15 % of 
turn.

Diff.%

Turnover  285  403 –29.3 – –

Ebitda –922 –172 –42.7 n.r.  –4  –7 –42.9

Ebit –934 –184 –45.7 n.r. –4 –7 –42.9

Net Profit/(loss)  –5,722  –26,489 –78.4  –5  –3 66.7

Amortisation,  
depreciation  
and impairment

 12 4.2  12 3.0  0.0  –  – .

Investments  –  –   –  – 

Net financial position 
of operations

–30,265 –25,412   8  13 

Shareholders’ equity  8,707  14,429   4  9 

1 Based in Luxembourg, the company performs the financial management and treasury functions of the Group.
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PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS
Carraro Group Business Areas

Business
Areas
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BUSINESS AREA
Drivelines & Components

Drivetech
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Subconsolidated	Income	Statement	as	at	31.12.2016
Drivelines & Components - Drivetech business area

31.12.16 % 31.12.15 % Changes

31.12.16 31.12.15 

Revenues from sales  461,797 100.00%  543,676 100.00% –81,879 –15.06% 

Purchases of goods and materials 
(net of changes in inventories)

–269,130 –58.28% –317,296 –58.36%  48,166 15.18% 

Services and Use of third-party  
goods and services

–87,426 –18.93% –103,657 –19.07% 16,231 15.66% 

Personnel costs –66,242 –14.34% –90,800 –16.70%  24,558  27.05% 

Amortisation, depreciation  
and impairment of assets

–16,646 –3.60% –23,356 –4.30% 6,710 28.73% 

Provisions for risks –6,094 –1.32% –6,495 –1.19%  401  6.17% 

Other income and expenses  4,533 0.98%  15,719 2.89%  –11,186  –71.16% 

Internal construction  345 0.07%  343 0.06% 2 0.58% 

Operating costs –440,660 –95.42% –525,542 –96.66%  84,882  16.15%

Operating Profit/(Loss) (Ebit)  21,137 4.58%  18,134 3.34% 3,003 16.56% 

Income from equity investments  14 0.00%  22,985 4.23%  –22,999  

Other financial income  2,254 0.49%  3,863 0.71%  –1,609  –41.65% 

Financial costs and expenses –7,066 –1.53% –10,303 –1.90%  3,237  31.42% 

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange –1,194 –0.26% –3,783 –0.70% 2,589 68.44% 

Value adjustments of financial assets  – 0.00%   –  

Gains/(losses) on financial assets  6,020 1.30%  12,762 2.35%  –18,782  

Profit/(loss) before taxes  15,117 3.27%  30,896 5.68%  –15,779  –51.07% 

Current and deferred income taxes –5,194 –1.12% –4,714 –0.87%  –480  –10.18% 

Net profit/(loss)  9,923 2.15%  26,182 4.82% 16,259 –62.10% 

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minorities  1 0.00%  191 0.04%  190  –99.48% 

Business area consolidated result  9,924 2.15%  26,373 4.85% –16,449 –62.37%

Ebitda  37,479 8.12%  40,086 7.37% –2,607 –6.50% 
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Subconsolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position	as	at	31.12.2016
Drivelines & Components - Drivetech business area

31.12.16 31.12.15

Property, plant and equipment  110,113  116,951 

Intangible fixed assets  43,098  44,087 

Real estate investments  155  155 

Investments  16,552  16,552 

Financial assets  4,854  16,748 

Deferred tax assets  7,763  8,513 

Trade receivables and other receivables  3,416  2,723 

Non-current assets  185,951  205,729 

Closing inventory  81,592  85,558 

Trade receivables and other receivables  67,683  74,420 

Financial assets  4,997  8,719 

Cash and cash equivalents  32,495  38,589 

Current assets 186,767  207,286 

Total assets 372,718 413,015

Share Capital  30,102  30,102 

Reserves  96,979  84,703 

Foreign currency translation reserve –15,269 –13,037 

Profit/loss for the year  9,924  26,373 

Minority interests  –  2,658 

Shareholders’ equity  121,736  130,799 

Financial liabilities  41,678  44,152 

Trade payables and other payables  645  841 

Deferred tax liabilities  2,038  3,220 

Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits  8,002  8,317 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  4,107  2,998 

Non-current liabilities  56,470  59,528 

Financial liabilities  51,918  73,480 

Trade payables and other payables  130,166  134,698 

Current taxes payables  3,582  3,126 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  8,846  11,384 

Current liabilities 194,512 222,688 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 372,718 413,015
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Analysis	of	Net	Working	Capital	of	Operations	as	at	31.12.2016
Drivelines & Components - Drivetech business area

31.12.16 31.12.15

Trade Receivables  49,237  55,421 

Inventory  81,592  85,558 

Trade Payables –111,785 –118,414 

Net Working Capital of operations  19,044  22,565

Corporate	structure	as	at	31.12.2016
Drivelines & Components - Drivetech business area

It is appropriate to point out that, in order to allow a homogeneous comparison be-
tween the two periods, during 2015, the German company O&KA, de-consolidated as at 
30 December 2015, was present; the comments which follow therefore take into account 
the effects of this operation (proforma). 

The target markets of the Drivetech Business Area were characterised by ongoing weak-
ness in the course of 2016. Only in the third quarter were there some tentative signs of 
improvement compared to the normal course of the seasonality, which disappeared in the 
fourth, confirming a trend characterised by caution and uncertainty.

Sales revenues of the Drivetech Business Area from as at 31 December 2016 amounted 
to a total of 461.797 million Euros compared to 543.676 million Euros in the same period 
of 2015, down by 15.1%. The proforma turnover of 2015 would have amounted to 514.145 
million Euros, bringing the decrease to 10.2%. 

The foreign exchange effect in 2016 was unfavourable for approx. 5.333 million Euros. 
Below is the detailed analysis of the main target markets.

Agricultural market
Sales in the agricultural market, which accounted for 38.8% (37.4% in 2015) of rev-

enues of the Drive Tech Business Area, decreased by 12.5% compared to 2015, in line 
with what happened in the target markets. The market share of the Drive Tech Business 
Area was in fact consolidated with growth in India and China; new customers were also 
acquired in the Middle East (especially in Turkey); in contrast, traditional markets such 
as Brazil, the US, France and Germany suffered a contraction in domestic demand which 
affected sales. 

Worthy of special mention is the Turkish market, the main market for the agricultural 
sector in which, despite having acquired new customers, there was a marked slowdown in 
demand as a result of the repercussions of the social and political instability experienced 
in the second half of 2016.
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Construction equipment market
The “Construction equipment” market represented 39.4% of turnover (42.2% in 2015) 

despite an 21.6% decrease in absolute terms of turnover.
The performance of the “backhoe loader” (main product of the construction equipment 

market for Drive Tech) underwent a significant downsizing in “mature” markets such as 
Europe and North America, while in contrast there was a marked increase in demand in 
India.

The main cause of this performance was essentially due to the use of specialist machines 
in replacement of “multi-functional machines” such as, precisely, the backhoe loader.

Consequently, specialist machines recorded encouraging signs of growth in Europe.  

Material handling market 
The “Material Handling” segment represents 5.2% of turnover (4.5% in 2015), down 

2.5% from the previous year, a performance consistent with the industry trend. Europe 
and the United States remain the main markets for this product segment, with over 95% 
of sales.

Automotive Market
The “Automotive” segment represents 3.4% of turnover (3.0% in 2015) for the Drivet-

ech Business Area recording, compared to 2015, a decrease of 3.7%. 

Replacement parts
Replacement parts turnover was down 6.2% compared to the previous year. 
The analysis by application market shows a decline in sales in the agricultural market 

of 3.7%, while there was an increase in sales in the “construction equipment segment” of 
12.7%. 

The agricultural market segment was negatively affected by low commodity prices 
which led to a sharp slowdown in the purchase of replacement parts for reconditioning 
the existing machine fleet, a fact confirmed by all major our main customer “players”.

By contrast, the increase in sales in the “construction equipment” sector was in fact at-
tributable to a “technical rebound” due to the stagnation of recent years, which favoured 
the maintenance of existing machines rather than buying new ones. 

It is also appropriate to point out that the decline in sales in the Replacement Parts 
Business Area is also partly due to the sale of the German company O&KA and the related 
drives business.

Results	summary
As for margins, despite lower volumes amply described in the following paragraphs, 

growth was consolidated, confirming the effectiveness of the measures implemented to 
improve the efficiency of industrial activities and align the structure.

Ebitda amounted to 37.479 million Euros (8.1% of turnover), down by 6.5% compared 
to the 40.086 million Euros (7.4% of turnover) of 2015, while Ebit amounted to 21.137 
million Euros (4.6% of turnover), an increase of 16.6% compared to the 18.134 million 
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Euros (3.3% of turnover) of 31 December 2015. 
The 2016 results were affected by restructuring costs amounting to 4.257 million Euros 

(compared to 5.855 million Euros in 2015). It is also pointed out that in 2015 a capital 
gain was realized from the partial sale of the property of the Argentine factory for a value 
of 12.159 million Euros.

Net of the non-recurring operations and with constant perimeter, adjusted and profor-
ma Ebitda and Ebit would be the following:

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover

Ebitda  37,479  8.1%  40,086  7.4%

Adjusted Ebitda 41,736 9.0%  33,782 6.2%

Adjusted Proforma Ebitda 41,736 9.0% 39,113 7.6%

Ebit 21,137 4.6%  18,134 3.3%

Adjusted Ebit  25,394 5.5%  12,530 2.3%

Adjusted Proforma Ebit 25,394 5.5% 19,142 3.7%

Earnings before tax amounted to 15.117 million Euros (3.3% of turnover), worse than 
2015 which amounted to 30.896 million Euros (5.7% of turnover); it is recalled that earn-
ings before tax of 2015 included the net gain from the sale of a 55% stake of the German 
subsidiary O&K Antriebstechnik which took place on 30 December 2015.

Net profit was equal to 9.924 million Euros (2.1% of turnover) compared to 26.373 mil-
lion Euros (4.9% of turnover) in 2015. Net of non-recurring operations and with the same 
perimeter, adjusted and proforma net profit would have been the following:

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover

Net profit/(loss)  9,924  2.1%  26,373  4.9%

Adjusted net profit/(loss) 14,181 3.1%  899 0.2%

Adjusted net proforma profit/(loss) 14,181 3.1% 5,221 1.0%

The net financial position of operations as at 31 December 2016 was negative, amount-
ing to 52.147 million Euros, improving on the figures of 53.963 million Euros as at 31 
December 2015 and 53.189 million Euros as at 30 June 2016, due to the positive cash flow 
from asset disposal and rebalancing of net working capital of operations.

Turnover
A breakdown of turnover between sales to third parties and intra-group is provided 

below:

 Sales Sales to third parties

 2016 2015 Diff % 2016 2015 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech  461,797  543,676 –15.1  439,637  522,627 –15.9
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 Related sales Intra-Group sales

 2016 2015 Diff % 2016 2015 Diff %

Carraro Drivetech  2,559  –  19,601  21,049 –6.9

Intra-group sales refer to sales realised between companies from different business ar-
eas (in particular Carraro Drivetech and Divisione Agritalia).

Turnover from third parties, which accounts for 95.2% of total turnover, was equal to 
439.637 million Euros compared to 522.627 million for the previous year (96.1% of to-
tal turnover) down by 15.9%. Turnover from Group and related companies amounted to 
22.160 million Euros (4.8% of total turnover), with a 5.3% decrease compared to 21.049 
million Euros (3.9% of total turnover) in 2015.

The following table breaks down turnover from third parties by geographical area:

Geographical 
Area

31.12.16 % 31.12.15 % Diff. % ‘16 -’15

India  64,931 14.77  52,643 10.07  23.34 

Germany  56,939 12.95  69,695 13.34 -18.30 

North America  52,827 12.02  80,447 15.39 -34.33 

Turkey  43,646  9.93  44,168 8.45 -1.18 

South America  41,209 9.37  59,237 11.33 -30.43 

United Kingdom  34,596 7.87  41,398 7.92 -16.43 

France  29,160 6.63  31,065 5.94 -6.13 

China  20,094 4.57  22,884 4.38 -12.19 

Switzerland  5,989 1.36  5,595 1.07  7.04 

Poland  4,715 1.07  11,278 2.16 -58.19 

Spain  1,770 0.40  1,669 0.32  6.05 

Other  32,445  7.38  47,139 9.02 -31.17 

Total abroad  388,321 88.33  467,218 89.40 -16.89 

Italy  51,316 11.67  55,409 10.60 -7.39 

Total  439,637 100.00  522,627 100.00 -15.88 

Sales made within the European market accounted for 46.77% of total turnover (45.21% 
in 2015), while sales to markets outside Europe amounted to 53.23% (54.79% in 2015).

Turnover by geographic area shows India with 14.8% (10.1% in 2015) as the main mar-
ket outside Europe, followed by North America with 12% (15.4% in 2015), and Turkey 
9.9% (8.4% in 2015) while Germany, with 12.9% (13.3% in 2015) is the main market in 
the European Union followed by Italy with 11.7% (10.6% in 2015) and the United King-
dom with 7.9% (7.9% in 2015). 

Overall turnover from foreign markets as of 31 December 2016 was 88.3% of the total 
turnover from the Business Area, against 89.4% in the same period of 2015.
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The following table breaks down sales to third parties by application segment:

Sector 31.12.16 % 31.12.15 % Diff. % ‘16-’15

Agricultural 170,708 38.83 195,195 37.35 –12.54

Construction Equipment 173,080 39.37 220,647 42.22 –21.56

Replacement parts 47,957 10.91 51,103 9.78 –6.16

Material Handling 22,865 5.20 23,448 4.49 –2.49

Automotive 15,080 3.43 15,662 3.00 –3.72

Industrial 1,066 0.24 1,704 0.33 –37.44

Renewable Energy 19 0.00 255 0.05 –92.55

Other 8,862 2.02 14,613 2.80 –39.36

Total 439,637 100.0 522,627 100.0 –15.88

Ebitda	and	Ebit
Figures as at 31.12.2016

Ebitda stood at 37.479 million Euros compared to 40.086 million Euros in 2015, ac-
counting for 8.1% of turnover as at 31 December 2016 compared to 7.4% of turnover as at 
31 December 2015, a reduction of 6.5%. Excluding non-recurring items, Ebitda in 2015 
would have amounted to 41.736 million Euros (9.0% of turnover) compared to 33.782 
million Euros (6.2% of turnover).

Ebit amounted to 21.137 million Euros (4.6% of turnover) up by 16.6% compared to 
18.134 million Euros (3.3 % of turnover) as at 31 December 2015. Excluding non-recur-
ring items, it would have amounted to 25.394 million Euros (5.5% of turnover) compared 
to 12.530 million Euros (2.3% of turnover) in 2015.

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Ebitda  37,479  8.1  40,086  7.4  –6.5

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations

4,257 –6,304  

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

–12,159

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Ebitda  41,736  9.0  33,782  6.2 23.5

Ebit 21,137 4.6 18,134 3.3 16.6

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations

 4,257  –5,604

of which:
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31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Capital gain on the sale of real estate 
in Argentina

–12,159

Fixed asset impairment 700

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Ebit  25,394 5.5  12,530 2.3 102.7

Proforma-ising the results by excluding the contribution of O&K in 2015, adjusted Ebitda 
in 2015 would have amounted to 39.113 million Euros (7.6% of turnover) and adjusted 
Ebit in 2015 would have amounted to 19.142 million Euros (3.7% of turnover).

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Proforma Ebitda   37,479  8.1  45,417  8.8  –17.5

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations

4,257 –6,304  

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Proforma Ebitda  41,736  9.0  39,113  7.6 6.7

Proforma Ebit 21,137 4.6 24,746 4.8 –14.6

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations

 4,257  –5,604

of which:

Capital gain on the sale  
of real estate in Argentina

– –12,159

Fixed asset impairment – 700

Costs for the closure  
of the Gorizia plant

– 2,659

Restructuring costs in Argentina 4,272 2,102

Other restructuring costs –15 1,094

Adjusted Proforma Ebit  25,394 5.5  19,142 3.7 32.7

Financial	expenses
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Net financial expenses –4,812 –1.0 –6,440 –1.2 25.3 

Financial expenses as at 31 December 2016 amounted to 4.812 million Euros (1.0% of 
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turnover) a reduction compared to 6.440 million Euros (1.2% of turnover) as at 31 De-
cember 2015, thanks to lower average indebtedness compared to the previous year.

Income	from	equity	investments 
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Income from equity investments –14 0.0 22,985 4.2 n.r. 

Last year, these items mainly included the net capital gain on the sale of a stake of 55% 
in the German company O&K Antriebstechnik, sale formalised on 30 December 2015.

Exchange	differences
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Exchange differences –1,194 –0.3 –3,783 –0.7 68.4 

Exchange differences as at 31 December 2016 were negative amounting to 1.194 million 
Euros compared to 3.783 million Euros as at 31 December 2015. 

Net	profit/(loss)
Figures as at 31.12.2016

After tax at 5.194 million Euros, the Business Area showed a profit of 9.924 million 
Euros (2.1% of turnover), compared to the previous year when it stood at 26.373 million 
Euros (4.9% of turnover). Net of the effects of non-recurring events, net profit would have 
been equal to 14.181 million Euros compared to 899 thousand Euros (0.2% of turnover) in 
2015. With constant perimeter, the 2015 net profit would have amounted to 5.221 million 
Euros.

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Net profit/(loss) 9,924  2.1 26,373  4.9 –62.4

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations net of the tax effect 

4,257 –25,474

Adjusted net profit/(loss) 14,181  3.1 899  0.2 n.r.

Proforma net profit/(loss) 9,924  2.1 7,860  1.5 26.3

Costs/(income) of non-recurring 
operations net of the tax effect

4,257 –2,639

Adjusted net Proforma profit/(loss) 14,181  3.1 5,221  1.0 171.6
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Amortisation,	depreciation	and	impairment	of	assets
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turnover 31.12.15 % of turnover Diff. %

Depreciation and amortisation  15,893  3.4  19,100  3.5 –16.8 

Impairment 449 0.1 2,852 0.5 –84.3

Investments	
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 31.12.15

Investments 10,236 16,892

Investments amount to 10.236 million Euros, for the development of new projects to 
improve production efficiency and upgrade existing systems.

Net	financial	position	of	operations	
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 30.09.16 30.06.16 31.12.15

Net financial position of operations –52,147 –53,256 –53,189 –53,963

The net financial position of operations as at 31 December 2016 registered a negative 
balance of 52.147 million Euros compared to the negative balance of 53.963 million Euros 
as at 31 December 2015, thanks to cash flows deriving from an improvement in net work-
ing capital of operations.
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Personnel

Workforce	trend
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 31.12.15 31.12.14

Executives 10 10 20

Clerical staff 467 496 644

Factory workers 1,829 2,022 2,328

Temporary workers 283 211 261

Total 2,589 2,739 3,253

The reduction in personnel compared to 31 December 2015 is attributable to the re-
structuring activities implemented during 2016 and to the reduction of the workforce 
following the contraction of volumes (particularly in China).

Summary	data	of	companies	belonging	to	the
Business area Drivelines & Components - Drivetech as at 31.12.2016

Carraro Drive Tech Spa 1 Siap Spa

31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.% 31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.%

Turnover  312,922   263,424  18.8  61,350   84,440  –27.3 

Ebitda  20,640 6.6  10,990 4.2 87.8  5,792 9.4  3,086 3.7 87.7

Ebit  15,983 5.1  5,885 2.2 n.r.  1,687 2.7  –2,401 –2.8 n.r.

Net profit/(loss)  11,868 3.8  24,813 9.4 –52.2  1,639 2.7  –2,257 –2.7 n.r.

Amort., deprec.  
and impairment

 4,657 1.5  5,105 1.9 –8.8  4,105 6.7  5,487 6.5 –25.2 

Investments  5,688   4,826    3,443   2,396   

Net fin. position 
of operations

–43,067  –41,383    –842   –4,477   

Shareholders’ eq.  94,825   94,121    33,062   31,530   
1 Subholding and parent company of the Business Area.

Carraro India Pvt. Ltd. Carraro China Drives System Co. Ltd.

31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.% 31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.%

Turnover  118,410   125,499  –5.6  49,534   63,181  –21.6 

Ebitda  8,701 7.3  12,797 10.2 –32.0  5,452 11.0  5,479 8.7 –0.5 

Ebit  4,056 3.4  7,408 5.9 –45.2  3,303 6.7  3,325 5.3 –0.7 

Net profit/(loss)  1,408 1.2  3,042 2.4 –53.7  1,481 3.0  1,773 2.8 –16.5 

Amort., deprec.  
and impairment

 4,645 3.9  5,389 4.3 –13.8  2,149 4.3  2,154 3.4 –0.2 

Investments  3,913   3,503    288   378   

Net fin. position 
of operations

–6,646  –11,664    3,126   2,696   

Shareholders’ eq.  34,092   34,634    25,233   25,780   
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Carraro Argentina Sa Carraro Technologies Ltd 2

31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.% 31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.%

Turnover  32,674   50,268  -35.0  1,443   1,576  -8.4 

Ebitda -3,026 -9.3  10,197 20.3 n.r.  293 20.3  426 27.0 -31.2 

Ebit -3,494 -10.7  9,461 18.8 n.r.  203 14.1  350 22.2 -42.0 

Net profit/(loss) -4,727 -14.5  3,451 6.9 n.r.  142 9.8  247 15.7 -42.5 

Amort., deprec.  
and impairment

 468 1.4  736 1.5 -36.4  90 6.2  76 4.8 18.4 

Investments  507   886    99   64   

Net fin. position 
of operations

-2,693   1,915    1,204   736   

Shareholders’ eq.  1,535   9,139    1,744   1,587   
2 This company carries out design, research and development for the Group and third parties and is based in Pune (India)

Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil Inc Carraro North America Inc. (Virginia Beach)

31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.% 31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.%

Turnover  3,406   1,772  92.2  1,342   1,428  -6.0 

Ebitda -263 -7.7 -469 -26.5 -43.9  5 0.4 -27 -1.9 n.r.

Ebit -392 -11.5 -572 -32.3 -31.5  4 0.3 -29 -2.0 n.r.

Net profit/(loss) -1,080 -31.7 -1,099 -62.0 -1.7 -5 -0.4 -35 -2.5 -85.7 

Amort., deprec.  
and impairment

 129 3.8  103 5.8 25.2  1 0.1  2 0.1 -50.0 

Investments  13   421    -   -   

Net fin. position 
of operations

-3,312  -1,879    82   90   

Shareholders’ eq. -1,243  -23   -284  -270   

Fon Sa

31.12.16 % of
turn.

31.12.15 % of
turn.

Diff.%

Turnover  -   -  #DIV/0!

Ebitda -87 ##### -56 ##### 55.4 

Ebit -87 ##### -56 ##### 55.4 

Net profit/(loss) -86 ##### -55 ##### 56.4 

Amort., deprec.  
and impairment

 - #####  - ##### #DIV/0!

Investments  -   -   

Net fin. position 
of operations

 1   4   

Shareholders’ eq. -28  -11   
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BUSINESS AREA
Vehicles

Agritalia



Directors’ Report on Operations

Income	Statement	as	at	31.12.2016
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

31.12.16 % 31.12.15 % Changes

31.12.16 31.12.15

Revenues from sales  119,756 100.00%  120,429 100.00% –673 –0.56%

Purchases of goods and materials 
(net of changes in inventories)

–85,214 –71.16% –87,263 –72.46% 2,049 2.35%

Services and Use of third-party goods 
and services

–14,903 –12.44% –12,982 –10.78% –1,921 –14.80%

Personnel costs –11,890 –9.93% –11,934 –9.91%  44 0.37%

Amortisation, depreciation  
and impairment of assets

–1,645 –1.37% –1,656 –1.38% 11 0.66%

Provisions for risks –1,601 –1.34% –1,418 –1.18%  –183 –12.91%

Other income and expenses  101 0.08%  64 0.05% 37 57.81%

Internal construction  1,596 1.33%  1,042 0.87%  554 53.17%

Operating costs –113,556 –94.82% –114,147 –94.78% 591 0.52%

Operating profit/(loss) (Ebit)  6,200 5.18%  6,282 5.22%  –82 –1.31%

Income from equity investments  – 0.00%  – 0.00%  – 

Other financial income  19 0.02%  9 0.01%  10 #DIV/0!

Financial costs and expenses –46 –0.04% –35 –0.03%  –11 –31.43%

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange –1 0.00% –13 –0.01%  12 92.31%

Value adjustments of financial assets  – 0.00%  – 0.00%  – #DIV/0!

Gains/(losses) on financial assets –28 –0.02% –39 –0.03%  11 28.21%

Profit/(loss) before taxes  6,172 5.15%  6,243 5.18% –71 –1.14%

Current and deferred income taxes – 0.00% –341 –0.28% 341 100.00%

Contribution to the net profit/(loss) 
of Carraro Spa

 6,172 5.15%  5,902 4.90% 270 4.57%

Ebitda 7,786 6.50%  7,892 6.55% –106 –1.34%

Statement	of	Financial	Position	as	at	31.12.2016
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

31.12.16 31.12.15

Property, plant and equipment  9,832  10,823 

Intangible fixed assets  4,148  2,935 

Real estate investments  –  – 

Holdings in subsidiaries and associates  –  – 

Financial assets  –  – 

Deferred tax assets  1,376  1,559

Trade receivables and other receivables  9  8 

Non-current assets  15,365  15,325 

Closing inventory  10,688  16,845 

Trade receivables and other receivables  9,846  6,035 

Financial assets  12  – 

Cash and cash equivalents  –  – 

Current assets 20,546 22,880

Total Assets 35,911 38,205
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31.12.16 31.12.15

Contribution to shareholders’ equity of Carraro Spa  –1,956  –8,408

Financial liabilities  –  – 

Trade payables and other payables  1  – 

Deferred tax liabilities – – 

Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits  1,231  1,212 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  201  – 

Non-current liabilities  1,433  1,212 

Financial liabilities  –  – 

Trade payables and other payables  33,448  42,829 

Current taxes payables  –  – 

Provisions for risks and liabilities  2,986  2,572 

Current liabilities  36,434  45,401 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 35,911 38,205

Analysis	of	Net	Working	Capital	of	Operations	as	at	31.12.2016
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

31.12.16 31.12.15

Trade Receivables  8,200  4,672 

Inventory  10,688  16,845 

Trade Payables –31,286 –40,821 

Net Working Capital of operations –12,398 –19,304 

Struttura	societaria	al	31/12/2016
Business Area Vehicles / Agritalia

Carraro Divisione Agritalia closed 2016 with a total turnover of 119.756 million Euros, 
stable compared to the 120.429 million Euros in the previous year. For the second year 
running, sales volumes exceeded 4,000 units, despite a not particularly dynamic market 
in the special tractor segment. Stability in volumes was facilitated by greater geographic 
diversification, particularly in the Americas, with the launch of the new range for the 
US market. The number of tractors invoiced in 2016 was nevertheless down by 206 ma-
chines, almost all concentrated in the last quarter of the year. This is justified by the fact 
that, for the 2017 season, a change in emission level is foreseen (Stage3b and Tier 4) and 
legislation consequently limited the possibility of registration of current production mod-
els to 31 December 2016. Total turnover was positively affected by the gradual introduc-
tion during the year of tractors with higher unit value, already updated to Stage3b and 
Tier 4 emission levels. 

The market increase in the contribution of invoicing of development projects increased 
from 5.623 million Euros in 2015 to 8.456 million Euros in 2016. With regard to research 
and development, in fact, Agritalia was and still is engaged, together with customers, in a 
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significant range renewal effort that will see the light in the coming years. The quantity of 
projects funded testifies the renewed confidence and satisfaction on the part of custom-
ers, achieved thanks to the improvement of the punctuality, service and product quality 
parameters. 

Despite a 4.8% lower sales volume in terms of quantity, turnover and profitability re-
mained stable. 

Turnover
Turnover from the Vehicles Business Area as at 31 December 2016 amounted to 119.756 

million Euros (equal to 4,052 tractors) compared to 120.429 million Euros (equal to 4,258 
tractors) as at 31 December 2015. 

A breakdown of turnover between sales to third parties and intra-group is provided 
below:

Sales Sales to third parties Intra-group sales

31.12.16 31.12.15 Diff % 31.12.16 31.12.15 Diff % 31.12.16 31.12.15 Diff %

Divisione  
Agritalia

 119,756  120,429 –0.6  115,081  116,192 –1.0 4,675  4,237 10.3

Intra-group sales refer to sales realised between companies from different business ar-
eas (in particular Carraro Drivetech and Divisione Agritalia).

The following table breaks down turnover from third parties by geographical area:

Area Geografica 31.12.16 % 31.12.15 % Diff. % ‘16 - ‘15

Switzerland  33,992 29.54  44,017 37.88 -22.78 

Spain  12,416 10.79  7,638 6.57  62.56 

France  9,093 7.90  8,346 7.18  8.95 

Turkey  4,087 3.55  3,733 3.21  9.48 

North America  3,261 2.83  101 0.09  n.r. 

Germany  2,857 2.48  2,859 2.46 -0.07 

Australia  2,602 2.26  999 0.86  n.r. 

United Kingdom  1,481 1.29  1,107 0.95  33.79 

South America  1,148  1.00  801 0.69  43.32 

Poland  808 0.70  956  0.82 -15.48 

Other  8,237 7.16  6,401 5.51  28.68 

Total abroad  79,982 69.50  76,958 66.23  3.93 

Italy  35,099 30.50  39,234 33.77 -10.54 

Total  115,081 100.00  116,192  100.00 -0.96 
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Ebitda	and	Ebit
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turn. 31.12.15 % of turn. Diff. %

Ebitda  7,786 6.5  7,892 6.6 –1.3 

Costs/(income) of non-recurring operations  –   –   

Adjusted Ebitda  7,786 6.5  7,892 6.6 –1.3 

Ebit 6,200 5.2 6,282 5.2 –1.3 

Costs/(income) of non-recurring operations  –   –   

Adjusted Ebit  6,200 5.2  6,282 5.2 –1.3 

Ebitda was equal to 7.786 million Euros (6.5% of turnover) compared to 7.892 million 
Euros (6.6% of turnover) as at 31 December 2015. 

Ebit as at 31 December 2016 amounted to 6.200 million Euros (5.2% of turnover), in 
line compared to the positive value of 6.282 million Euros (5.2% of turnover) in the pre-
vious year.

Net	financial	expenses
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turn. 31.12.15 % of turn. Diff. %

Net financial expenses  –27  –0.0  –26  –0.0 –3.8 

Albeit with a positive net financial position of operations, there were financial charges, 
amounting to 26 thousand Euros, relating to bank charges and commission.

Exchange	differences
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turn. 31.12.15 % of turn. Diff. %

Exchange differences –1 –0,0 –13 –0,0 92,3

Contribution	to	the	net	profit/(loss)	of	Carraro	Spa
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turn. 31.12.15 % of turn. Diff. %

Contribution to the net profit/(loss)  
of Carraro Spa

 6,172  5.2  5,902  4.9  4.6 

Costs/(income) of non-recurring operations  
net of the tax effect 

–  –  

Adjusted contribution to the net profit/(loss)  
of Carraro Spa

6,172 5.2 5,902 4.9 4.6
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2016 closed with a net profit of 6.172 million Euros (5.2% of turnover) compared to a 
net profit of 5.902 million Euros (4.9% of turnover) in the previous year.

Amortisation,	depreciation	and	impairment	of	assets
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 % of turn. 31.12.15 % of turn. Diff. %

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment  1,586  1.3  1,610  1.3  –1.5 

Investments		
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 31.12.15

Investments 1,809 1,278

Personnel

Workforce	trend	
Figures as at 31.12.2016

31.12.16 31.12.15 31.12.14

Executives  3  3  5 

Clerical staff  82  74  80 

Factory workers  144  148  141 

Temporary workers  4  2  49 

Total  233  227  275 
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BUSINESS AREA
Electronics

Santerno
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Subconsolidated	Income	Statement	as	at	31.12.2015
Business Area Electronics / Elettronica Santerno

Below are the summary figures of Santerno which was de-consolidated as November 
2016 as a result of the aforementioned sale. It should therefore be borne in mind that the 
data provided for 2016 consider only eleven months of operations compared to the twelve 
of the previous year. 

As regards the performance of the target markets, the comments of the quarterly report 
remain valid. 

It is also pointed out that, in relation to the sale, a goodwill impairment charge of 5.213 
million Euros was necessary.

31.12.16 % 31.12.15 % Changes

31.12.16 31.12.15

Revenues from sales  36,153 100.00%  35,157 100.00% 996 2.83%

Purchases of goods and materials 
(net of changes in inventories)

–25,121 –69.49% –17,963 –51.09%  –7,158 –39.85%

Services and Use of third-party goods 
and services

–7,441 –20.58% –11,340 –32.26% 3,899 34.38%

Personnel costs –6,865 –18.99% –8,414 –23.93%  1,549 18.41%

Amortisation, depreciation  
and impairment of assets

–7,066 –19.54% –20,569 –58.51% 13,503 65.65%

Provisions for risks –713 –1.97% –1,925 –5.48% 1,212 62.96%

Other income and expenses  85 0.24%  587 1.67%  –502 –85.52%

Internal construction  503 1.39%  785 2.23% –282 –35.92%

Operating costs –46,618 –128.95% –58,839 –167.36% 12,221 20.77%

Operating profit/(loss) (Ebit) –10,465 –28.95% –23,682 –67.36%  13,217 55.81%

Income from equity investments – 0.00% –160 –0.46% 160 100.00%

Other financial income  32 0.09%  76 0.22% –44 –57.89%

Financial costs and expenses –1,422 –3.93% –1,867 –5.31% 445 23.84%

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange –432 –1.19% –780 –2.22% 348 44.62%

Value adjustments of financial assets – 0.00% – –0.00% – !

Gains/(losses) on financial assets –1,822 –5.04% –2,731 –7.77% 909 33.28%

Profit/(loss) before taxes –12,287 –33.99% –26,413 –75.13%  14,126 53.48%

Current and deferred income taxes 30 0.08% –312 –0.89% 342 

Business Area consolidated result –12,257 –33.90% –26,725 –76.02% 14,468 54.14%

Ebitda –3,532 –9.77% –3,964 –11.28% 432 10.90%

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0



Annual Report 2016100 – 101

Key risks and uncertainties
to which Carraro Spa and the Group are exposed 

Risks	associated	with	the	general	economic	conditions
The Group’s financial, capital and borrowing situation is influenced by various factors 
within the general macro-economic framework, such as changes to the gross national 
product, the state of the agricultural and construction industries, the cost of raw materials 
and the level of business confidence in the various countries in which the Group operates. 

Also in 2016 the dynamics of the global economy and international trade were charac-
terised by instability, albeit with some signs of recovery, also in Italy, particularly in the 
second half.

The prospects for 2017 still remain uncertain and therefore significant risks remain, 
including the possibility of a slowdown in emerging economies which may be more pro-
nounced and long-lasting than hitherto assumed, with a major impact on financial mar-
kets. In Italy, the greatest risks derive from the financial sector which is currently in the 
spotlight for the fragility of the domestic and European banking system in general. 

Risks	having	an	effect	on	the	Group’s	results
Significant macro-economic events, such as a generalised and significant increase in 

the prices of raw materials, a significant fall in demand in one of the key markets of the 
Group, enduring uncertainty and volatility of the financial and capital markets, falling 
interest rates and unfavourable changes in the exchange rates of the major currencies to 
which the Group is exposed are all negative factors for the Group’s operations and future, 
as well as its economic results and its financial position. Group’s profitability is affected by 
the risk of solvency of its counterparties, as well as the general economic conditions of the 
country in which the Group carries out its industrial and commercial operations.

Risks	associated	with	funding	requirements 	
The Group’s liquidity risk is mainly linked to the activation and maintenance of suffi-

cient funding to support industrial operations. 
The raising of funds, consistent with the Group’s short- and medium-term develop-

ment plans, is intended to finance both the working capital of operations and investments 
in fixed assets necessary to ensure sufficient and technologically advanced production ca-
pacity. This requirement is directly proportional to the trend in customer orders and the 
consequent trend in business volumes.

The cash flows envisaged for 2017 include, besides the trend in working capital of op-
erations and investments, the effects of current liabilities and the short-term portions 
of medium- and long-term loans reaching maturity, as well as the effects (assuming the 
same rates of exchange with compared to 31.12.2016) of the closure of derivative financial 
instruments on currencies in existence at the reporting date.

The Group envisages meeting the needs arising from all of the above with the flows 
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deriving from operations, available liquidity, collection of receivables arising form the dis-
posal of assets and the availability of additional credit facilities.

In view of the trend in sales volumes and the continuation of activities aimed at the re-
duction of production inefficiencies, it is expected that the Group will be able to generate 
financial resources from operations such as to ensure adequate support for investment. 

The management of liquidity, funding requirements and cash flows are under the direct 
control and management of the Group Treasury, which operates with the aim of managing 
the resources available as efficiently as possible.

Lastly, regardless of the fact that the Group has continued refinancing its debts with 
the support of its banking counterparties and the financial markets, the situation could 
arise of having to seek additional financing in less favourable market conditions, with the 
limited availability of such sources and an increase in financial expenses.

Risks	relating	to	fluctuating	exchange	and	interest	rates
The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks by virtue of the fact that a significant por-

tion of sales and some of the purchases are made in currencies other than the Group’s 
functional currency, with trade transactions carried out by companies in the Euros area 
with counterparties that do not belong to the Euros area and vice versa.

Another aspect of exchange rate risk is the fact that several Group companies present 
their financial statements in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency.

Exposure to exchange rate risk with reference to each entity is regularly monitored by 
the Group Treasury according to a strategy which focuses, in particular, on the balance be-
tween purchases and sales in foreign currency and activating, for the remaining non-bal-
anced portion and according to the criteria set by the company policy in terms of the man-
agement of financial risks, appropriate initiatives to hedge or reduce the risks identified, 
using the instruments available on the market.

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risks in relation to financial liabilities as-
sumed to fund either normal operations or, where applicable, the Group’s expansion by 
acquisitions. Changes in interest rates may have positive or negative effects on both the 
financial outcome and on cash flows.

The interest rate risk on the floating portion is then reduced via specific hedging oper-
ations.

Credit	risk
The Group includes among its customers leading international manufacturers of agri-

cultural machinery, construction equipment vehicles and industrial; The risk concentra-
tion is associated with the size of these customers, which on a global context is on average 
high, yet balanced by the fact that credit exposure is distributed across a complex network 
of counterparties active in several geographic segments. 

The management of credit is designed to prioritise the acquisition of customers of na-
tional and international standing for multi-annual supplies; on this basis consolidated 
historical relationships have been built up with the main customers. Generally speaking, 
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these relationships are governed by ad hoc supply contracts. Credit control requires peri-
odic monitoring of the main financial and economic data (including the delivery sched-
ules) relating to each customer.

Except in special circumstances to do with country or counterparty risk, guarantees are 
not normally obtained on credit.

Receivables are recognised in the accounts net of any write-downs determined by as-
sessing the counterparty’s risk of insolvency based on the information available.

Country	risk
The Carraro Group operates in different countries and its exposure to them has grad-

ually increased over the years. On these markets, unstable economic-political conditions 
occur on a cyclical basis (for example in Argentina) that have had an impact and could 
negatively affect the financial situation and economic performance of the Group. A global 
presence is fundamental for the Group, encompassing a strategy serving clients and seiz-
ing opportunities on new markets for its product range.

Environmental	risks
The Group operates across 8 manufacturing sites in 5 different nations.
The manufacturing processes carried out at the Group’s industrial sites are essentially 

mechanical processing of iron and steel and assembly of purchased components.
These processes have accessory materials such as packaging, lubricants, paints and sol-

vents. The objective of limiting the impact of emissions into the environment has seen a 
significant improvement from 2008 onwards through an important investment in mov-
ing from solvent-based coatings to water-based paints that reduce atmospheric emissions 
to zero.

Each site operates in compliance with local environmental regulations. Moreover the 
management pays continual attention to environmental issues adopting all the applica-
tions that current technology has made available to reduce the risks of pollution.

In specific terms, activities continued to obtain Environmental Certification in accord-
ance with the criteria of ISO 9001 and ISO/TS 16949 in all of the Group’s facilities.

Particular attention has been paid to increasing the efficiency of processes in order to 
maximise energy savings.

In choices for the allocation of production and in making make/buy decisions the 
variable of the optimisation of transport has also been considered from a viewpoint of 
eco-sustainability and the reduction of CO2 emissions in line with the Group’s mission.
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Transactions with related parties

Transactions with related parties carried out during the period gave rise to relationships 
of a commercial, financial or advisory nature and were expedited at market terms, in the 
economic interest of the individual companies involved in the transactions. 

No transactions were carried out that were atypical or unusual with compared to nor-
mal business operations and the interest rates and terms applied to and by the companies 
in their reciprocal financial relationships are in line with market terms. 

For detailed information, as required by Art. 2497-bis of the Civil Code, section 5, on 
transactions carried out with related parties, see the Explanatory Notes to the Individual 
Financial Statements.

Standards used in preparing
the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The present financial statements are drawn up in compliance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (Ifrs) issued by the International Accounting Standard 
Board (Iasb) and endorsed by the European Union in accordance with Regulation no. 
1606/2002 and with the provisions issued in implementation of Art. 9 of Italian Leg-
islative Decree no. 38/2005. Furthermore, these financial statements are based on the 
assumption that the company is a going concern.  

Other information

With reference to the provisions of Articles 36 and 39 of Consob Regulation 16191 of 
29/10/2007 (the so-called “Market Regulations”) and of Art. 2.6.2 paragraph 15 of the 
Stock Exchange Regulations we can confirm that the parent company Carraro Spa meets 
the conditions required by points a), b) and c) of paragraph 1 of the aforementioned Art. 
36 on the subject of accounting situations, articles of association, corporate bodies and 
administrative and accounting control of its subsidiaries incorporated and regulated in 
countries that do not belong to the European Union. 

The Group perimeter includes 20 companies of which 11 are established and regulated 
in non-European Union countries, specifically in Argentina, Brazil, China, India, Russia, 
South Africa and the United States; of these, 3, in Argentina, China and India, are signif-
icant under the terms of Title VI, Section II of the Issuer Regulations (Consob resolution 
11971/1999).

For more complete disclosure on the system of corporate governance of Carraro Spa 
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and its ownership structures, as required by Article 123-bis of Legislative Decree 58 of 
24 February 1998, (Consolidated Finance Act – TUF), see the “Report on Corporate Gov-
ernance”, which can be consulted on the company’s website www.carraro.com, under the 
investor relations/corporate governance section, prepared under the terms of Article 89-
bis of the Consob Issuers’ Regulations.

Reporting obligations pursuant to article 114,
paragraph 5 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 58/1998

The information below is provided in compliance with Consob requirement no. 0075995/15 
of 1 October 2015.

1.	Net	financial	position	of	Carraro	Spa	and	the	Group,	indicating	short-term		
components	separately	from	medium-/long-term	components

Net financial position as at 31 December 2016 Carraro Spa Consolidated

Non-current loans payable  –77,381  –159,666 

Current loans payable  –41,600  –87,896 

Other non-current financial liabilities  – –117 

Other current financial liabilities  –32  –271 

Financial liabilities:  –119,013  –247,950 

Current loans and receivables 392 5,871 

Other current financial assets 531 606 

Financial assets: 923 6,477 

Cash 47 96 

Bank current accounts and deposits 245 47,657 

Cash and cash equivalents: 292 47,753 

Net financial position*  –117,798  –193,720 

Non-current loans and receivables  6,251  10,508 

Other non-current financial assets  12  12 

Net financial position of operations  –111,535  –183,200 

of which payables / (receivables):  

- non-current  –71,118  –149,263 

- current  –40,417  –33,937 

* Net financial debt prepared according to the scheme prescribed by the ESMA/2013/319 Recommendation
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2.	Position	of	outstanding	payables	of	Carraro	Spa	and	the	Group,		
broken	down	by	nature	(financial,	commercial,	taxes,	welfare	contributions		
and	to	employees),	and	relative	actions	of	creditors	(prompts	for	payment,	injunctions,	
suspended	supplies,	etc.)

Carraro Spa

Not jet due Past due

1 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days > 91 days Total

Trade payables  37,669  110  453 16 229  38,477 

Other payables  7,577  –  –  – –  7,577 

Total  45,246  110 453  16 229  46,054 

Consolidated

Not jet due Paste due

1 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days > 91 days Total

Trade payables  118,503  6,169  1,795 264 2,356  129,087 

Other payables  23,001  –  –  – –  23,001 

Total  141,504  6,169 1,795  264 2,356  152,088 

The payables of Carraro Spa to third parties and Group companies as at 31 December 
2016 totalled 46.054 million Euros of which 7.577 million Euros referred to other Paya-
bles (taxes, welfare contributions, to employees,…) due after the reporting period. Over-
due trade payables amounted to 0.808 million Euros.

The payables of the Carraro Group as at 31 December 2016 amounted to 152.088 million 
Euros of which 23 million Euros referred to other Payables (taxes, welfare contributions, 
to employees,…) due after the reporting period. Outstanding trade payables amounted to 
10.584 million Euros, of which 6.169 million Euros due within 30 days, mainly paid the 
following month, while those exceeding 90 days mainly refer to non-compliant supply 
consignments under resolution.

3.	Related-party	transactions	of	Carraro	Spa	and	the	Group

The most significant economic transactions of Carraro Spa with related parties concern 
business transactions for the purchase and sale of raw materials, semi-finished products 
and components relative to the production of drive systems; purchases of services refer 
mainly to services for industrial processing. 

The main sales of services include amounts charged for the utilisation of central in-
formation systems and the organisational support provided by the Parent Company in 
the various operating areas. Fees and royalties refer to specific commercial agency agree-
ments and the sale of rights to use industrial know-how.

Interest income is generated by outstanding loans; interest expense is generated by the 
loan received from Carraro International.
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The income and expenses from tax consolidation refer to the remuneration paid for 
taxable income and losses transferred in the context of the tax consolidation under Finaid 
Spa.

Financial transactions relate to short and long-term loans.
The figures for these transactions are shown in the table below:

 Financial and  
commercial transactions

Economic  
transactions

Financ.
assets

Financ. 
liabilities

Trade 
receiv. 

and 
other 

receiv.

Trade 
payables 

and 
other 

payables

Sales  
revenues

Operating 
costs

Net 
financial 

income 
(expenses)

Purchases
of assets

Related parties

Carraro Drive Tech Spa  –  –  11,094  5,174  20,312  14,667 –6,568  – 

Carraro Argentina Sa  6,251  –  2,533  260  539  261  –  – 

Carraro Drive Tech  
do Brasil

 –  –  195  –  108  – –28  – 

Carraro Deutschland 
Gmbh

 –  10,099  –  –  –  –  499  – 

Carraro India Ltd.  –  –  1,560  1,070  3,793  59 –4  – 

Carraro North America Vb  –  –  392  –  14  –  –  – 

Carraro International  903  82,594  –  19  6  60  5,729  – 

Fon Sa  –  –  1  –  –  –  –  – 

Carraro Technologies India 
Pvt. Ltd.

 –  –  54  244  54  1,367  –  – 

Carraro China Drive  
System Co. Ltd.

 –  –  752  583  1,161  91  –  – 

Siap Spa  –  –  1,019  1,407  1,202  1,732 –5  6 

Elettronica Santerno Spa  –  –  940  2  225  3 –32  – 

Elettronica Santerno Ind.  
e Com Ltd.

 –  –  111  –  8  –  –  – 

Santerno Usa  –  –  377  –  –  – –8  – 

Santerno South Africa  
Pty Ltd

 –  –  115  –  42  – –40  – 

O&K Antriebstechnik 
GmbH

 –  –  103  –  258  –  –  – 

Finaid Srl  –  –  832  –  6  –  –  – 

Total  7,154  92,693  20,078  8,759  27,728  18,240 –457  6 
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Related-party transactions of the Group refer mainly to consolidated tax transactions 
with the parent company Finaid and transactions with O&K Antriebstechnik Gmbh and 
Elettronica Santerno. 

 Financial and  
commercial transactions

Economic  
transactions

Financ.
assets

Trade 
receiv. 

and 
other 

receiv.

Trade 
payables 

and 
other 

payables

Sales  
revenues

Purchases 
of goods 

and  
materials

Purchases 
of services

Other  
income 

and  
expensesi

Purchases 
of assets

Related parties

Finaid Srl  –  842  90  6  –  – –  – 

O&K Antriebstechnik 
GmbH

 –  1,346  2,064  2,817  4,700  3  – 117  178 

Elettronica Santerno Spa  8,163  1,017  79  –  –  – –  – 

Elettronica Santerno Ind.  
e Com Ltd.

 –  118  –  – –  –  –  – 

Santerno South Africa  
Pty Ltd

 –  115  –  – –  – –  – 

Santerno Usa  –  541  –  – –  –  –  – 

Total  8,163  3,979  2,233  2,823 4,700  3 -117  178 

4.	Failure	to	comply	with	covenants,	negative	pledges	and	any	other	debt	clause	of	
the	Group	entailing	limits	on	the	use	of	financial	resources,	with	indication	of	the	level	
of	compliance	with	these	clauses	(updated)

As at 31 December 2016, there was no failure to comply with the covenants, negative 
pledges or other clauses provided for by the new agreement signed on 24 December 2015 
with the banks which updated the reference parameters (net financial debt/Ebitda and 
net financial debt/net equity) based on the results of the new 2016-19 Business Plan.

5.	Implementation	status	of	any	industrial	and	financial	plans,		
with	indication	of	deviations	of	final	data	from	estimated	data

In 2016, the Group continued implementation of the new 2016-19 Business Plan ap-
proved by the Board of Directors during 2015 and the only significant deviations of the 
results compared to the forecasts were due to the restructuring activities at the plant in 
Argentina and the deconsolidation of Elettronica Santerno.
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Statement of reconciliation of consolidated
net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ equity
with the net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ equity
of the parent company

The following statement illustrates the reconciliation of the consolidated net income and 
shareholders’ equity as disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the net 
income and shareholders’ equity disclosed in the Financial Statements of Carraro Spa:

Items Net profit/
(loss) for the 

period

Shareholders’ 
equity for the 

period

Net profit/
(loss) for 

the previous 
year

Shareholders’ 
equity for the 
previous year

Net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ equity  
of Carraro Spa

–1,437 52,659 –3,849 21,494

Net profit/(loss) and shareholders’ equity  
of subsidiaries

722 208,536 –15,074 220,108

Aggregate –715 261,195 –18,923 241,602

Elimination of carrying amount of subsidiaries 2,365 –245,698 40,973 –246,895

Consolidation adjustments –10,738 31,232 –31,155 36,316

Profit and shareholders’ equity –9,088 46,729 –9,105 31,023

Recognition of minority interests 1 – 191 –2,658

Profit and shareholders’ equity 
of the Group

–9,087 46,729 –8,914 28,365

The information required by Article 79 of the Issuers’ Regulations (information on the 
equity investments in the Parent Company Carraro Spa and its subsidiaries held by direc-
tors, statutory auditors and …omitted…) is set forth in a specific statement annexed to the 
Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements to which this Report refers.
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Directors’ Report on Operations

Proposal to allocate the loss for financial year 2016

Dear Shareholders,
The Financial Statements of Carraro Spa as at 31 December 2016, which we invite you to 
approve as presented, closed with a loss of 1,437,173 Euros which we propose to entirely 
carry forward. 

ENRICO CARRARO

Chairman
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 31 December 2016

Statements



Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated	Income	Statement

Notes 31.12.2016 of which 
non- 

recurring

31.12.2015 of which 
non- 

recurring

a) revenues from sales

1) Products   571,332  652,031

2) Services   14,638  12,429 

3) Other revenues   7,777   9,550  

Total revenues from sales 1  593,747  674,010 

b) operating costs

1) Purchases of goods and materials   339,617  389,819 

2) Services   94,542  105,091 

3) Use of third-party goods and services   1,908  4,599

4) Personnel costs   97,871 308  125,063 3,546 

5) Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of assets   27,918  48,908 

5.a) depreciation of property, plant and equipment   17,700  21,117

5.b) amortisation of intangible fixed assets   3,854  4,952 

5.c) impairment of fixed assets   5,869  5,213  20,538 18,386

5.d) impairment of receivables   495  2,301 

6) Changes in inventories  17,449 11,356 

7) Provision for risks and other liabilities   10,306 3,998  11,586 4,302

8) Other income and expenses  –3,439 1,181 –17,758 –12,159

9) Internal construction  –4,184 –4,985 

Total operating costs 2 581,988 673,679 

Operating profit/(loss) 11,759 331 

c) gains/(losses) on financial assets

10) Income and expenses from equity investments   –14  22,825  22,985

11) Other financial income   2,200  3,764 

12) Financial costs and expenses  –13,644 –20,182

13) Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange  –1,836 –4,471 

14) Value adjustments of financial assets   –213   –  

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets 3 –13,507 1,936 

Profit/(loss) before taxes –1,748 2,267

15) Current and deferred income taxes 4 7,340 –1,177 11,373 6,707

Net profit/(loss) –9,088 –9,106 

16) Minority interests  1 – 191 204

Group consolidated profit/(loss)  –9,087 –9,523  –8,915 2,407

Earnings (losses) per share 5

Basic, for the profit for the period attributable  
to ordinary shareholders of the parent company

–€ 0.21 –€ 0.21

Diluted, for the profit for the period attributable  
to ordinary shareholders of the parent company

–€ 0.21 –€ 0.21
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Consolidated	Comprehensive	Income	Statement

Notes 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Net profit/(loss) for the period   –9,088  –9,106 

Other income components that could be recognised in the income  
statement in subsequent periods:

   

Change in cash flow hedge reserve 9  351  –641 

Exchange differences from the translation of items from foreign operations 15  –2,414  75 

Taxes on other comprehensive income components   –93  187 

Total other income components that could be recognised in the income 
statement in subsequent periods:

  –2,156  –379 

Other income components that will not be recognised in the income  
statement in subsequent periods:

   

Change in the provision for discounting employee benefits  19  –60  172 

Taxes on other comprehensive income components   29  –59 

Total other income components that will not be recognised in the income 
statement in subsequent periods:

  –31  113 

Other comprehensive income components, net of tax effects   –2,187  –266 

Total comprehensive income for the period   –11,275  –9,372

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Shareholders of the parent company   –11,274  –9,182 

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minorities   –1  –190

Total comprehensive income for the period  –11,275  –9,372

Consolidated	Statement	of	Financial	Position

Notes 31.12.2016 31.12.2015
a) non-current assets

1) Property, plant and equipment 6  150,849  163,828 
2) Intangible fixed assets 7  61,117  70,702
3) Real estate investments 8  695  695 
4) Equity investments in associated companies 9  18,561  16,552 
5) Financial assets 10  10,616  8,896

5.1) Loans and receivables  10,508  8,668 
5.2) Other financial assets  108  228 

6) Deferred tax assets 11  21,781  29,796 
7) Trade receivables and other receivables 12  3,551  3,056 

7.1) Trade receivables – – 
7.2) Other receivables 3,551 3,056 

Total non-current assets  267,170  293,525 
b) current assets

1) Closing inventory 13  90,665  118,086
2) Trade receivables and other receivables 12  72,916  88,683 

2.1) Trade receivables  50,637  61,954 
2.2) Other receivables  22,279  26,729 

3) Financial assets 10  7,711  8,972 
3.1) Loans and receivables  5,871  7,731 
3.2) Other financial assets  1,840  1,241 

4) Cash and cash equivalents 14  47,753  70,758 
4.1) Cash  96  110 
4.2) Bank current accounts and deposits  47,657  70,648 
4.3) Other cash and cash equivalents  –  – 

Total current assets  219,045  286,499
Total assets  486,215  580,024
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Notes 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

a) shareholders’ equity 15

1) Share Capital  23,915  23,915 

2) Other Reserves  46,972  26,388 

3) Profits/(Losses) brought forward  –  – 

4) Cash flow hedge reserve  427  169 

5) Provision for discounting employee benefits  –404  297 

6) Foreign currency translation reserve  –15,094  –13,489 

7) Profit/loss for the year pertaining to the Group –9,087 –8,915 

Group Shareholders’ Equity  46,729  28,365 

8) Minority interests  –  2,658 

Total Shareholders’ Equity  46,729  31,023 

b) non-current liabilities

 1) Financial liabilities 16  159,783  180,188

1.1) Bonds  –  – 

1.2) Loans  159,666  180,344 

1.3) Other financial liabilities  117  –156

2) Trade payables and other payables 17  646  910

2.1) Trade payables  –  – 

2.2) Other payables  646  910 

3) Deferred tax liabilities 11  2,117  3,214 

4) Provision for employee benefits/retirement 19  10,697  11,643 

4.1) Provision for severance indemnity  9,865  11,130 

4.2) Provision for retirement benefits  832  513 

5) Provisions for risks and liabilities 20  4,711  3,253 

5.1) Provision for warranties  2,117  1,682 

5.2) Provision for legal claims  56  138 

5.3) Provision for restructuring and reconversion  –  – 

5.4) Other provisions  2,538  1,433 

Total non-current liabilities  177,954  199,208 

c) current liabilities

1) Financial liabilities 16  88,448  135,443 

1.1) Bonds  –  – 

1.2) Loans  87,896  133,621 

1.3) Other financial liabilities  552  1,822 

2) Trade payables and other payables 17  151,442  190,944 

2.1) Trade payables   129,087  167,283 

2.2) Other payables  22,355  23,661 

3) Current taxes payables 18  6,473  5,384 

4) Provisions for risks and liabilities 20  15,169  18,022 

4.1) Provision for warranties  8,870  9,552 

4.2) Provision for legal claims  1,335  1,879 

4.3) Provision for restructuring and reconversion  2,418  5,486 

4.4) Other provisions  2,546  1,105 

Total current liabilities  261,532  349,793 

Total liabilities  439,486  549,001

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  486,215  580,024
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Statement of changes
in Consolidated Shareholder’s Equity

Share  
Capital

Capital 
reserves

Other 
reserves  

Treasury 
shares 

acquired

Provision for 
discounting 

employee 
benefits 

Reserve
cash flow 

hedge

Foreign  
currency 

translation 
reserve

Profit/ 
(Loss) 
for the 
period

Equity of 
Group

Minority  
interests

Total

Balance
as at 1.1.2015* 

23,915 49,330  –6,302   –6,666  –1,067  624  –13,562  –7,913  38,359  2,848  41,207 

Total profit/
loss for the year

     115 –455  73 –8,915  –9,182  –190  –9,372 

Transactions 
with 
shareholders:

Allocation of 
2014 results

 –7,913 7,913  –  –

Treasury share 
purchase

 –  –  –

Tax rate 
adjustment 
Italian Law 
2080/2015

–966 –966 –966

Change in 
consolid. scope

–1,249 –  1,249 – – – –  –  –

Other changes 154 154 – 154

Total transact. 
of the period

 –  – –9,974  –  1,249  –  – 7,913 –812  –  –812 

Balance as at 
31.12.2015

23,915  49,330 –16,276  –6,666  297  169   –13,489  –8,915   28,365  2,658  31,023

Share  
Capital

Capital 
reserves

Other 
reserves 

Treasury 
shares 

acquired

Provision for 
discounting 

employee 
benefits 

Reserve
cash flow 

hedge

Foreign  
currency 

translation 
reserve

Profit/ 
(Loss) 
for the 
period

Equity of 
Group

Minority  
interests

Total

Balance
as at 1.1.2016*

23,915 49,330 –16,276   –6,666  297  169  –13,489  –8,915  28,365  2,658  31,023 

Total profit/
loss for the year

     –30 257  –2,414 –9,087  –11,274  –1  –11,275 

Transactions 
with 
shareholders:

Future capital 
increase  
reserves

32,641   32,641  32,641

Allocation of 
2015 results

 –8,915 8,915  –  –

Treasury share 
purchase

– – –

Change in 
consolid. scope

–2,206 –  65 1 809 – –1,331  – 2,657  –3,988

Other changes –936 –736 – – –1,672 – –1,672

Total transact. 
of the period

 –  32,641 –12,057  –  –671  1  809 8,915 29,638  –2,657  26,981 

Balance as at 
31.12.2016

23,915  81,971 –28,333  –6,666  –404  427   –15,094  –9,087   46,729  –  46,729

For further details regarding changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity, please refer to note no.15 below. 
* For a better understanding and highlighting certain opening reserves have been reclassified and restated.
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Consolidated	Statement	of	Cash	Flows

Notes 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Profit/(loss) for the year pertaining to the Group 5 –9,087 –8,915

Profit/(Loss) for the year pertaining to minority interests –1 –191 

Tax for the year 4  7,340  11,373 

Profit/(loss) before taxes   –1,748  2,267 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2  17,700  21,117 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 2 3,854 4,952 

Impairment of intangible assets 2  5,869  20,538 

Provisions for risks 2  10,306  11,586 

of which non-recurring provisions 20 3,998 4,302

Provisions for employee benefits 2 4,698 6,157

Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange 3  1,836  4,471 

Income and expenses from equity investments 3  14  –22,825 

Net adjustments of financial assets 3  213  – 

Cash flows before changes in Net Working Capital 42,742 48,263

Changes in inventory  17,449  11,356 

Changes in trade receivables and other receivables  5,429  19,189 

of which changes in trade receivables and other receivables from related parties –2,933 655

Changes in trade payables and other payables  –26,677  –65,171

of which changes in trade payables and other payables from related parties 1,087 –6,345

Changes in receivables/payables for deferred taxation 4,140 874 

Use of funds for employee benefits  –5,069  –7,305 

Use of risks funds  –9,397  –9,443 

Change in other financial assets and liabilities –948 571

Tax consolidation expense and income – 2,108 –

Tax payments  –3,777  –7,748

Cash flows from operating activities   21,784  –9,414

Investments in plant, property and equipment and real estate investments  –11,049  –19,169 

Disinvestments and other movements in property, plant and equipment  –318  3,289 

Investments in intangible assets –4,966  –6,291 

Disinvestments and other movements in intangible assets 1,318 431 

Net cash flow disposed of from disinvestments in companies –1,703 21,159

Cash flows from Investing activities –16,718 –581

Change in financial assets –3,977 –9,162

Change in financial liabilities  –51,307   27,220 

Treasury share purchase – –

Other movements of shareholders’ equity 28,034 –487

Cash flows from financing activities –27,249 17,572 

Total cash flows for the period  –22,183  7,577 

Opening cash and cash equivalents  70,758  62,822 

Exchange changes in cash and cash equivalents –822 359

Closing cash and cash equivalents  47,753  70,758
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Explanatory an supplementary notes
to the Consolidated accounts as at 31 december 2015

1.		Introduction
Publication of the Consolidated Financial Statements of Carraro Spa and “Carraro 

Group” subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2016 was authorised by a resolution 
of the Board of Directors on 15 February 2017.

Carraro Spa is a joint-stock company registered in Italy at the Padua Companies Reg-
ister and controlled by Finaid Spa. Carraro Spa is not subject to management and coordi-
nation activities under the terms of Art. 2497 et seq of the Italian Civil Code.

The controlling shareholder of Finaid Spa does not direct and coordinate Carraro’s op-
erations. More specifically:

› Finaid is a purely financial holding;
› Finaid does not issue any directions to Carraro;
› the Finaid Board of Directors does not approve Carraro’s strategic plans or business 

plans nor does it “interfere” regularly in its operations; and
› there are no relationships of a commercial or financial nature between Finaid and 

Carraro.
These financial statements are presented in Euros, as this is the currency in which most 

of the group’s operations are conducted. The foreign companies are included in the con-
solidated financial statements in accordance with the principles described in the notes 
that follow.

Amounts in these financial statements are given in Euro thousands, while amounts in 
the notes are indicated in Euro millions (mln).

The Carraro Group companies are principally engaged in the manufacture and market-
ing of drive systems developed for agricultural tractors, construction equipment, material 
moving machinery, light commercial vehicles and automobiles, and electronic control and 
power systems.

Completing the strategic plan of refocussing the Group on its core business, in Novem-
ber 2016, a 51% stake of Elettronica Santerno Spa was sold to Enertronica Spa, parent 
company of the Santerno Business Area (Cash Generating Unit).

Following this extraordinary operation, the Carraro Group is organised in two CGUs 
(Cash Generating Units): Carraro Drive Tech and Agritalia.

Reporting criteria and accounting principles
The annual Financial Statements are drawn up in compliance with the Internation-

al Financial Reporting Standards (‘Ifrs’) issued by the International Accounting Stand-
ards Board (“Iasb”) and endorsed by the European Union, and with the measures issued 
implementing Article 9 of Legislative Decree 38/2005. The term Ifrs also includes the 
revised International Accounting Standards (Ias) and all interpretations of the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (Ifric) previously known as the 
Standard Interpretation Committee (Sic). These standards are the same as those used for 
the Financial Statements as at 31 December 2015, with the exceptions described in the 
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paragraph 3.3 “Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations adoptable since 
1 January 2016”.

The financial statements were prepared assuming that the company is a going concern. 
For further details, please refer to the information in the Directors’ Report on Operations.

2.	Form	and	content	of	the	financial	statements
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

revised International Accounting Standards (Ias/Ifrs) ratified by the European Union and 
to this end the figures of financial statements of the consolidated subsidiary companies 
have been reclassified and adjusted appropriately.

This document contains a number of “alternative performance indicators” not envis-
aged by the IFRS accounting standards: Ebitda (understood as the sum of operating prof-
it/(loss), amortisation, depreciation and impairment of fixed assets); Ebit (understood as 
operating profit/(loss) in the income statement); Net Financial Position of Operations: 
Esma Net Financial Debt determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 127 
of the recommendations contained in the Esma document no. 319 of 2013, implementing 
Regulation (EC) 809/2004, adjusting, where applicable, non-current receivables and fi-
nancial assets.

2.1	 Format	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements
With regard to the format of consolidated accounting schedules, the Group opted to 

present the following accounting statements.

Income Statement
Items on the consolidated income statement are classified by their nature. 
The income statement separately indicates the effects of non-recurrent positive and 

negative income components relative to events or transactions the occurrence of which 
is non-current, or transactions or events that are not repeated frequently in carrying out 
normal activities.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
The statement of comprehensive income includes items of income and costs that are 

not posted on the period income statement, as required or permitted by the Ifrss, such as 
changes to the cash flow hedge reserve, changes to the reserve for employee benefits - ac-
tual gains and losses, changes to the translation reserve and the result of financial assets 
available for sale

Statement of Financial Position 
The consolidated interim statement of financial position is presented with separate dis-

closure of Assets, Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity.
Assets and Liabilities are illustrated in the Consolidated Financial Statements accord-

ing to their classification as current and non-current.
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
The statement of changes in shareholders’ equity is presented in accordance with the 

requirements of the international accounting standards, showing the comprehensive in-
come for the period and all changes generated from transactions with shareholders.

Statement of Cash Flows
The consolidated statement of cash flows illustrates the changes in cash and cash equiv-

alents (as presented in the statement of financial position) divided by cash generating 
area, indicating financial flows in accordance with the “indirect method”, as permitted by 
Ias 7.

Accounting statements of transactions with related parties
(Consob regulation 15519)
With reference to the reporting of related-party transactions in the financial state-

ments, provided for in Consob Regulation 15519 of 27 July 2006, balances of a significant 
amount are specifically indicated, to facilitate understanding of the assets and liabilities, 
financial position and results of the Group, in the table of paragraph 8 below on relat-
ed-party transactions.  

2.2	 Content	of	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements

Area di consolidamento
Subsidiaries are companies in which the Company exercises control. The Company 

controls another company when it is exposed, or has rights, to the variability of results of 
the subsidiary based on its involvement with said subsidiary and has the capacity to influ-
ence such results through the exercise of its power. 

Control may be exercised through directly or indirectly holding the majority of shares 
with voting rights, or on the basis of contractual or legal agreements, also regardless of 
shareholding relations. The existence of potential voting rights that may be exercised at 
the reporting date is considered for the purposes of determining control. 

In general, the existence of control is assumed when the Parent Company holds, directly 
or indirectly, more than half the voting rights. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis, starting from the date when con-
trol is actually acquired and stop being consolidated at the date when control is trans-
ferred to third parties.
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The following companies are consolidated using the line-by-line method:

Name Based in Currency Nominal value
Share capital

Group  
stake

Parent company:

Carraro Spa Campodarsego (Padua) Eur  23,914,696  

Italian subsidiaries:

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Campodarsego (Padua) Eur  30,102,365 100.00%

Siap Spa Maniago (Pordenone) Eur  35,582,616 100.00%

Foreign subsidiaries:

Carraro International Sa Luxembourg Eur  39,318,000 100.00%

Carraro Deutschland Gmbh Hattingen (Germany) Eur  10,507,048 100.00%

Carraro Technologies India Pvt. Ltd. Pune (India) Inr  18,000,000 100.00%

Carraro Argentina Sa Haedo (Argentina) Ars  105,096,503 99.95%

Carraro China Drive System Qingdao (China) Cny  168,103,219 100.00%

Carraro India Ltd. Pune (India) Inr  568,515,380 100.00%

Carraro North America Inc. Norfolk (Usa) Usd  1,000 100.00%

Fon Sa Radomsko (Poland) Pln  - 98.64%

Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil Santo Andrè  
(State of  Sao Paulo)

Brl  5,701,954 100.00%

Mini Gears Inc Virginia Beach (Usa) Usd  8,910,000 100.00%

Gear World North America Inc. Virginia Beach (Usa) Usd  20,000 100.00%

Mini Gears Property Virginia Beach (Usa) Usd  20,000 100.00%

Associated companies are consolidated using the equity method as better defined in the 
following paragraph “measurement criteria and accounting standards ”.

The following companies are consolidated using the equity method:

Name Based in Currency Nominal value
Share capital

Group  
stake

Foreign associated companies:

O&K Antriebstechnik Gmbh Hattingen (Germany) Eur  4,000,000 45.00% 

Elettronica Santerno Spa Campodarsego (Padua) Eur  2,724,500 49.01%

Changes in the consolidation area and other operations 
of company reorganisation

Acquisition of minority interest in the subsidiary Siap Spa
On 8 February 2016, Carraro Drive Tech Spa acquired a 8.43% stake in the subsidiary 

Siap Spa held by minority shareholders.

Capital Increase of the issuer Carraro Spa
On 27 June 2016, the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro Spa approved 

a capital increase in subscription rights for the maximum amount of 54 million Euros, 
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of which 34 million Euros subscribed and paid by the shareholders Finaid Spa and Julia 
Dora Koranyi Arduini. This subscription was conditional on receipt of prior exemption 
from Consob of a possible mandatory tender offer, following subscription by the Investor, 
received on 24 June 2016. Payment of the guaranteed minimum amount (34 million Eu-
ros) took place 29 June 2016. The capital increase will be executed as soon as clearance 
to publish the prospectus is obtained, originally scheduled for 31 December 2016 and 
subsequently extended to 30 June 2017 due to the work which had become necessary for 
preparation of the Prospectus.

Loss of control of the subsidiary Elettronica Santerno Spa
On 3 November 2016, Carraro Spa, Carraro International Sa, on the one hand, and En-

ertronica Spa on the other, signed an investment agreement and shareholders’ agreement 
concerning acquisition by the latter of a controlling stake in the share capital and voting 
rights of Santerno.

For execution of the investment agreement, on 30 November 2016, Enertronica Spa 
signed an increase of paid capital of € 2,250,000 as a result of which it acquired a con-
trolling stake in the share capital and voting rights of Santerno. Following this transac-
tion, the Issuer’s interest in Santerno was reduced to 49% of its share capital.

Following this transaction, therefore, the subsidiary Elettronica Santerno Spa was rec-
ognised with the line-by-line consolidation method until 30 November 2016, and subse-
quently with the equity method up to the year end.

3.	Consolidation	criteria	and	accounting	standards

3.1	 Consolidation	criteria
The figures are consolidated using the line by line method, that is assuming the entire 

amount of the assets, liabilities, costs and earnings of the individual companies, regard-
less of the stock held in the company.

Foreign companies are consolidated using financial statement formats in line with the 
layout adopted by the parent company and compiled in accordance with common ac-
counting standards, as applied for Carraro S.p.A. Where necessary, to achieve alignment 
with the reporting dates of the foreign companies, infra-annual financial statements as at 
31 December 2016 have been provided by the directors, with the same criteria as those for 
year-end statements.

The carrying amount of consolidated equity interests, held by Carraro S.p.A. or by other 
companies within the consolidation scope, was offset by the relevant amount of share-
holders’ equity in the subsidiary companies.

The amount of shareholders’ equity and the net profit/(loss) of these third-party share-
holders are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated In-
come Statement and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income respectively.

Payable and receivables, income and expenditure and all operations undertaken be-
tween the companies included within the consolidation scope have been eliminated, in-
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cluding dividends distributed within the Group.
Profits not yet realised and capital gains and losses deriving from operations between 

companies of the Group have also been eliminated.
Intra-group losses that indicate impairment are recognised in the consolidated finan-

cial statements.
Balances in foreign currencies have been converted into Euros using the exchange rate 

of the end of the period for assets and liabilities, historical exchange rates for sharehold-
ers’ equity items and average exchange rates in the period for the income statement.

Exchange differences resulting from this conversion method are shown in a specific 
shareholders’ equity item entitled “Foreign currency translation reserve”.

The exchange rates applied for the translation of balances presented in foreign curren-
cies were as follows:

Currency Average
exchange rate 

for 2016

Exchange rate 
as at 31.12.2016

Average
exchange rate 

for 2015

Exchange rate 
as at 31.12.2016

Indian Rupee 74.372 71.594 71.196 72.022

Polish Zloty 4.363 4.410 4.184 4.264

US Dollar 1.107 1.054 1.110 1.089

Chinese Renminbi 7.352 7.320 6.973 7.061

Argentine Peso 16.342 16.749 10.260 14.097

Russian Ruble – – 64.641 62.355

South African Rand 16.264 14.457 14.174 16.953

Brazilian Real 3.856 3.431 3.700 4.312

3.2	 Discretionary	valuations	and	significant	accounting	estimates

Estimates and assumptions
In the application of the Group’s accounting standards, the directors have not made 

decisions based on discretionary evaluations (excluding those which involve estimates) 
having a significant effect on the values in the financial statements.

We present below the key assumptions on the future and other significant sources of 
uncertainty in the estimates at the reporting date, which could bring about significant 
changes in the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on goodwill
Goodwill is examined for any impairment once a year. This test requires an estimate 

of the value in use of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill is attributed, which 
in turn is based on an estimate of the anticipated cash flows from the unit and their dis-
counting based on an appropriate discount rate. For further details see note 7.
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Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised in compliance with Ias 12 and they include retained 

tax losses, to the extent that it is likely there will be future tax profits to offset these losses 
with the returns of the temporary differences absorbed. A significant discretionary valu-
ation is required of the directors to determine the amount of the deferred tax assets that 
can be accounted for. They must estimate the probable timing and the amount of future 
taxable profits as well as a planning strategy for future taxation. The details are provided 
in Note 11.

Pension funds and other post employment benefits 
The cost of defined-benefit pension plans is determined using actuarial valuations. The 

actuarial valuation requires assumptions on the discount rates, the expected rate of return 
on investments, future salary increments, mortality rates and future pension increases. 
Because of the long-term nature of these plans, these estimates are subject to a significant 
level of uncertainty. Further information is provided in note 19.

Development costs
Development costs have been capitalised based on the following accounting principle. 

In order to determine the amounts to be capitalised the directors must develop assump-
tions on anticipated future cash flows from assets, the discount rates to apply and the 
periods of manifestation of the anticipated benefits.

Provisions for risks and liabilities
The Group used estimates for the valuation of the provisions for credit risks, for work 

under warranties granted to customers, for company restructuring, for stock depreciation 
and for other risks and liabilities. Further details are provided in the notes relating to the 
individual financial statement items.

3.3	 Accounting	standards	and	measurement	criteria

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
adoptable since 1 January 2016
Amendments to Ias 19 – «Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions»
The amendments made allow accounting down of the current service cost for the peri-

od of contributions paid by employees or third parties, which are not related to the num-
ber of years of service, instead of allocation of such contributions over the period in which 
the service is rendered. The new provisions apply for annual periods starting on, or after, 
1 February 2015. The adoption of these amendments had no effect on the Group consoli-
dated financial statements. 
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Annual Improvements to Ifrs / 2010–2012 Cycle
The provisions approved made changes: (i) to Ifrs 2, clarifying the definition of “vesting 

condition” and introducing the definitions of service and result conditions; (ii) to Ifrs 3, 
clarifying that the obligations to pay a contingent consideration, other than those which 
meet the definition of equity instrument, are measured at fair value at each balance sheet 
date, with changes recognised in the income statement; (iii) to Ifrs 8, requesting infor-
mation to be given concerning the assessments made by management in the aggregation 
of operating segments, describing the segments that have been aggregated and the eco-
nomic indicators that were evaluated to determine that the aggregated segments have 
similar economic characteristics; (iv) Ifrs 13 clarifying that with the issue of Ifrs 13, and 
consequential amendments to Ias 39 and Ifrs 9, the possibility of recognising current 
trade receivables and payables without recognising the discounting effects, if such effects 
are immaterial, remains valid; (v) to Ias 16 and Ias 38, clarifying the procedures for de-
termining the gross carrying amount of assets, in the event of revaluation resulting from 
the application of the revaluation model; (vi) to Ias 24, establishing the information to be 
provided when there is a third entity that provides services related to the management of 
key managers of the reporting entity. The new provisions apply for annual periods start-
ing on, or after, 1 February 2015. The adoption of these amendments had no effect on the 
Group consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ifrs 11 – «Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operation»
The amendments to the standard provide guidance on the proper accounting of acqui-

sitions resulting from “Interests in Joint Operations”. Application of the amendments is 
effective from 1 January 2016. The adoption of these amendments had no effect on the 
Group consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to Ias 16 and Ias 38 
«Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation»
The amendments clarify the use of “revenue-based methods” to calculate the deprecia-

tion of an asset. Application of the amendments is effective from 1 January 2016. The adop-
tion of these amendments had no effect on the Group consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to Ifrss 2012–2014 Cycle 
The provisions amended Ifrs 5, Ifrs 7, Ias 19 and Ias 34. Application of the amendments 

is effective from 1 January 2016. The adoption of these amendments had no effect on the 
Group consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ias 1 – «Disclosure Initiative» 
The proposed amendments concern the materiality, the aggregation of items, the struc-

ture of the notes, the information on the accounting policies adopted and the presentation 
of other components of comprehensive income arising from measurement of investments 
using the equity method. Application of the amendments is effective from 1 January 2016. 
The adoption of these amendments had no effect on the Group consolidated financial 
statements.
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Amendments and interpretations of existing standards, effective for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and not adopted by the Group in advance 

Ifrs 15 – «Revenue from contracts with customers»
On 28 May 2014, the Fasb issued Ifrs 15 “Revenue from contract with customers”. The 

new standard will be applicable as from the first quarter periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2017. The standard replaces Ias 18 – “Revenues,” Ias 11 “Construction Contracts”, 
Ifric 13 “Customers Loyalty Programmes”, “Ifric 15 - Agreements for the Construction of 
Real Estate”, Ifric 18 – “Transfers of Assets from Customers”, Sic 31 – “Revenue—Barter 
Transactions Involving Advertising Services”. Revenue is recognised when the customer 
obtains control over the goods and services and, therefore, when it has the ability to direct 
the use and obtain the benefits of the same. When a company agrees to provide goods 
or services at a price that varies according to the occurrence or otherwise of some future 
event, an estimate of the variable part is included in the price only if its occurrence is 
highly probable. For transactions involving the simultaneous sale of several goods and/or 
services, the sales price must be allocated according to the price that the company would 
apply to customers if the same goods and services included in the contract were to be sold 
individually. Companies sometimes incur costs, such as sales commission, to obtain or 
execute a contract. Such costs, if certain criteria are met, are capitalised and recognised in 
the income statement over the term of the contract. The standard specifies, moreover, that 
the sales price must be adjusted in the event that it contains a significant financial com-
ponent. The provisions of Ifrs 15 are effective for annual periods beginning on, or after, 1 
January 2018, subject to any subsequent deferrals established during approval by the Eu-
ropean Union. The Group is evaluating the impact that adoption of the new standard will 
have on its consolidated financial statements. The new standard has not been approved 
by the European Union on the date on which these consolidated financial statements were 
authorised for publication.

 Ifrs 9 – «Financial instruments»
The final version of the standard, published on 24 July 2014, involves three steps (“clas-

sification and measurement”, “impairment” and “hedge accounting”) of the Iasb project 
aimed at replacing Ias 39 - Financial Instruments: recognition and measurement. Ifrs 9 
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets. The 
new standard reduces to three the number of categories of financial assets in Ias 39 and 
requires that all financial assets are (i) classified on the basis of the business model which 
the company uses to manage its financial assets and of the cash flows characteristic of 
the financial asset, (ii) initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets 
not at fair value with an entry in the income statement, certain ancillary costs (“trans-
action costs”), and (iii) subsequently measured at fair value or amortised cost. Ifrs 9 also 
envisages that the embedded derivatives that fall within the scope of application of the 
Ifrs standard in question must no longer be separated from the main contract containing 
them, and that the company may decide to directly recognise in other comprehensive in-
come the changes in fair value of investments that fall within the scope of application of 
the Ifrs standard in question. The new impairment model introduced by Ifrs 9 no longer 
requires a trigger event before being able to account an impairment loss; on the contra-
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ry, it envisages that the expected impairment losses are recognised at any time and that 
their amount is reviewed and adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect changes in the 
credit risk of financial instruments. Ifrs 9 introduces a three-stage model to account for 
the impairment loss. The methods of determining impairment losses vary depending on 
whether the financial assets are in one of the three phases. Ifrs 9 better aligns the account-
ing treatment of hedging instruments with the risk management activities that companies 
put in place in order to reduce and/or eliminate exposure to financial and other risks. The 
new model introduced by Ifrs 9 allows the use of documentation produced internally as 
a basis for implementing hedge accounting. Ifrs 9 is effective for periods beginning as 
of 1 January 2018. Early adoption of the standard is permitted. At the date of these con-
solidated financial statements the standard has not yet been approved by the European 
Union. The Group is evaluating the impact that this standard will have on its consolidated 
financial statements.

Ifrs 16 – «Leases»
On 13 January 2016, the Iasb published Ifrs 16 - Leases which is intended to replace Ias 

17 - Leases, as well as the interpretations Ifric 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, Sic-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and Sic-27 Evaluating the Substance 
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. 

The new standard provides a new definition of lease and introduces a criterion based on 
control (right of use) of an asset for distinguishing lease contracts from service contracts, 
identifying as discriminating factors: identification of the asset, the right to replace the 
same, the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits arising from the use of 
the asset and the right to direct the use of the asset underlying the contract.

The standard establishes a single model of recognition and valuation of lease contracts 
for the lessee which entails recognising the asset covered by the lease, also operating lease, 
under assets with an offsetting financial payable, while also providing the possibility of not 
recognising as leases contracts which refer to “low-value assets” and leases with a contract 
term less than or equal to 12 months. On the contrary, the standard does not include sig-
nificant changes for lessors.

The standard is applicable as from 1 January 2019 but early application is allowed only 
for companies that have implemented early adoption of Ifrs 15 - Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers. The Directors expect that application of Ifrs 16 may have a significant 
impact on the accounting treatment of lease contracts and on the related disclosures in 
the Group consolidated financial statements. Nevertheless, it is not possible to provide a 
reasonable estimate of the effect until the Group has completed a detailed analysis of the 
related contracts.
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Amendments to Ifrs 10 and Ias 28 
«Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture»
The amendments introduced aim to better define the accounting treatment related to 

gains or losses arising from transactions with joint ventures and associated companies 
measured using the equity method. At the date of these consolidated financial statements 
the standard has not yet been approved by the European Union. The Group is evaluating 
the impact that this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements. 

Amendments to Ifrs 10 e Ifrs 28
On 11 September 2014, the Iasb published an amendment to Ifrs 10 and Ias 28 Sales 

or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture. The doc-
ument was published in order to resolve the current conflict between Ias 28 and Ifrs 10. 

According to Ias 28, the gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of a 
non-monetary asset to a joint venture or associate in exchange for a share in the capital of 
the latter is limited to the share in the joint venture or associate held by the other investors 
extraneous to the transaction. In contrast, Ifrs 10 requires the recording of the entire gain 
or loss in the event of loss of control of a subsidiary, even if the entity continues to hold 
a non-controlling stake in the same, including in this case also the sale or transfer of a 
subsidiary to a joint venture or associate. The changes introduced provide that in the case 
of a sale/contribution of an asset or a subsidiary to a joint venture or associate, the extent 
of the gain or loss to be recognised in the financial statements of the seller/contributor 
depends on whether or not the assets or subsidiary sold/contributed constitute a business, 
in the sense of Ifrs 3. In the event that the assets or subsidiary sold /contributed represent 
a business, the entity must recognise the gain or loss on the entire investment previously 
held; while, if not, the share of the gain or loss on the stake still held by the entity must be 
eliminated. At the moment, the Iasb has suspended application of this amendment. At the 
moment, the directors are considering the possible impacts of these changes on the Group 
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ias 12 – «Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses»
The changes introduced by the new amendment dated 19 January 2016 are intended 

to provide some clarification on the inclusion of deferred tax assets on unrealised losses 
upon the occurrence of certain circumstances and on the estimated taxable income for 
future years. The changes will apply from 1 January 2017 but early adoption is allowed. At 
the moment, the directors are considering the possible impacts of these changes on the 
Group consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ias 7 – «Disclosure Initiative»
On 29 January 2016, the Iasb published the document “Disclosure Initiative” which 

contains amendments to Ias 7. The document aims to provide some clarification to im-
prove disclosures on financial liabilities. In particular, the changes require a disclosure 
that enables users of the financial statements to understand the changes in liabilities aris-
ing from financing operations, including changes resulting from monetary movements 
and changes resulting from non-monetary movements. The changes do not envisage a 
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specific format to be used for the disclosure. Nevertheless, the changes introduced require 
an entity to provide a reconciliation of the opening balance and the closing balance for 
liabilities arising from financial transactions. The changes will apply from 1 January 2017 
but early application is allowed. Presentation of comparative information relating to prior 
years is not required. At the moment, the directors are considering the possible impacts of 
these changes on the Group consolidated financial statements.  

Amendments to Ifrs 2
«Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions»
On 20 June 2016, the Iasb published the document “Classification and measurement of 

share-based payment transactions which contains the amendments to Ifrs 2. The amend-
ments provide some clarification with regard to the recognition of the effects of vesting 
conditions in the presence of cash-settled share-based payments, the classification of 
share-based payments with net settlement characteristics and the accounting of changes 
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment which alter their classification from 
cash-settled to equity-settled. The changes will apply from 1 January 2018 but early ap-
plication is allowed. At the moment, the directors are considering the possible impacts of 
these changes on the Group consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements to Ifrss 2014–2016 Cycle
On 8 December 2016, the Iasb published the document “Annual Improvements to If-

rss: 2014-2016 Cycle” which incorporates the amendments to certain standards as part of 
the annual improvement process of the same. The main changes concern:

Ias 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Measuring investees at fair value 
through profit or loss: an investment-by-investment choice or a consistent policy choice. 
The amendment clarifies that the option for a venture capital organization or other enti-
ty with such qualification (such as a mutual fund or similar entity), in order to measure 
investments in associates and joint ventures measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(rather than by applying the equity method) must carried out for each investment at the 
time of initial recognition. This amendment applies from 1 January 2018.

Ifrs 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – Clarification of the scope of the Stand-
ard. The amendment clarifies the scope of Ifrs 12 specifying that the information required 
by the standard, except for that provided for in paragraphs B10-B16, applies to all equity 
interests that are classified as held for sale, held for distribution to shareholders or as dis-
continued operations in accordance with Ifrs 5. This amendment applies from 1 January 
2017.

At the moment, the directors are considering the possible impacts of these changes on 
the Group consolidated financial statements.

Ifric Interpretation 22
On 8 December 2016, the Iasb published the document “Foreign Currency Transac-

tions and Advance Consideration”. The interpretation aims to provide guidelines for for-
eign exchange transactions if they are recognized under non-cash advances or down pay-
ments, prior to recognition of the related asset, cost or revenue. This document provides 
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guidance on how an entity should determine the date of a transaction and, as a result, the 
spot exchange rate to be used when there are foreign currency transactions in which the 
payment is made or received in advance. 

The interpretation clarifies that the transaction date is the earlier of:
the date on which the advance payment or down payment received are entered in the 

accounts of the entity; and the date on which the asset, cost or revenue (or part of the 
same) is entered in the accounts (with resulting reversal of the advance payment or down 
payment received).

If there are several advance payments or receipts, a transaction date must be identified 
for each of them. Ifric 22 is applicable from 1 January 2018, but earlier application is al-
lowed. At the moment, the directors are considering the possible impacts of these changes 
on the Group consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to Ias 40 – «Transfers of Investment Property» 
On 8 December 2016, the Iasb published the document “Transfers of Investment Prop-

erty” which contains amendments to Ias 40. These changes clarify the transfer of a prop-
erty to, or from, property investment. In particular, an entity must reclassify a property 
among, or from, property investments only when there is evidence that there has been a 
change of use of the property. This change must be attributed to a specific event that oc-
curred and must not therefore be limited to a change of intention on the part of the man-
agement of an entity. These changes will apply from 1 January 2018 but early application 
is allowed. 

At the moment, the directors are considering the possible impacts of these changes on 
the Group consolidated financial statements. 

 
Business Combinations and Goodwill  
Business combinations are accounted for according to the purchase method. This re-

quires the recognition at fair value of the identifiable assets (including intangible fixed 
assets previously not recognised) and identifiable liabilities (including potential liabilities 
and excluding future restructuring) of the business acquired. 

The goodwill acquired through a business combination is initially measured at cost, 
represented by the amount by which the cost of the business combination exceeds the 
share attributable to the Group of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and potential liabilities (of the business acquired). In order to analyse appropriateness, 
goodwill acquired in a merger is allocated at the date of acquisition, to the individual cash 
generating units of the Group or to groups of cash generating units, which should benefit 
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other Group assets or lia-
bilities are allocated to such units or groups of units.

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated:
› represents the lowest level, within the Group, at which the goodwill is monitored for 

internal management purposes; and
› is no larger than the business segments identified on the basis of the Group’s primary 

or secondary schedule of presentation of the segment reporting, determined on the 
basis of the indications of Ifrs 8 – «Operating Segments».
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When the goodwill represents part of a cash generating unit (or group of cash generat-
ing units) and part of the asset internal to that unit is transferred, the goodwill associated 
with the asset transferred is included in the carrying amount of the asset in order to de-
termine the profit or loss generated by the transfer. Goodwill transferred in such cases is 
calculated on the basis of the values relating to the asset transferred and of the portion of 
the unit maintained in existence.

When the transfer concerns a subsidiary, the difference between the selling price and 
the net assets plus the accumulated translation differences and goodwill is recognised in 
the income statement.

Acquisitions of additional equity interests after achieving control
Ias 27 Revised states that, once control of an entity has been obtained, transactions in 

which the controlling entity buys or sells further minority interests without affecting the 
control exercised over the subsidiary are transactions with owners and therefore must be 
recognised in shareholders’ equity. It follows that the carrying amount of the controlling 
and the minority interests must be adjusted to reflect the change in the equity investment 
in the subsidiary and any difference between the amount of the adjustment made to the 
minority interests and the fair value of the price paid or received in this transaction is 
recognised directly in shareholders’ equity and is attributed to the owners of the parent 
company. There will be no adjustments to the value of goodwill and profits or losses rec-
ognised in the income statement. Any ancillary expenses deriving from these transactions, 
moreover, must by recognised in shareholders’ equity in accordance with the provisions of 
Ias 32, paragraph 35.

Previously, in the absence of a specific Standard or Interpretation on the subject, in 
the case of acquisition of minority interests in companies already controlled, the Carraro 
Group had adopted the Parent Entity Extension Method, which involved recognition of 
the difference between the purchase price and the carrying amounts of assets and lia-
bilities under the item Goodwill. In the case of sale of minority interests without loss of 
control, instead, the Group recognised the difference between the carrying amount of the 
assets and liabilities sold and the sales price in the income statement.

The measurement criteria and accounting standards are illustrated below for the most 
significant items.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment items are recognised at their historical cost, less the 

related accumulated depreciation and cumulative impairment losses. This cost includes 
expenses for replacing parts of machinery and plant at the time they are incurred if this is 
in accordance with the recognition criteria. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis with reference to the estimated useful 
life of the assets. 

Property, plant and equipment items are derecognised at the time of sale or once future 
economic benefits are no longer expected from their use or disposal. Any losses or profits 
(calculated as the difference between the net income on the sale and the carrying amount) 
are recognised in the income statement during the year of elimination as above. 
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Assets held under finance leases, through which all the risks and benefits of ownership 
are transferred to the Group, are recognised as Group assets at their current value or, 

if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the financial statements under 

financial payables. Leases where the lessor substantially retains all the risks and benefits 
of ownership are classified as operating leases and the related costs are recognised in the 
income statement over the term of the contract. 

The asset’s residual value, its useful life and the methods applied are reviewed annually 
and adjusted if necessary, at the end of each accounting period. On average the useful life, 
in years, is as follows: 

Category Useful Life

Industrial Buildings 20–50

Plant 15–25

Machinery 15–18

Equipment 3–15

Dies and Models 5–8

Furniture and Fittings 15

Office Machines 5–10

Motor Vehicles 5–15

Real estate investments
Real estate investments are recognised at fair value and are not depreciated.

Intangible fixed assets
Intangible assets are recognised in the accounts only if they can be identified and 

checked, are expected to generate future economic benefits, and their cost can be reliably 
determined.

Intangible fixed assets with a limited life are carried at purchase or production cost net 
of amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated in relation to their anticipated useful life and starts when the 
asset becomes available for use.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the surplus of the purchase cost over the acquirer’s interest in the 

fair value (referred to the identifiable net values of the assets or liabilities of the entity 
acquired).

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost, less any cumulative impairment 
losses.

Goodwill is subject, at least once a year, to an impairment test, to identify any impair-
ment losses. In order to perform a correct fair value analysis, the goodwill is allocated to 
each of the units generating financial flows that will benefit from the effects deriving from 
the acquisition.
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Research and development costs
The costs of research are charged to the income statement when incurred, in accord-

ance with Ias 38.
Again in compliance with Ias 38, development costs relating to specific projects are 

recorded among the assets only if all the following conditions are fulfilled:
› the asset can be identified;
› the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available 

for use or sale exists;
› the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it exists;
› the ability to use or sell the intangible asset exists;
› the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 

development and to use or sell the intangible asset exists;
› it is likely that the asset created will generate future financial benefits;
› the costs of the development of the asset can be reliably measured.
Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.

Licences, trademarks and similar rights
Trademarks and licences are stated at cost, net of amortisation and accumulated im-

pairment losses. 
The cost is amortised over the shorter of the duration of the contract and the limited 

useful life.

Software
The cost of software licences, inclusive of ancillary expenses, is capitalised and recog-

nised net of amortisation and of any accumulated impairment losses. 
Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives.

Impairment losses
Where there are specific signs of impairment, tangible and intangible fixed assets are 

subject to an impairment test, estimating the recoverable value of the assets and compar-
ing it with their net carrying amount. The recoverable value is the greater of the fair value 
of an asset net of selling costs and its value in use, which is determined as the present 
value of the cash flows that the company estimates will derive from the continuous use of 
the asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

This recoverable value is determined for each individual asset except when the asset 
does not generate cash flows which are fully dependent on those generated by other assets.

If the recoverable value is lower than the carrying amount, the latter is reduced accord-
ingly. This reduction represents an impairment loss, which is recognised in the income 
statement.

If there is no longer any reason for an impairment loss previously recognised to be 
maintained, with the exception of goodwill and of intangible assets with an unlimited 
useful life, the carrying amount is reinstated to the new value deriving from the estimate, 
provided that this value does not exceed the net carrying amount which the asset would 
have had, if no impairment had ever been made and net of amortisation that would have 
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accumulated. The value written back is also recorded in the income statement.
Impairment tests are carried out annually in the case of goodwill and of intangible fixed 

assets with an unlimited useful life.
Impairment tests are also carried out on all assets with independent flows that show 

evidence of impairment.

Equity investments in associated companies
An associated company is an entity over which the Group is able to exercise significant 

influence, but does not have control or joint control, via the equity investment, over the 
financial and operating policies of the subsidiary.

The income, expenses, assets and liabilities of associated companies are shown in the 
consolidated financial statements using the net equity method, with the exception of cases 
that are classified as held for sale.

Equity investments in other companies and other securities
In accordance with the provisions of the standards Ias 39 and 32, equity investments 

in companies other than subsidiaries and associates are classified as financial assets avail-
able for sale and are carried at fair value except in cases where it is not possible to deter-
mine the market price or the fair value: in this case the cost method is used.

Profits and losses deriving from value adjustments are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve.

In the presence of permanent impairment losses or in the event of a sale, profits and 
losses recognised up to that moment in shareholders’ equity are recognised in the income 
statement.

Financial assets
Ias 39 envisages the following types of financial instruments: financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, investments held to maturity and as-
sets available for sale. Initially, all financial assets are recognised at fair value, increased, 
in the case of assets other than those at fair value through profit or loss, by any ancillary 
expenses. The Group establishes the classification of its financial assets after initial regis-
tration and, where appropriate and permitted, revises the classification at the end of each 
financial year.

All standardised (regular way) purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised at 
the trade date, or at the date on which the Group undertakes to acquire the asset. Stand-
ardised purchases and sales means all purchase/sale transactions on financial assets which 
require the handing over of the assets in the period generally envisaged by the regulations 
and by the practices of the market on which the trade occurs.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises financial assets held for trading, that is, all assets acquired for 

the purpose of sale in the short term. Derivatives are classified as financial instruments 
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments, in which case 
their accounting treatment is described in the paragraph “Derivative financial instru-
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ments and hedging transactions”, below. Profits or losses on assets held for trading are 
recorded in the income statement.

Investments held to maturity
Financial assets which are not derivative instruments and which are characterised by 

payments with fixed or determinable maturities are classified as “investments held to ma-
turity” when the Group has the intention and the capacity to maintain them in the port-
folio until maturity. Financial assets that the Group decides to keep in the portfolio for an 
indefinite period do not fall within this category. Other long-term financial investments 
which are held to maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured using the amortised 
cost method. This cost is calculated as the value initially recognised, less the repayment of 
the principal, plus or minus the amortisation accumulated using the effective interest rate 
method on any difference between the value initially recognised and the amount at matu-
rity. This calculation includes all the fees or points paid between the parties, which form 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, the transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts. For investments measured at their amortised cost, profits and losses are recog-
nised in the income statement at the moment in which the investment is derecognised or 
in the event of an impairment loss, as well as by means of the amortisation process.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments which are not quoted on an active market. These assets are stated on the basis 
of amortised cost using the effective discount rate method. Profits and losses are recog-
nised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or on the 
occurrence of impairment losses, as well as by means of the amortisation process.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets, excluding derivative instruments, 

which are designated as such or not classified in any of the other three previous catego-
ries. After initial recognition at cost, financial assets held for sale are carried at fair value 
and profits and losses are recorded in a separate shareholders’ equity item until the assets 
have been derecognised or until it is ascertained that they have suffered an impairment 
loss. Profits and losses accumulated up to that moment in shareholders’ equity are then 
charged to the income statement. 

In the case of securities widely traded on regulated markets, the fair value is determined 
by making reference to the stock market price struck at the end of trading on the reporting 
date. For investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined using val-
uation techniques based on prices of recent transactions between unrelated parties; the 
current market value of a substantially similar instrument; discounted cash flow analysis; 
option pricing models.
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, if applicable, part of a financial asset or parts of a group of similar 

financial assets) is derecognised when:
› the right to receive the cash flows from the asset has expired;
› the Company maintains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has un-

dertaken a contractual commitment to pay them in full and without delay to a third 
party;  

› the Group has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from the asset and (a) has 
essentially transferred all the risks and benefits of the ownership of the financial asset 
or (b) has not transferred or essentially withheld all the risks and benefits of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the same.

In cases where the Group has transferred the rights to receive cash flows from an asset 
and has not essentially transferred or withheld all the risks and benefits or has not lost 
control over the same, the asset is recorded in the Group’s financial statements to the 
extent of the latter’s residual involvement in this asset. The residual involvement, which 
takes the form of a guarantee on the asset transferred, is measured at the lower of the 
initial carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount which the Group could be 
obliged to pay. 

In cases where the residual involvement takes the form of an option issued and/or ac-
quired on the asset transferred (including options settled in cash or similar), the extent 
of the Group’s involvement corresponds to the amount of the asset transferred which the 
company could re-acquire; however, in the case of a put option issued on an asset meas-
ured at fair value (including options settled in cash or by means of similar provisions), the 
extent of the Group’s residual involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the 
asset transferred and the exercise price of the option.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the underlying obligation is discharged, can-

celled or fulfilled.
In cases where an existing financial liability is replaced by another of the same lender, 

under essentially different conditions, or the conditions of an existing liability are essen-
tially changed, this change or amendment is treated as derecognition of the original lia-
bility and recognition of a new liability. Any difference between the carrying amounts are 
recognised in the income statement.

Impairment losses on financial assets
The Group assesses whether a financial asset or group of financial assets has undergone 

a loss in value at the end of each accounting period.  

Assets measured on the basis of amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that a loan or receivable recognised at amortised cost has 

suffered an impairment loss, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
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the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future receivable losses not yet incurred) discounted at the original effective 
interest rate of the financial asset (that is the effective interest rate calculated at the date of 
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced both directly and by set-
ting aside provisions. The amount of the loss will be recognised in the income statement.

The Group assesses first of all the existence of objective evidence of impairment at the 
individual level. In the absence of objective evidence of an impairment loss for a financial 
asset measured individually, whether significant or otherwise, this asset is included in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk features and the group is subject to as-
sessment for impairment losses in a collective manner. Assets assessed at the individual 
level, for which an impairment loss is seen or continues to be seen, will not be included in 
collective valuation.

If, in a subsequent accounting period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases and 
this reduction can objectively be traced back to an event which took place after the im-
pairment loss was recognised, the value previously written down is reinstated. Any sub-
sequent write-backs are recognised in the income statement, provided that the carrying 
amount of the asset does not exceed the amortised cost at the date of the reversal.

Assets recognised at cost  
If objective evidence exists of the loss in value of an unlisted instrument representing 

equity which is not recognised at fair value because its value cannot be measured reliably, 
or of a derivative instrument which is linked to this equity instrument and must be settled 
by means of the consignment of the instrument, the amount of the impairment loss is 
given as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of 
the expected future cash flows and discounted at the current market rate of return for a 
similar financial asset.

Available-for-sale financial assets 
In the event of an impairment loss of an available-for-sale financial asset, a value equal 

to the difference between its cost (net of repayment of the principal and amortisation) 
and its current fair value, net of any losses in value previously recognised in the income 
statement, is transferred from the statement of comprehensive income to the income 
statement. Writebacks relating to equity instruments classified as available for sale are 
not recognised in the income statement. Writebacks relating to debt instruments are rec-
ognised in the income statement if the increase in the fair value of the instrument can be 
objectively traced back to an event which took place after the loss was recognised in the 
income statement.

 
Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of the average purchase or production cost for 

the period, and market value. Production cost includes materials, labour and direct and 
indirect manufacturing costs. Obsolete or slow-moving stocks are written down appropri-
ately, as well as in consideration of their anticipated future use and their realisation value.
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Works in progress to order
Works in progress are recognised based on the progress method (or percentage of com-

pletion) according to which costs, revenues and the margin are recognised based on the 
progress of production activities. The Group adopts the percentage of completion meth-
od. Job order revenues include sums paid under the contract, sums for changes in works 
and price revisions. Job order costs include all costs that refer directly to the job order, 
costs which may be attributable to job order activities in general and that may be allocated 
to the job order, in addition to any other cost that may be specifically charged to the client 
based on contract clauses.

If a loss is expected from completion of a job order, this is entirely recognised in the year 
in which it is reasonably foreseeable.  

Trade receivables and other receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are included among current assets, with the 

exception of those falling due more than 12 months after the reporting date, which are 
classified as non-current assets. These assets are valued at amortised cost on the basis of 
the effective interest rate method. 

Receivables which mature at more than one year, are interest-free or that earn less in-
terest than the market, are discounted using market rates. Trade receivables are discount-
ed when they have longer payment terms than the average term of extension granted. 

If there is objective evidence of elements indicating an impairment loss, the asset is 
reduced by an amount that returns the discounted value of the cash flows obtainable in 
the future. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Where reasons for 
previous writedowns are not maintained into subsequent trading periods, the value of the 
asset is reinstated until it corresponds to the value that would have derived from applica-
tion of the amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash deposits and investments 

maturing within three months of the original date of acquisition.

Loans and bonds
Loans are initially recognised at the fair value of the price received net of the related 

loan acquisition costs. After initial recognition, loans are carried on the basis of their am-
ortised cost calculated by means of the application of the effective interest rate. The amor-
tised cost is calculated taking into account the issue costs and any discounts or premium 
provided for at the time of settlement.

Allowances and provisions
Provisions for risks and liabilities
Provisions for risks and liabilities are made when the Group must meet a current legal 

or implicit obligation deriving from a past event, a sacrifice of resources is likely in order 
to deal with this obligation and it is possible to make a reliable estimate of its amount. 
When the Group considers that a provision for risks and liabilities will be partly or fully 
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reimbursed, for example in the case of risks covered by insurance policies, the indemnity 
is recognised separately among the assets if, and only if, it is practically certain. In this 
case, the cost of the possible related provisions, net of the amount recognised for the in-
demnity, is presented in the income statement. If the effect of discounting to the present 
the value of the money is significant, the provisions are discounted back using a pre-tax 
discount rate which reflects, where appropriate, the specific risks of the liabilities. When 
the discounting is carried out, the increase of the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a financial expense.

Employee and similar benefits
According to Ias 19, employee benefits to be paid out subsequent to the termination of 

the employment relationship and other long-term benefits (including the Provision for 
severance indemnity) are subjected to actuarial valuations which have to take into ac-
count a series of variables (such as mortality, the provisions of future salary changes, the 
anticipated rate of inflation, etc.).

Following this method, the liability recognised represents the current value of the obli-
gation, net of any plan assets, adjusted for any actuarial losses or profits not accounted for.

As provided for by Ias 19 Revised, actuarial gains and losses were recognised directly in 
the income statement, without using the corridor approach.

Following the adoption of Ias 19 Revised, actuarial gains/losses are no longer directly 
recognised in the income statement, but are directly recognised in a reserve of sharehold-
ers’ equity with immediate recognition in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The 
item Interest cost is classified under Financial income/expenses and no longer under the 
item Personnel Costs.

Recognition of revenues and other positive income components
Sales of goods are recognised when the goods are shipped and the company has trans-

ferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards associated with ownership of the 
goods.

Revenues for services are recognised with reference to the stage of completion.
Interest income is recognised in accordance with the accruals concept, on the basis of 

the amount financed and the effective interest rate applicable, which represents the rate 
that discounts future collections estimated over the expected life of the financial asset so 
as to take them back to the carrying amount of the asset itself.

Revenues from dividends are recorded when the right to collection arises, which nor-
mally corresponds to the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting approving distribution 
of the dividends. Dividends to shareholders are recognised as payable at the time of the 
distribution resolution.

Public grants
Public grants are recognised when reasonable certainty exists that they will be received 

and all the related conditions are satisfied. When the grants are associated with cost ele-
ments, they are recorded as revenues, but they are systematically spread over the account-
ing periods so that they are commensurate with the costs they are intended to offset. If 
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the grant is linked to an asset, the fair value is suspended in long-term liabilities and the 
release to the income statement takes place progressively over the expected useful life of 
the asset concerned on a straight-line basis.

Taxes
Taxation for the year represents the sum total of the current and deferred income taxes.

Current taxes
Current income taxes have been provided for on the basis of an estimate of the taxable 

income for the consolidated companies, in accordance with the provisions issued or es-
sentially issued at the reporting date and taking any applicable exemptions into account.

Deferred taxes
Deferred taxes are determined on the basis of the taxable temporary differences exist-

ing between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their value for tax purposes; 
they are classified under non-current assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets are provided for only to the extent that future tax burdens will prob-
ably exist, against which this asset balance can be used.

The value of deferred tax assets which can be recognised is subject to an annual as-
sessment and is written down to the extent that it is not likely that sufficient income for 
tax purposes will be available in the future so as to permit all or part of this credit to be 
used. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed annually at the reporting date and 
are recognised to the extent that it has become likely that income for tax purposes will be 
sufficient to permit these deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined with reference to the tax rates which 
are expected to be applied in the period in which these deferments will be realised, taking 
into account the rates in force or those which it is known will be subsequently issued.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legal right exists to offset the current 
tax assets with current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes refer to the same fiscal entity 
and the same tax authority.

Value added tax
Revenues, costs, assets and liabilities are recognised net of value added tax, except 

when: 
› the tax applied to the purchase of goods or services is non-deductible, in which case 

it is recognised as part of the purchase cost of the asset or part of the cost item recog-
nised in the income statement; 

› it refers to trade receivables and payables recorded including the value of the tax.

Earnings (losses) per share
Basic earnings (losses) per share are calculated by dividing the net profit (net loss) for 

the period attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding in the period.

Diluted earnings (losses) per share are obtained by means of adjustment of the weight-
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ed average of outstanding shares, so as to take into account all the potential ordinary 
shares with diluting effects.

Translation of foreign currency balances
Functional currency
The companies of the Group provide their financial statements in the currency used in 

the individual country.
The Group’s functional currency is the Euros, which represents the currency in which 

the separate financial statements are drawn up and published.

Accounting transactions and entries
Transactions carried out in a foreign currency are initially recognised using the ex-

change rates at the transaction date.
At the reporting date, the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign cur-

rency are re-translated on the basis of the exchange rate in force at that date.
Non-monetary foreign currency items measured at historical cost are translated using 

the exchange rate in force at the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary items recognised at fair value are translated using the exchange rate in 

force at the date of determination of the value.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging transactions
The Company’s financial risk management strategy conforms to the company objec-

tives set out in the policies approved by the Board of Directors of Carraro Spa. In particu-
lar, it aims to minimise interest rate and exchange rate risk and optimise the cost of debt.

These risks are managed in accordance with the principles of prudence and market best 
practices and all risk management transactions are centrally managed.

The main objectives indicated by the policy are as follows:

Exchange-rate risks
› to hedge all commercial and financial transactions against the risk of fluctuation;
› to apply the “currency balancing” method of hedging the risk, where possible, favour-

ing the offsetting of revenues and expenses and payables and receivables in foreign 
currencies in order to engage in hedging solely for the excess balance not offset;

› not to permit the use and ownership of derivatives or similar instruments for mere 
trading purposes;

› to permit only the use of instruments traded on regulated markets for hedging trans-
actions.

Interest-rate risks
› to hedge financial assets and liabilities against the risk of changes in interest rates;
› in hedging against risk, to comply with the general criteria for balancing lending and 

borrowing set at the Group level by the Board of Directors of Carraro Spa when it 
approves long-term plans and budgets (fixed and floating interest rates, proportions 
at short-term and medium/long-term);
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› to permit only the use of instruments traded on regulated markets for hedging trans-
actions.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as currency futures contracts and 
interest rate swaps to hedge the risks deriving mainly from fluctuations in interest and 
exchange rates. These derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair 
value at the date they were entered into; this fair value is periodically reviewed. They are 
accounted for as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative.

Any profits or losses emerging from the changes in the fair value of derivatives not 
eligible for hedge accounting are charged directly to the income statement during the 
accounting period.

The fair value of currency futures contracts is determined with reference to the current 
forward exchange rates for contracts with a similar maturity profile. The fair value of in-
terest rate swap agreements is determined with reference to the market value for similar 
instruments.

For hedge accounting purposes, hedges are classified as: 
› fair value hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the fair value of an underlying 

asset or liability;
› cash flow hedges, if they hedge the risk of change in the cash flows deriving from ex-

isting assets and liabilities or from future transactions;  
› hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges).

A transaction hedging the exchange-rate risk relating to an irrevocable commitment is 
accounted for as a cash flow hedge.

When implementing a hedging transaction, the Group formally designates and docu-
ments the hedging relationship to which it is intended to apply the hedge accounting, its 
risk management objectives and the strategy pursued. The documentation identifies the 
hedging instrument, the element or transaction subject to the hedge, the nature of the risk 
and the methods by means of which the entity intends to assess the effectiveness of the 
hedge in offsetting exposure to changes in the fair value of the element hedged or the cash 
flows attributable to the hedged risk. 

These hedges are expected to be highly effective in offsetting exposure of the element 
hedged to changes in the fair value or in the cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
The assessment of whether these changes have effectively shown themselves to be highly 
effective is carried out on an ongoing basis during the accounting periods in which they 
were designated.

Transactions which meet the criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges
The Group may use fair value hedging transactions against exposure to changes in the 

fair value of accounting assets and liabilities or of an off-balance sheet irrevocable com-
mitment, as well as an identified part of the said assets, liabilities or irrevocable commit-
ments, attributable to a particular risk, which could have an impact on the income state-
ment. As far as fair value hedges are concerned, the carrying amount of the element being 
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hedged is adjusted to reflect the profits and losses attributable to the risk subject to the 
hedge, the derivative instrument is re-determined at fair value and the profits and losses 
of both are booked to the income statement.

With regard to fair value hedges referring to elements recognised on the basis of amor-
tised cost, the adjustment of the carrying amount is amortised in the income statement 
over the period remaining until maturity. Any adjustments to the carrying amount of the 
hedged financial instrument to which the effective interest rate method is applied are am-
ortised in the income statement.

The amortisation can start as soon as an adjustment exists but not after the date when 
the hedged element ceases to be adjusted due to the changes in its fair value attributable 
to the hedged risk.

When an unrecognised irrevocable commitment is designated as a hedged item, subse-
quent cumulative changes in its fair value attributable to the hedged risk are recognised 
as assets or liabilities and the corresponding profits and losses are recognised in the in-
come statement. Changes in the fair value of a hedging instrument are also booked to the 
income statement. 

An instrument is no longer recognised as a fair value hedge when it matures or is sold, 
discharged or exercised, when the hedge no longer meets the requirements for hedge ac-
counting purposes, or when the Group revokes its designation. Any adjustments to the 
carrying amount of the hedged financial instrument to which the effective interest rate 
method is applied are amortised in the income statement. The amortisation can start as 
soon as an adjustment exists but not after the date when the hedged element ceases to be 
adjusted due to changes in its fair value attributable to the hedged risk.

 
Cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedges are transactions hedging the risk of fluctuations in cash flows attrib-

utable to a specific risk, associated with a recognised asset or liability or with a highly 
likely future transaction which could influence the financial outcome. Profits or losses 
deriving from the hedging instrument are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve for the efficient part, 
while the remaining (inefficient) portion is recognised in the income statement. 

The profit or loss booked to shareholders’ equity is reclassified in the income statement 
during the period when the transaction being hedged influences the income statement 
(for example, when the financial income or expense is recognised or when an anticipated 
sale or purchase takes place). When the element being hedged is the cost of a non-finan-
cial asset or liability, the amounts recognised in shareholders’ equity are transferred at the 
initial carrying amount of the asset or liability.

If the transaction is no longer expected to take place, the amounts initially accumulated 
in shareholders’ equity are transferred to the income statement. If the hedging instrument 
matures or is sold, cancelled or exercised without being replaced, or if its designation as 
a hedge is revoked, the amounts previously accumulated in shareholders’ equity remain 
recognised therein until the expected transaction takes place. If it is believed that this will 
no longer happen, the amounts are transferred to the income statement.



Annual Report 2016144 – 145

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including hedges of a monetary item 

recognised as part of a net investment, are recognised on a similar basis to cash flow hedg-
es. Profits or losses deriving from the hedging instrument are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve for 
the efficient part of the hedge, while for the remaining (inefficient) portion they are rec-
ognised in the income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative 
value of these profits or losses booked to shareholders’ equity is transferred to the income 
statement.  

Credit risk  
The Group includes among its customers leading international manufacturers of agri-

cultural machinery, construction equipment vehicles, industrial vehicles and light power 
tools as well as renewable energy producers, and designers and installers of photovoltaic 
systems. The risk concentration is associated with the size of these customers, which on a 
global context is on average high, yet balanced by the fact that credit exposure is distrib-
uted across a complex network of counterparties active in several geographic segments. 

The management of credit is designed to prioritise the acquisition of customers of na-
tional and international standing for multi-annual supplies; on this basis consolidated 
historical relationships have been built up with the main customers. Generally speaking, 
these relationships are governed by ad hoc supply contracts. Credit control requires peri-
odic monitoring of the main financial and economic data (including the delivery sched-
ules) relating to each customer.

Except in special circumstances to do with country or counterparty risk, guarantees are 
not normally obtained on credit.

Receivables are recognised in the accounts net of any write-downs determined by as-
sessing the counterparty’s risk of insolvency based on the information available.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s liquidity risk is mainly linked to the activation and maintenance of suffi-

cient funding to support industrial operations. 
The raising of funds, consistent with the Group’s short- and medium-term develop-

ment plans, is intended to finance both the working capital and investments in fixed as-
sets necessary to ensure sufficient and technologically advanced production capacity. This 
requirement is directly proportional to the trend in customer orders and the consequent 
trend in business volumes.

The cash flows envisaged for 2017 include, besides the trend in working capital and 
investments, the effects of current liabilities and the short-term portions of medium- and 
long-term loans reaching maturity, as well as the effects (assuming the same rates of ex-
change with compared to 31.12.2016) of the closure of derivative financial instruments on 
currencies in existence at the reporting date.

The Group envisages meeting the needs arising from all of the above with the flows 
deriving from operations, available liquidity and the availability of additional credit facil-
ities.
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In 2017, the Group expects to be able to generate financial resources through its opera-
tions such as to ensure adequate support for investments. 

The management of liquidity, funding requirements and cash flows are under the direct 
control and management of the Group Treasury, which operates with the aim of managing 
the resources available as efficiently as possible.

Uncertainties of financial markets have had an effect on the borrowing of banks and 
as a consequence on credit granted to businesses. This instability could also continue in 
2016, preventing the normal execution of financial transactions. 

Lastly, regardless of the fact that the Group has continued refinancing its debts with 
the support of its banking counterparties and the financial markets, the situation could 
arise of having to seek additional financing in less favourable market conditions, with the 
limited availability of such sources and an increase in financial expenses.

The maturity features of the Group’s liabilities and assets are shown in notes 10 and 16 
relating respectively to non-current financial receivables and non-current financial paya-
bles. The maturity features of derivative financial instruments are described in paragraph 
9.2.

Exchange-rate risk and interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks by virtue of the fact that a significant por-

tion of sales and some of the purchases are made in currencies other than the Group’s 
functional currency, with trade transactions carried out by companies in the Euros area 
with counterparties that do not belong to the Euros area and vice versa.

Another aspect of exchange rate risk is the fact that several Group companies present 
their financial statements in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency.

Exposure to exchange rate risk with reference to each entity is regularly monitored by 
the Group Treasury according to a strategy which focuses, in particular, on the balance be-
tween purchases and sales in foreign currency and activating, for the remaining non-bal-
anced portion and according to the criteria set by the company policy in terms of the man-
agement of financial risks, appropriate initiatives to hedge or reduce the risks identified, 
using the instruments available on the market.

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk in relation to financial liabilities under-
taken for loans for both ordinary operations and investments. Changes in interest rates 
may have positive or negative effects on both the financial outcome and on cash flows.

The strategy adopted pursues the basic objective of achieving a balance between float-
ing-rate and fixed-rate debt. The interest rate risk on the floating portion is then reduced 
via specific hedging operations.

Intra-group transactions
As regards related-party transactions, including intra-group transactions, said trans-

actions cannot be qualified as atypical or unusual, and are part or the normal operations 
of Group companies. Said transactions take place in market conditions, considering the 
characteristics of the goods and services provided.

Information on related-party transactions, including the information required by Con-
sob Communication of 28 July 2006, is given in section 8.



Annual Report 2016146 – 147

4.	Reporting	by	business	and	geographic	segment

Information on Operating Segments is given on the basis of internal reporting provided 
as at 31 December 2016 to the highest operating decision-making level. 

For operational purposes, the group manages and controls its business on the basis of 
the type of products supplied.

As previously highlighted, in November 2016, control of the Santerno Business Area 
was sold, the results of which were therefore recognised in the financial statements using 
the line-by-line consolidation method up to that date while subsequently it was consoli-
dated with the equity method.

Following this extraordinary operation, the Carraro Group as at 31.12.2016 was organ-
ised in the following Business Areas:

› Carraro Drive Tech (Transmission systems and components): specialised in the design, 
manufacture and sale of transmission systems (axles, transmissions and planetary 
drives) mainly for agricultural and construction equipment, and also markets a wide 
range of components and gears for very diverse sectors, from the automotive industry 
to light power tools, material handling, agricultural applications and construction 
equipment;

› Carraro Divisione Agritalia (Vehicles): designs and manufactures special tractors (from 
60 to 100 hp) for third-party brands;

› Elettronica Santerno (Power electronics) designs, develops, manufactures and markets 
inverters (electronic power converters) mainly for the photovoltaic industry and in-
dustrial automation (Hvac, water treatment, lifting systems and large-scale transport).  

The item “other segments” brings together the Groups operations not allocated to the 
three operating segments, and comprises the central holding and management activities 
of the Group.

The Management examines separately the results achieved by the operating segments 
in order to take decisions on the allocation of resources and on assessment of the results.

4.1	 Business	segments

The most significant information by business segment is presented in the tables below, 
with comparisons between financial years 2016 and 2015.

A. Economic data

2016 Drive Tech Agritalia Elettronica 
Santerno *

Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total  

Revenues from sales  461,797  119,756  36,153 –23,959  593,747  

Sales to third parties  439,637  115,081  36,150  56  590,924 

Related sales  2,559  –  –  264  2,823 

Sales between divisions   19,601  4,675  3 –24,279  - 
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2016 Drive Tech Agritalia Elettronica 
Santerno *

Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total  

Operating costs  440,660  113,556  46,618 -18,846  581,988 

Purchases of goods and materials  266,992  79,057  15,858 -22,290  339,617 

Services  70,322  14,903  7,095 2,222  94,542 

Use of third-party goods and services  17,104  -  346 -15,542  1,908 

Personnel costs  66,242  11,890  6,865  12,874  97,871 

Amortisation, depreciation  
and impairment of assets

 16,646  1,645  7,066  2,561  27,918 

Changes in inventories  2,138  6,157  9,263 -109  17,449 

Provisions for risks  6,094  1,601  713  1,898  10,306 

Other income and expenses -4,533 -101 -85 1,280 -3,439 

Internal construction -345 -1,596 -503 -1,740 -4,184 

Operating profit/(loss)  21,137  6,200 -10,465 -5,113  11,759 

* Values referring to line-by-line consolidation until 30 November 2016.

2015 Drive Tech Agritalia Elettronica 
Santerno

Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Revenues from sales  543,676  120,429  35,157 –25,252  674,010 

Sales to third parties  522,627  116,192  35,146  45  674,010 

Sales between divisions  21,049  4,237  11 –25,297  – 

Operating costs  525,542  114,147  58,839 –24,849  673,679 

Purchases of goods and materials  300,720  83,363  26,911 –21,175  389,819 

Services  83,690  12,982  10,950 –2,531  105,091 

Use of third-party goods and services  19,967  –  390 –15,758  4,599 

Personnel costs  90,800   11,934  8,414  13,915  125,063 

Amortisation, depreciation  
and impairment of assets

 23,356  1,656  20,569  3,327  48,908 

Changes in inventories 16,576  3,900  –8,948  –172 11,356  

Provisions for risks  6,495  1,418  1,925  1,748  11,586 

Other income and expenses –15,719  –64 –587 –1,388 –17,758 

Internal construction –343  –1,042 –785 –2,815 –4,985 

Operating profit/(loss)  18,134  6,282 –23,682 –403  331 

B. Other information

2016 Drive Tech Agritalia Elettronica 
Santerno

Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Non-current assets  185,951  15,365  –  65,854  267,170 

Current assets  186,767  20,546  –  11,732  219,045 

Shareholders’ equity  121,736  –1,956  – –73,051  46,729 

Non-current liabilities  56,470  1,433  –  120,051  177,954 

Current liabilities  194,512  36,434  – 30,586  261,532 
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2015 Drive Tech Agritalia Elettronica 
Santerno

Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Non-current assets  205,729  15,325  16,980  55,491  293,525 

Current assets  207,286  22,880  32,179  24,154  286,499 

Shareholders’ equity  130,799  –8,408  5,198 –96,566  31,023 

Non-current liabilities  59,528  1,212  673  137,795  199,208

Current liabilities  222,688  45,401  43,288 38,416  349,793 

C. Other information
 

2016 Drive Tech Agritalia Elettronica 
Santerno *

Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Investments (Euros/000)  10,238  1,809  573  3,395  16,015 

Workforce as at 31.12  2,589  233  – 157 2,979 

* Values referring to line-by-line consolidation until 30 November 2016

2015 Drive Tech Agritalia Elettronica 
Santerno

Eliminations 
and items  

not allocated

Consolidated 
Total

Investments (Euros/000)  16,892  1,278  1,074  6,170  25,414 

Workforce as at 31.12  2,739  227  141 169 3,276 

4.2	 Geographic	segments

The Group’s industrial operations are located in various areas of the world: Italy, other 
European countries, North and South America, Asia and other non-European countries.

The Group’s sales, deriving from the manufacturing carried out in the above areas are 
achieved equally with customers in Europe, Asia and the Americas.

The most significant information by geographic segment is presented in the tables be-
low.

A. Sales
The breakdown of sales by main geographic area is shown in the following table.

31.12.2016 % 31.12.2015 %

India  65,014  11.00  52,669  7.81 

Germany  59,796  10.12  72,767  10.80 

North America  56,828  9.62  81,755  12.13 

South America  47,937  8.11  71,099  10.55 

Turkey  47,733  8.08  48,095  7.14 

Switzerland  39,981  6.77  49,620  7.36 

France  38,253  6.47  39,422  5.85 
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31.12.2016 % 31.12.2015 %

United Kingdom  36,077  6.11  42,542  6.31 

China  20,327  3.44  23,338  3.46 

South Africa  18,300  3.10  11,832  1.76 

Spain  14,186  2.40  9,307  1.38 

Poland  5,523  0.93  12,290  1.82 

Other E.U. areas  29,846  5.05  35,466  5.26 

Other non-E.U. areas  16,986  2.87  21,815  3.24 

Total abroad  496,787  84.07  572,017  84.87 

Italy  94,137  15.93  101,993  15.13 

Total  590,924  100.00  674,010  100.00 

of which:     

Total E.U. area  277,818  47.01  313,787  46.56 

Total non-E.U. area  313,106  52.99  360,223  53.44 

B. Carrying amount of assets by area
The following table illustrates the book values of current and non-current assets ac-

cording to the primary geographic areas of manufacture.

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Current assets Non-current assets Current assets Non-current assets

Italy  176,143  391,078  188,188  389,403 

Other E.U. countries  
(Germany, Poland)

 57,133  117,221  167,799  76,361 

North America  618  58  553  85 

South America  24,433  10,329  29,066  13,761 

Asia (India, China)  84,597  57,056  93,204  68,266 

Non-E.U. countries  3,708  29  13,988  28 

Eliminations and items not allocated –127,587 –308,601 –206,299 –254,379 

Total  219,045  267,170  286,499  293,525 

C. Investments by geographic segment
The table below illustrates the value of investments in the primary geographic areas of 

manufacture.

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Italy  14,915  16,634 

Other E.U. countries  –  4,667 

North America  –  – 

South America  520  1,363 

Asia  4,300  3,943 

Non-E.U. countries  –  37 

Eliminations and items not allocated –3,720 –1,230 

Total  16,015  25,414 
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5.	Non-recurring	operations

At 31 December 2016, the following non-recurring operations were present: The San-
terno goodwill impairment charge of 5.2 million Euros, which was necessitated following 
transfer of control on 30 November 2016, the Group’s restructuring costs totalling 4.3 
million Euros, mainly related to personnel downsizing in Argentina and the write-down 
resulting form the impairment of a Research and Development project in Carraro Spa of 
1.2 million Euros.

31.12.2016 Personnel 
costs

Provisions
for 

impairment

Provisions 
for risks 

and
liabilities

Other 
income and 

expenses

Ebit Before 
Tax

Taxes Net

Carraro Spa  –  –  –  1,181  1,181  1,181  –371  810 

Elettronica Santerno Spa  -  5,213  –  -  5,213 5,213  –806 4,407 

Eletronica Santerno  
Industria e Comercio 
Ltda

 49  -  –  -  49  49  -  49 

Carraro China  –15  -  -  -  –15 -15  -  -15 

Carraro Argentina Sa  274  -  3,998 -  4,272  4,272  - 4,272 

Total  308  5,213  3,998 1,181 10,700  10,700 –1,177 9,523 

6.	Notes	and	comments

Ricavi e costi

A. Revenues from sales  (note 1)
Analysis by business and geographic segment
Reference is made to the information in section 4 above, and to the Directors’ Report 

on Operations.

B. Operating costs (note 2)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Purchases of raw materials  329,519  375,419 

Returns of raw materials -50 -386 

a) purchases  329,469  375,033 

Miscellaneous consumables  151  3,310 

Consumable tools  4,261  5,256 

Maintenance material  2,483  3,030 

Mat. and serv. for resale  4,852  4,180 

Rebates and discounts – suppliers -1,599 -990 
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31.12.2016 31.12.2015

b) other production costs  10,148  14,786 

1) Purchases of goods and materials  339,617  389,819 

a) external services for production  46,871  55,409 

b) sundry supplies  7,932  9,297 

c) general overheads  29,091  27,741 

d) commercial costs  1,445  1,170 

e) sales expenses  9,203  11,474 

2) Services  94,542  105,091 

3) Use of third-party goods and services  1,908  4,599 

a) wages and salaries  69,602  88,950 

b) social security contributions  18,205  23,730 

c) employee severance indemnity and pensions  4,698  6,157 

d) other costs  5,366  6,226 

4) Personnel costs  97,871  125,063 

a) deprec. prop., plant & equipment  17,700  21,117 

b) amort. intangible assets  3,854  4,952 

c) impairment of fixed assets  5,869  20,538 

d) impairment of receivables  495  2,301 

5) Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of assets  27,918  48,908 

a) changes in inventories of raw and ancillary materials and goods  14,669  8,068 

b) changes in inventories of work in prog. semi-fin. & fin. prods  2,780  3,288 

6) Changes in inventories  17,449  11,356 

a) warranty  5,104  5,240 

b) costs of legal claims  343  564 

c) renovation and conv.  3,998  4,310 

d) other provisions  861  1,472 

7) Provision for risks and other liabilities  10,306  11,586 

a) sundry income -5,466 -19,109 

b) grants -212 -336 

c) other operating expenses  1,808  2,744 

d) other non-ordinary operating income/expenses  431 -1,057 

8) Other Income and expenses -3,439 -17,758 

9) Internal Construction  -4,184  -4,985

The changes in the income statement are significantly affected by the change in the 
Scope of Consolidation of 2015 and 2016, in particular the exit of the subsidiary O&K 
Antriebstechnik Gmbh whose results until December 2015 were recognised as part of the 
various income statement items of the Carraro Group. For further details, please refer to 
the description in the Directors’ Report on Operations.
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C. Net income from financial assets (note 3)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

10 ) Income/expenses from equity investments -14  22,825 

a) from financial assets  -  11 

b) from bank current accounts and deposits  387  167 

c) from other cash equivalents  129  139 

d) income other than the above  1,684  3,448 

e) from fair value changes, interest rate derivatives  - -1 

11) Other financial income  2,200  3,764 

a) from financial liabilities -10,896 -12,687 

b) from bank current accounts and deposits -2,239 -6,435 

c) expenses other than the above  -509 -1,047 

d) from fair value changes, interest rate derivatives  - -13 

12) Financial costs and expenses -13,644 -20,182 

From net derivative transactions on exchange rates -2,523 -1,025 

From net changes in fair value of derivative transactions on exchange rates -56  -1,240 

Other net exchange rate differences 743 -2,206 

13) Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange -1,836 -4,471 

b) impairment -213 -

14) Adjustments of financial assets -213 -

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets -13,507 1,936

The decrease in net financial expenses, which decreased from 20.182 million Euros in 
the previous year to 13.644 million Euros in 2016, was mainly attributable to the reduc-
tion in the Euribor rate (the currency with the largest total weight on debt is the Euro), 
and reductions in Indian and Chinese rates. 

Exchange differences as at 31 December 2016 were negative, amounting to 1.836 mil-
lion Euros (-0.3% of turnover) compared to a negative value of 4.471 million Euros (-0.7% 
of turnover) as at 31 December 2015. 

For further details and analysis, see section 9.1 “General summary of the effects on the 
Income Statement deriving from financial instruments”.

Current and deferred income taxes (note 4)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Current taxes  3,864  5,471

Tax consolidation expense and income  2,108  – 

Taxes from previous years 1,004 2,259 

Deferred taxes 364 3,126 

Provision for tax risks relative to direct taxes  –  517 

15) Current and deferred income taxes  7,340  11,373 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0



Consolidated Financial Statements

The main changes refer to the exit during 2016 of Elettronica Santerno Spa from the tax 
consolidation, whose total taxable income is therefore positive in 2016, resulting in allo-
cation of tax consolidation charges (2.108 million Euros); to the deferred adjustment for 
the Ires tax rate reduction in the 2015 financial statements of 2.207 million Euros (zero 
in 2016), the impairment of receivables for foreign withholding of 0.977 million Euros in 
2015 compared to 0.362 million Euros in 2016 and to accruals for tax risks and charges 
resulting from the settlement of a tax dispute for a total of 2.210 million Euros in 2015 
(zero in 2016).

Current taxes
Tax on the income of Italian companies is calculated at 27.50%, for Ires (corporation 

tax), and at 3.90% for Irap (regional business tax) on the respective taxable income for 
the period. Taxes for the other foreign companies are calculated at the rates in force in the 
various countries.

Tax consolidation expense and income
Carraro Spa, Carraro Drive Tech Spa, Siap Spa and Carraro International Sa adhere 

to the tax consolidation area of the parent company Carraro Spa. The option is valid for 
the three years 2015-2017. The option was interrupted in 2016 with regard to Elettronica 
Santerno Spa as a result the loss of control, as previously described, which took place in 
November 2016. The charges/income deriving from the transfer of the Ires taxable base 
are booked under current taxes.

Deferred taxes
These are set aside on the temporary differences between the carrying amount of the 

assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax value. The provisions for taxation for the 
year can be reconciled with the result recorded in the financial statements as follows:

31.12.2016 % 31.12.2015 %

Earnings before tax -1,748  2,267  

Theoretical tax rate -549 31.40% 712 31.40%

Tax effects related to:   

Effect of non-deductible costs 3,772 -215.77% 10,883 480.07%

Untaxable income -3,663 209.56% -10,681 -471.13%

Unrecognised deferred taxes on tax losses 6,525 -373.30% -27 -1.17%

Other unrecognised deferred tax assets 1,305 -74.66% 3,384 149.27%

Change in deferred tax rate  - 0.00%  - -

Adjustment of deferred taxes of previous year -380 21.74% 1,219 53.77%

Use of previous tax losses -682 39.02% -67 -2.93%

Foreign companies rate difference -102 5.84% -142 -6.35%

Provisions for tax risks  - 0.00% 517 22.80%

Withheld at source 110 -6.29% 1,763 77.77%

Deferred tax adjustment Italian Law 208/2015  - 0.00% 2,207 97.35%

Taxes from previous years 1,004 -57.44% 1,605 70.80%

Taxation at effective rate 7,340 -419.90% 11,373 501.65%
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As well as taxes recognised in the income statement for the year, deferred tax liabilities 
of 0.06 million Euros were directly recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Earning (loss) per share (note 5)
Basic earnings (losses) per share are calculated by dividing the net earnings (net losses) 

for the year attributable to the company’s ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of outstanding ordinary shares during the year.

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Results

Earnings (Losses) for the purposes of calculating basic earnings per share –9,087 –8,915 

Diluting effect deriving from potential ordinary shares  –  – 

Earnings (Losses) for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share –9,087 –8,915 

Number of shares   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculating:

basic earnings (losses) per share 43,362,812 43,362,812

diluted earnings (losses) per share 43,362,812 43,362,812 

Basic earnings (losses) per share (Euros) –0,21 –0,21

Diluted earnings (losses) per share (Euros) –0,21 –0,21

Dividends
Carraro Spa did not pay dividends in 2016 and 2015.

Immobilizzazioni materiali (nota 6)
These items present a net balance of 150.85 million Euros compared with 163.83 mil-

lion Euros in the previous period. The breakdown is as follows:

Items Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other  
assets

Investments  
in progress  

and deposits

Total

Historical cost  77,350  189,575  109,985  17,715  9,771  404,396 

Provisions for amortisation  
and depreciations

–21,520 –103,512 –80,534 –13,427  – –218,993 

Net as at 31.12.2014  55,830  86,063  29,451  4,288  9,771  185,403 

Movements in 2015:

Increases  302  4,058  4,481  383  9,899  19,123 

Decreases –1,175 –184 –353 –40 –1,423 –3,175 

Capitalisation  929  2,768  1,827  – –5,524  – 

Change in consolidation scope  –292  –11,705  –1,329  –226 –2,479  –16,031 

Depreciation and amortisation –1,950 –10,448 –7,618 –1,101  – –21,117 

Reclassification  –118  2,100  989 139 –3,110  –

Impairment  –800 –1,130  –250 –  – –2,180

Foreign exchange translation 
difference

711 917 165 –37 49 1,805

Net as at 31.12.2015  53,437  72,439  27,363  3,406  7,183  163,828 
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Items Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other  
assets

Investments  
in progress  

and deposits

Total

Made up of:

Historical cost  77,319  179,857  107,713  16,649  7,183  388,721 

Provisions for amortisation  
and depreciations

–23,882 –107,418 –80,350 –13,243  – –224,893

Items Land and 
buildings

Plant and 
machinery

Industrial 
equipment

Other  
assets

Investments  
in progress  

and deposits

Total

Historical cost  77,319  179,857  107,713  16,649  7,183  388,721 

Provisions for amortisation  
and depreciations

–23,882 –107,418 –80,350 –13,243  – –224,893 

Net as at 31.12.2015  53,437  72,439  27,363  3,406  7,183  163,828 

Movements in 2016:

Increases  169  3,192  3,253  356  4,079  11,049 

Decreases –33  629 21 –48 –259 310 

Capitalisation  1,404  3,751  1,440  262 –6,857  – 

Change in consolidation scope  –445  –610  –2,409  –590 –  –4,054 

Depreciation and amortisation –1,514 –9,697 –5,719 –770  – –17,700 

Reclassification  –1,046  1,656  386 31 –1,027  –

Impairment  – –407   –7 – 116  – –530

Foreign exchange translation 
difference

–322 –1,635 –77 –17 –3 –2,054

Net as at 31.12.2016  51,650  69,318  24,251  2,514  3,116  150,849 

Made up of:

Historical cost  76,010  181,636   103,404  14,587  3,116  378,753 

Provisions for amortisation  
and depreciations

–24,360 –112,318 –79,153 –12,073  – –227,904

As at 31.12.2016, leased assets were registered under plant and machinery for 3.3 mil-
lion Euros.

The increase in land and buildings refers in particular to Carraro Spa, Carraro India 
Pvt. Ltd., Carraro Argentina Sa and Siap Spa.

The main investments in plant and machinery were made by Carraro Drive Tech Spa, 
Carraro India Pvt. Ltd. and Siap Spa.

The increases in industrial equipment refer mainly to purchases made by Carraro Drive 
Tech Spa, Carraro India Pvt. Ltd., Carraro Argentina Sa and Siap Spa..

The increases in other assets mainly refer to office equipment and vehicles purchased 
by Carraro Spa, Carraro Argentina Sa, Carraro China Drive Systems Ltd. and Carraro 
India Pvt. Ltd.. 

The increase in amounts relative to fixed assets in progress and deposits is primarily 
owing to investments currently under way at Carraro Drive Tech Spa, Carraro India Pvt. 
Ltd and Siap Spa.

The properties of Carraro Spa and Carraro India Pvt. Ltd have mortgage loans secured 
against them for a total of 29 million Euros. 
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Decrease and exchange difference values are highlighted by the net value of the histori-
cal cost and the accumulated amortisation and uses of the depreciation provision.

Intangible assets (note 7)
These items present a net balance of 61.1 million Euros compared with 70.7 million 

Euros in the previous period.
The breakdown is as follows:

Items Goodwill Develop.
costs

Royalties 
and 

patents

Licences and  
Trademarks

Invest. in 
prog. and 

deposits

Other 
intangible 

assets

Total

Historical cost  63,171  14,112  1,101  26,885  8,927  9  114,205 

Provisions 
for amortisation 
and depreciations

 – –7,792 –975 –14,099  – –4 –22,870 

Net as at 31.12.2014  63,171  6,320  126  12,786  8,927  5  91,335 

Movements in 2015:

Increases  –  –  55  944  5,292  –  6,291 

Decreases  –  –  – –433  –  – –433 

Capitalisation  
of internal costs

 –  1,820  –  484 –2,304  –  – 

Change  
in consolidation scope

–3,000  –  – –163  – –3 –3,166 

Depreciation  
and amortisation

 – –2,683 –54 –2,213  – –2 –4,952 

Impairment –17,500 –858  –  –  –  – –18,358 

Foreign exchange  
translation difference

 –  –  –  942 –957  – –15 

Net as at 31.12.2015  42,671  4,599  127  12,347  10,958  –  70,702 

Made up of:

Historical cost  60,171  15,933  1,156  28,269  10,958  –  116,487 

Provisions  
for amortisation  
and depreciations

–17,500 –11,334 –1,029 –15,922  –  – –45,785 

Items Goodwill Develop.
costs

Royalties 
and 

patents

Licences and  
Trademarks

Invest. in 
prog. and 

deposits

Other 
intangible 

assets

Total

Historical cost  60,171  15,933  1,156  28,269  10,958  –  116,487 

Provisions  
for amortisation  
and depreciations

–17,500 –11,334 –1,029 –15,922  –  – –45,785 

Net as at 31.12.2015  42,671  4,599  127  12,347  10,958  –  70,702 

Movements in 2016:

Increases  –  –  36  568  4,362  –  4,966 

Decreases  – –1,240 –4 –75 –1  – –1,320 

Capitalisation  
of internal costs

 –  5,385  –  145 –5,530  –  – 
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Items Goodwill Develop.
costs

Royalties 
and 

patents

Licences and  
Trademarks

Invest. in 
prog. and 

deposits

Other 
intangible 

assets

Total

Change  
in consolidation scope

–664 –2,704 –1 –119 –548  – –4,036 

Depreciation  
and amortisation

 – –1,661 –55 –2,138  –  – –3,854 

Reclassification  –  –  –  597 –597  –  – 

Impairment –5,213 –126  –  –  –  – –5,339 

Foreign exchange  
translation difference

 – –1  1  69 –71  – –2 

Net as at 31.12.2016  36,794  4,252  104  11,394  8,573  –  61,117 

Made up of:

Historical cost  56,619  7,701  1,088  26,718  8,573  –  100,699 

Provisions 
for amortisation 
and depreciations

–19,825 –3,449 –984 –15,324  –  – –39,582 

The other intangible fixed assets with a limited useful life are amortised on a straight-
line basis over terms estimated at between 3 and 5 years.

Decrease and exchange difference values are highlighted by the net value of the histori-
cal cost and the accumulated amortisation and uses of the depreciation provision.

Goodwill and Impairment Tests
Goodwill
Goodwill is attributed to the Cgus (cash generating units) as shown in the following table.

Business Area (Cgu) 2015 Changes 2016

Drivetech 36,794 – 36,794

Santerno 5,877  –5,877 –

Total 42,671  –5,877 36,794

The assets of the Cgus were tested for impairment as described below. 
It is pointed out that for the Santerno Cgu no impairment test was carried out because, 

as already highlighted in the section “Changes in the scope of consolidation and other com-
pany reorganisation operations” at 31 December 2016 the group no longer had control of 
the subsidiary Elettronica Santerno Spa following the investment agreement with Ener-
tronica Spa which become the holder of a 51% stake in the Elettronica Santerno Spa that 
gave content to the Santerno Cgu.

Impairment Tests
Impairment tests were carried out, applying the provisions of Ias 36, with the appli-

cation criteria described below, also considering guidelines on methodologies issued by 
the Oiv (Italian Valuation Standard Setter), in particular the indications provided by: i) 
Application no. 2 published by the Oic in December 2009; ii) the Guidelines with regard 
to Impairment Tests, published by the Oiv on 14 June 2012; iii) Consob communication 
no. 0003907 of 19 January 2015; iv) guidelines (in terms of plans) of the Italian Valuation 
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Standards issued by the Oiv in July 2015:
› the recoverable value of the assets of the cash generating units (henceforth “CGUs”) 

was ascertained by identifying their “value in use” obtained from the present value of 
the expected operating cash flows of these assets applying a rate expressing the risks 
of the single “CGUs” considered;

› for the purpose of impairment testing for the Consolidated Financial Statements as 
at 31 December 2016, and as for the previous year, the “CGUs” were identified as the 
two business areas: “Drivetech” and “Agritalia”. As in previous years, testing was also 
carried out at a Group level overall, although impairment indicators were not iden-
tified and in particular, the average Stock Exchange capitalisation value was higher 
than the carrying amount of shareholders’ equity;

› the reference time horizon for the estimate of future cash flows is a period of four 
years, subsequently using the perpetual return criterion;

› the expected cash flow projections are based on: i) the 2017 budget approved by the 
Board of Directors on 13 December 2016; ii) projections made by the management 
for the period 2018-20, extrapolating from the 2017 budget and considering a single 
scenario;

› the future cash flow estimates were determined based on criteria of prudence with 
regard to both growth rates as well as margin evolution. The cash flow projections 
refer to current operating conditions and therefore do not include the cash flows 
arising from any extraordinary interventions;  

› the terminal value was estimated based on the values of the last year of analytical 
forecasting; a “standard” tax rate was applied, which, for conservative purposes, does 
not consider any tax recovery arising from the use of previous losses. The estimated, 
forward-looking growth rate (“g”) is equal to zero. The figures of the projections are 
expressed in real terms;

› Wacc (weighted average cost of capital) rates were used to discount flows, calculated 
analysing comparable company data in relation to each Cgu (cash generating unit), so 
as to reflect the risk level of each segment of activity, as well as uncertainties related 
to the current economic context. The rates were determined net of the tax effect. The 
change in taxes from one year to another is affected, among others, by the change 
in the cost of money and update to the basket of comparable companies for each 
segment of activity. In line with the decisions taken in previous years, for each Cgu a 
degree of “historical” error (in terms of overstatement) inherent in the forecasts pre-
pared by the Group’s management has been measured. It is pointed out that, unlike in 
previous years, there was no margin of error for testing purposes at 31 December 2016 
since the 2016 budgets formulated for each Cgu were met. In line with the previous 
year and with the Oiv document of June 2012, a second and further increase has also 
been considered, determined by comparing the Ebitda margin envisaged in the data 
used for the 2015 impairment test with that envisaged in the Plan used for the test as 
at 31 December 2016. This calculation gave rise to an increase in the rate used.
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The rates used for each Cgu and for the Group overall, are indicated below:

WACC
Discount rate net of taxes

Gruppo Carraro 7.03%

Drive Tech Cgu 7.02%

Agritalia Cgu 5.85%

› the sensitivity analysis of the difference between the value in use and the carrying 
amount was performed: 

– varying some of the basic parameters of the estimate made, in compliance with the 
Consob Communication of 19 January 2015. In particular, a sensitivity analysis was 
carried out on the following variables: Wacc (increased, in the light of the trend in 
market rates, by 25 bp and 50 bp, and determination of the rate that eliminates the 
difference between Enterprise Value and Nic), Ebit (decreased by 5% and 10% and 
determination of the percentage reduction that eliminates the difference between 
Enterprise Value and Nic), Turnover (reduction of 10%)

– taking into account the different business risk levels of the CGUs.

Parameters used for sensitivity analysis are indicated below: in particular, the discount 
rate and the Ebit reduction in the period in question which makes recoverable values 
equal to the carrying amounts is indicated:

Wacc Ebit

Carraro Group 9.13% –24.14%

Drive Tech Cgu 11.91% –42.87%

Agritalia  Cgu 10.11% –42.15%

The procedure adopted and impairment testing were approved by the Board of Direc-
tors independently and before approval of the financial statements.

Investments in progress and deposits
The increase in investments in progress refers to the costs incurred by Carraro Spa and 

by Elettronica Santerno Spa for the design of new product lines developed in relation to 
similar projects launched by customers. Development costs generated internally are cap-
italised at cost.

Licences and Trademarks
The increases are mainly attributable to the acquisition of licenses by Carraro Spa and 

Carraro Technologies Pvt. Ltd.

Royalties and patents
Investments in Royalties and Patents mainly refer to purchases of Carraro Spa.



Annual Report 2016160 – 161

Research and development costs (non-capitalisable)
During 2016 research and trials were carried out by some of the personnel employed in 

both development and production.
For these operations, the Group incurred total expenditure of 14.67 million Euros in 

2015 (not capitalised due to the lack of requirements envisaged by Ias 38). (13.76 million 
Euros in 2015).

Real estate investments (note 8)
These present a net balance of 0.7 million Euros.
The breakdown is as follows:

Items Buildings Total

Balance as at 31.12.2015  695  695

Increases –  –

Decreases – –

Change in currency conversion  –  – 

Balance as at 31.12.2016  695  695 

Real estate investments refer to non-industrial property owned by Carraro Spa and 
Siap Spa.

Equity investments (note 9)
Equity investments in associated companies
As at 31 December 2016, the Carraro Group has an associate holding of 16.552 million 

Euros, equal to 45%, in the associated company O&K Antriebstechnik GmbH.
The carrying amount is the fair value determined at the date of loss of control according 

to the provisions of Ifrs 10 subsequently adjusted based on the equity criterion, taking 
account of profits and losses attributable to the Carraro Group in application of the agree-
ments signed with the majority shareholder on 30 December 2015.

Again at 31 December 2016, as a result of the investment agreement with Enertronica 
Spa, as previously described in paragraph 2.2, the Group holds an associate holding in 
Elettronica Santerno Spa of 27.36% equal to 1.120 million Euros via Carraro Spa and a 
holding of 21.65% equal to 0.886 million Euros via Carraro International Sa. The car-
rying amount is the fair value determined at the date of loss of control according to the 
provisions of Ifrs 10 subsequently adjusted based on the equity criterion, taking account 
of profits and losses attributable to the Carraro Group.
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 Financial assets (note 10)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Loans to related parties  5,663  –

Loans to third parties  4,845  8,668

Loans and receivables  10,508  8,668 

Available for sale  96  97

Other financial assets  12  131 

Other financial assets  108  228 

Non-current financial assets 10,616 8,896 

From related parties 2,500 60

From third parties 3,371 7,671 

Loans and receivables  5,871  7,731

Fair value of derivatives  1,234  809

Other financial assets  606  432 

Other financial assets  1,840  1,241 

Current financial assets 7,711 8,972 

Non-current loans and receivables
Non-current third party loans and receivables include the medium/long-term portion 

(4.13 million Euros) of the receivable from an Argentine real estate company to which, at 
the end of 2015, a portion (approximately 80%) of the land and buildings related to the 
production plant of Carraro Argentina was sold. This item also includes the medium-/
long-term portion (0.71 million Euros) of the receivable due from Fon Skb sp. Zo.o. ac-
quired by the subsidiary Fon relative to the sale of the activity during 2011. 

Non-current related party loans and receivables refer to the medium/long-term portion 
of 5.66 million Euros of the loan to Elettronica Santerno Spa.

Values of these receivables approximate their fair value.

Other non-current financial assets
These include mainly minority shareholdings and guarantee deposits.

Current loans and receivables
These mainly refer to the 2.83 million Euros of the current portion of the financial 

receivable from an Argentine real estate company to which, at the end of 2015, a portion 
(approximately 80%) of the land and buildings related to the production plant of Carraro 
Argentina was sold. 

Current related party receivables refer to the current portion of the loan to Elettronica 
Santerno Spa.

Other current financial assets
This item includes “cash flow hedge” derivatives for 1.2 million Euros. The amount re-

fers to the fair value calculated as at 31.12.2016 on current instruments on currencies. As 
described in detail in the section on derivative financial instruments (Paragraph 9), profits 
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or losses deriving from hedging instruments are recognised in the statement of compre-
hensive income and accumulated in a specific shareholders’ equity reserve for the efficient 
part, while the remaining (inefficient) portion is recognised in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (note 11)
The table below illustrates the composition of deferred taxation by the nature of the 

temporary differences that determine it. The change corresponds to the effect of deferred 
taxes on net equity and income.

Description of differences Opening
31.12.2015

Reclassific.
 

Change in 
consolidation 

scope

Effect  Difference
exchange

Closing
31.12.2016

on income 
statement

on net 
equity

Assets       

Depreciation and amortisation  13,764 –1,766 –568 –1,257    10,173 

Measurement of receivables  389   –218  –65     106

Measurement of financial 
assets/liabilities

 141  86 –299  –93    –165 

Discounting of employee 
severance indemnity

234   –17  –75  59   201 

Allocations to provisions  11,213 –759 –1,484  6   –28  8,948

Tax losses  2,680 –1,868 –285      527 

Thin cap  400      400 

Other  1,370 –20 –54 38  –28 3  1,309 

Personnel bonuses  5  277      282 

Total 29,796 –4 ,327 –2,341 –1,260 –62  –25 21,781 

Liabilities       

Depreciation and amortisation –3,927 268  353  27 –3,279 

Measurement of receivables  –      – 

Measurement of financial 
assets/liabilities

32 –86   –8  –62 

Discounting of employee 
severance indemnity

–      – 

Allocations to provisions  644   569      1,213 

Other 37 –26 11

Total –3,214  182 896  –8 27 –2,117

Balance  26,582 –4,145 –2,341 –364 –70 2  19,664 

The carrying amount of net deferred tax assets recognised as at 31 December 2016 was 
19.7 million Euros (2015: 26.6 million Euros). Deferred tax assets include the potential 
benefits associated with retained tax losses, insofar as it is likely that there will be adequate 
future taxable profits against which these losses can be used in a reasonably short period.

Tax losses for which it was decided not to recognise deferred tax assets as at 31 Decem-
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ber 2016 amounted to 50.5 million Euros (2015: 82.35 million Euros) with a tax effect of 
13.1 million Euros (2015: 21.81 million Euros).

With reference to temporarily non-deductible financial charges, it was decided to rec-
ognise deferred tax assets of 0.4 million Euros (2015: zero Euros) for a taxable amount of 
1.66 million Euros. No deferred tax assets on temporarily non-deductible residual interest 
charges were therefore recognised for a taxable amount of 31 million Euros (2015: 30 mil-
lion Euros), with a tax effect of 7.4 million Euros (2015: 7.2 million Euros).

Trade receivables and other receivables (note 12)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Non current trade receivables  –  –

From third parties  3,551  3,056 

Other non-current receivables  3,551  3,056 

Non-current trade receivables and other receivables  3,551  3,056 

From related parties 3,170 5,955

From third parties  47,467  55,999 

Current trade receivables  50,637  61,954 

From related parties  809  957 

From third parties  21,470  25,772 

Other current receivables  22,279  26,729

Current trade receivables and other receivables  72,916  88,683

Other non-current receivables (3.5 million Euros) consist mainly of guarantee deposits, 
portions of costs accruing in subsequent periods and advance payments and tax receiva-
bles of the subsidiary Carraro India Pvt Ltd. and Carraro Argentina Sa. 

Trade receivables bear no interest and mature on average at 60 days.
Other current receivables due from third parties can be analysed as follows:

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Vat credits 3,403 4,347 

Vat credits due for rebate 1,137 1,589

Other tax credits 6,756 8,042

Receivables for current taxes 7,439 7,529 

Receivables from employees  128  702

Receivables from pensions agencies  966  255 

Provisions for impairment of other receivables –109 –878 

Other receivables  1,750  4,186 

Other current receivables from third parties  21,470  25,772 

Other current receivables from third parties equal to 21 million Euros (26 million Euros 
in 2015) decreased, mainly due to the decrease in tax receivables. 

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0



Annual Report 2016164 – 165

The breakdown of trade and other receivables (including provisions for impairment of 
receivables) by maturity is shown in the following table:

31.12.2016

Past due Not yet due

Less than 1 year More than 1 year Less than 1 year More than 1 year Total

Trade receivables  10,997  803  41,049 –  52,849

Other receivables  –  –  22,388  3,551  25,939 

Total  10,997  803 63,437  3,551  78,788 

31.12.2015

Past due Not yet due

Less than 1 year More than 1 year Less than 1 year More than 1 year Total

Trade receivables  14,155  2,511  49,816 –  66,482 

Other receivables  27  –  27,580  3,056  30,663 

Total  14,182  2,511 77,396  3,056  97,145 

The balance of receivables is equal to 79 million Euros. (97 million Euros in 2015). As 
envisaged in Ifrs 7.37 bands of amounts past due were identified. In 2016, outstanding 
receivables amounted to 11.8 million Euros, of which 0.8 million Euros (1.1% of total re-
ceivables) were past due by more than one year. Similarly, in 2015, out of a total of 16.7 
million Euros, 2.5 million Euros (2.6% of total receivables) were past due by more than 
one year. An analysis was carried out on specific impairment at the reporting date for past 
due positions, from which a total impairment loss of 2.3 million Euros was identified. (5.4 
million Euros in 2015). The analysis was performed on the basis of the effective recovera-
bility prospects of the positions analysed.

Provisions for Depreciations of Receivables
The breakdown of the gross and net value of the receivables is as follows:

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Trade receivables from related parties  3,170  5,955 

Net trade receivables from related parties  3,170  5,955 

Current trade receivables from third parties 49,679 60,527 

Provisions for impairment –2,212 –4,528

Net current trade receivables from third parties  47,467  55,999 

Other receivables from related parties 809 957

Net current other receivables from related parties  809  957 

Other current receivables from third parties  21,579  26,650 

Provisions for impairment of other receivables –109 –878

Net current other receivables from third parties  21,470  25,772
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Other related party receivables refer to the credit from tax consolidation vis-a-vis the 
parent company Finaid Spa and to transactions with O&K Antriebstechnik Gmbh, Elet-
tronica Santerno Spa and Santerno subsidiaries.

Movements in provisions for depreciation for the periods considered can be broken 
down as follows.

31.12.2015 Increases Decreases Change in 
consolidat.

scope

Reclassif. Exchange-
rate  

adjustm.

31.12.2016

Provisions for  
impairment of trade 
receivables

 4,528  –904 800 –2,143 – –69  2,212

Provisions for  
impairment of other 
receivables

 878  90  –875 – 15 1  109

Total  5,406  –814 –75 –2,143 15 –68  2,321 

Closing inventory (note 13)

Items 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Raw materials  65,286  85,869 

Work in progress and semi-finished products  25,350  26,422 

Finished products  17,889  27,105 

Goods in transit  266  1,296 

Total inventories 108,791 140,692 

Provision for impairment of inventories –18,126 –22,606 

Total inventories  90,665  118,086 

Movements in provisions for depreciation of inventories are shown in detail below:

Balance as at 31 December 2015  22,606 

Provisions set aside  6,360 

Utilisation –6,574 

Changes in the scope of consolidation –4,265

Translation differences –1 

Balance as at 31 December 2016  18,126

Cash and cash equivalents (note 14)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Cash  96  110 

Bank current accounts and deposits  47,657  70,648 

Other liquid funds or equivalent assets  –  – 

 Total  47,753  70,758 
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Short-term bank deposits are remunerated at a floating rate.
The constraints on cash and cash equivalents in the various companies of the Carraro 

Group as at 31 December 2016 are shown in the table below:

Group company Currency Constraint  
in Currency

Equivalent
in Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Eur  3,900  3,900 

Total constrained cash and cash equivalents   3,900 

Constrained cash and cash equivalents amounted to 3.9 million Euros and refer to guar-
antees provided against short-term loans obtained from Carraro Drive Tech Do Brasil.

Shareholders’ equity (note 15)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015 *

1) Share Capital  23,915  23,915 

2) Other Reserves  46,972  26,388 

3) Profits/(Losses) brought forward  –  – 

4) Cash flow hedge reserve 427 169 

5) Provision for discounting employee benefits –404 297 

6) Foreign currency translation reserve –15,094 –13,489 

7) Result for the period pertaining to the group –9,087 –8,915 

Group shareholders’ equity  46,729  28,365 

8) Minority interests  –  2,658 

* For a better understanding and highlighting certain opening reserves have been reclassified and restated.

The Carraro Spa Shareholders’ Meeting of 15 April 2016 resolved to carry forward the 
loss for 2015 amounting to 3,849,336 Euros. 

With effect from 31 December 2009, the share capital of Carraro Spa amounts to 
23,914,696 Euros, corresponding to 45,989,800 shares with a face value of 0.52 Euros 
each.

The company has issued a single category of ordinary shares which do not give the right 
to a fixed dividend.

No other financial instruments which assign equity and investment rights have been 
issued.

As at 31 December 2016, 2,626,988 shares had been purchased for a total investment 
of 6.666 million Euros.

Other reserves
The item “Other reserves” of 46.972 million Euros, includes reserves of Carraro Spa re-

lating to profits not distributed or carried forward and others as follows:
› 32.641 million Euros relating to the Carraro Spa future capital increase reserve;
› 27.130 million Euros relating to the Carraro Spa share premium reserve;
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› 4.761 million Euros relating to the Carraro Spa legal reserve;
› less 7.318 million Euros relating to the extraordinary reserve and retained profits of 

Carraro Spa;
› less 6.666 million Euros for deduction of the reserve corresponding to own share 

purchase of Carraro Spa;
› less 3.576 million arising from the reduction in the shareholders’ equities of con-

solidated companies with respect to the corresponding carrying amounts of equity 
investments and consolidation adjustments.

Other Ias/Ifrs reserves
This includes the values arising from application of the criterion prescribed for cash 

flow hedging of 0.42 million Euros.

Provision for discounting employee benefits
This reserve, which is negative amounting to 1.29 million Euros, includes Employee 

benefit actuarial gains/losses, as provided for by Ias 19 Revised.
For further details, see section 3.3 “Accounting standards and measurement criteria”.

Foreign currency translation reserve
This reserve, which is negative amounting to 15.09 million Euros, is used to record 

exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of foreign sub-
sidiaries.

It should be noted that, as required by Ias 1 Revised paragraph 83, the movements in 
the period of the foreign currency translation reserve were recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income, as detailed below:

31.12.2015 Changes in the 
Statement of 

Comprehensive 
Income

Changes  
by area

31.12.2016

Exchange reserve  
of the parent company’s shareholders

–13,489 –2,414 809 –15,094

Exchange reserve of minority interests – – – – 

Effect of the translation reserve 
on the statement of comprehensive income

–13,489 –2,414 809 –15,094 

Minority interests
For an analysis of the change in minority interests, see paragraph 2.2.

Financial liabilities (nota 16)
On 24 December 2015, the Carraro Group signed a new agreement with its main lend-

ing banks, which provides for the rescheduling of medium and long-term financial debts, 
with a suspension of principal repayments until 2017, confirmation of short-term credit 
lines to support the current operations of the Group and redefinition of the covenants 
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based on the operating results envisaged by the Group’s New Business Plan 2016-19. As 
at 31 December 2016 financial parameters (covenants) contractually specified relative to 
this date, had been met.

In particular:
› gearing (defined as the ratio of net financial position of operations to owners’ equity) 

stood at 3.92 as at 31 December 2016 (the Framework Agreement defines for that 
date a minimum value of the parameter of 4.50);

› the Net Financial Position of Operations/Adjusted Ebitda ratio stood at 4.10 as at 31 
December 2016 (the limit established for this financial parameter covenant for the 
above date is equal to 6.50).

The classification of financial liabilities is shown below: 

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Medium/long-term loans  159,666  180,344 

Non-current financial liabilities  159,666  180,344 

Fair value of non-current interest rate derivatives  117  –156 

Other non-current financial liabilities 117 –156

Non-current financial liabilities  159,783  180,166 

Medium-/long-term loans – short-term portion  23,438  9,385 

Loans to others  64,458  124,236 

Current financial liabilities  87,896  133,621 

Fair value of interest rate derivatives  –  – 

Fair value of exchange rate derivatives  281  128 

Other current financial liabilities  271  1,694 

Other current financial liabilities  552  1,822 

Current financial liabilities  88,448  135,443 

Short-term loans include current accounts payable and loans taken out during 2016, 
with a short-term maturity.

Medium- and long-term loans are presented below, divided into short-term portion, 
medium-term portion and portion at more than 5 years.

Company Up to one year From 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total 
31.12.2016

nominal 
value

effect of 
amortised 

cost and 
exchange 

delta

nominal 
value

effect of am-
ortised cost 

and 
exchange 

delta

nominal 
value

effect of 
amortised 

cost and 
exchange 

delta

Carraro China Drive Systems 
Co Ltd

 8,518  –  10,266 –  –  –  18,784

Carraro India Pvt Ltd  2,929 –  5,264  1 802  –  8,996 

Carraro Drive Tech
do Brasil Inc

 8 –  3  –  –  –  11

Carraro Argentina Sa  20 –  10 –  – –  30 

Carraro International Sa  8,367 – 446  87,867 –1,271  31,241 –94  125,664 
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Company Up to one year From 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total 
31.12.2016

nominal 
value

effect of 
amortised 

cost and 
exchange 

delta

nominal 
value

effect of am-
ortised cost 

and 
exchange 

delta

nominal 
value

effect of 
amortised 

cost and 
exchange 

delta

Carraro Spa  2,901 –134  10,932 –381  3,258 –28  16,548 

Siap Spa  479  –  861  –  –  –  1,340 

Carraro Drive Tech Spa  848 – 52  8,260 –147  2,833  –11  11,731 

Total  24,070 –632  123,463 –1,798  38,134  –133  183,104 

The following table provides further detailed information on the financial liabilities 
illustrated above. For an analysis of the maturities of trade payables see Note 17, while a 
description of how the Group manages liquidity risk is included in paragraph 3.3. 

Company Lender Short-term 
portion  
as at 31.12.16

Md/lg-term 
portion  
as at 31.12.16

Expiry Rate Rate type Currency

Carraro China  
Drive System

Bank of  
Communications

 4,050  3,968 Oct–18 5.27% Variable Cny

Carraro China  
Drive System

Agricultural  
Bank

 4,468  6,298 Jan–19 522.50% Variable Cny

Carraro India Exim  1,006  503 Jun–18 12.00% Variable Inr

Carraro India Idbi Bank  –  2,675 Jun–23 3.75% Variable Euro

Carraro India Idbi Bank  646  791 Jan–20 12.75% Variable Inr

Carraro India Indusind  310  – Mar–17 12.00% Variable Inr

Carraro India Axis  747  2,088 Mar–21 11.40% Variable Inr

Carraro India Siemens  
Financial

 122  – Nov–17 13.00% Variable Inr

Carraro India Siemens  
Financial

 98  9 Feb–18 12.97% Variable Inr

Carraro Drivetech  
do Brasil

Bradesco Financ  8  3 Apr–18 21.19% Variable Brl

Carraro Argentina HSBC  14  – Oct–17 11.50% Variable Ars

Carraro Argentina HSBC  6  10 May–19 11.50% Variable Ars

Carraro International BPV Finance  1,050  14,950 Dec–22 3.98% Variable Euro

Carraro International Mps  358  5,101 Dec–22 3.28% Variable Euro

Carraro International Mps  226  3,220 Dec–22 3.28% Variable Euro

Carraro International Pool banche  4,344  61,831 Dec–22 3.28% Variable Euro

Carraro International Pool banche 
(revolving)

 2,389  34,006 Dec–22 3.28% Variable Euro

Carraro Spa Mps  873  12,423 Dec–22 3.28% Variable Euro

Carraro Spa Banca Popolare 
di Ravenna

 907  – Jun–17 3.29% Variable Euro

Carraro Spa Cassa Risparmio 
di Bolzano

 1,121  1,767 Jun–19 3.53% Variable Euro

Siap De Lage Landen  116  316 Jul–20 3.75% Fixed Euro

Siap Albaleasing  67  79 Jan–19 3.30% Variable Euro

Siap Albaleasing  172  275 Jul–19 3.30% Variable Euro
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Company Lender Short-term 
portion  
as at 31.12.16

Md/lg-term 
portion  
as at 31.12.16

Expiry Rate Rate type Currency

Siap Credit Agricole 
Leasing

 33  19 Jul–18 3.43% Variable Euro

Siap Credit Agricole 
Leasing

 66  71 Feb–19 3.43% Variable Euro

Siap Fraer Leasing  25  101 Nov–21 1.43% Variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Banca Pop. 
Verona

 759  10,802 Dec–22 3.18% Variable Euro

Carraro Drive Tech Spa Fraer Leasing  89  291 Feb–21 1.43% Variable Euro

Total   24,070  161,597     

The net financial position is broken down below:

Net financial position 31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Non-current loans payable  –159,666  –180,344 

Current loans payable  –87,896  –133,621 

Other non-current financial liabilities  –117  156 

Other current financial liabilities –271 –1,694

Financial liabilities  247,950  –315,503 

Current loans and receivables 5,871 7,731 

Other current financial assets 606 432 

Financial assets 6,477 8,163 

Cash 96 110 

Bank current accounts and deposits 47,657 70,648 

Cash and cash equivalents 47,753 70,758 

Net financial position* –193,720 –236,582

Non-current loans and receivables 10,508 8,668 

Other non-current financial assets 12 131 

Net financial position of operations –183,200 –227,783

of which payables / (receivables):

Non-current  –149,263  –171,389 

Current –33,937  –56,394 

* Net financial debt prepared according to the scheme prescribed by the ESMA/2013/319 Recommendation

The Group has available short-term banking credit facilities for a total of 161 million 
Euros. These credit facilities are callable and may be used for various current-account 
purposes and short-term financing of a maximum term of 12 months, with the total bal-
ance equal to 65.3 million Euros.
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The rate terms vary according to the country of usage and can be summarised as follows:
› Europe: 2.8 - 3 %
› India: 10.75 - 11.15 %
› China: 5.75 - 6 %

The medium- and long-term banking credit facilities amounted to a total of 199.5 mil-
lion Euros, against a utilisation of 185.7 million Euros.

Fair Value
The fair value of medium/long-term financial liabilities, taking account of the fact that 

these are almost exclusively for variable-rate funding and that the terms being renegotiat-
ed with the banking counterparties are in line with the average levels for the market and 
the segment – even considering the residual volatility of the markets and the relative un-
certainty in identifying “reference” conditions – as measured is not significantly different 
overall from the carrying amounts.

Trade payables and other payables (note 17)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

From third parties  646  910 

Other non-current payables  646  910 

Trade payables and other non-current payables  646  910 

From related parties  2,143  981 

From third parties  126,944  166,302 

Current trade payables  129,087  167,283 

From related parties 90 165 

From third parties  22,265  23,496 

Other current payables  22,355  23,661 

Trade payables and other current payables  151,442  190,944 

Trade payables do not produce interest and on average are settled at 120 days.
Other payables due to third parties can be analysed as follows:

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Vat payables  1,371  342 

Other tax payables  322  291 

Amounts due to pensions agencies 3,988 4,627 

Amounts due to employees  11,295  13,534 

Irpef (personal income tax) employees & professionals  2,815  3,763 

Board of Directors  1,872  1,383 

Other payables  602  –444 

Other current payables  22,265  23,496 
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The following table shows an analysis of trade and other payables by maturity:

31.12.2016

Past due Not yet due

Less than 1 year More than 1 year Less than 1 year More than 1 year Total

Trade payables  9,187  1,397  118,503  –  129,087 

Other payables  –  –  22,355 646  23,001 

Total  9,187  1,397  140,858  646  152,088 

31.12.2015

Past due Not yet due

Less than 1 year More than 1 year Less than 1 year More than 1 year Total

Trade payables  19,687  917  146,679  –  167,283 

Other payables  5  –  23,656 910  24,571 

Total  19,692  917  170,335  910  191,854 

Current taxes payables (note 18)

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Current taxes payable 6,473 5,384

Current taxes payables  6,473  5,384 

Employee severance indemnities and retirement benefits (note 19)
Provision for severance indemnity and retirement benefits

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Opening severance indemnities in accordance with Ias 19 11,130 12,240

Utilisation of employee severance indemnities –1,003 –1,310 

Interest Cost  108  170 

Actuarial Gains/Losses  216  30 

Change in consolidation scope  –586  –

Closing severance indemnities in accordance with Ias 19  9,865  11,130 

The severance indemnity, calculated according to current Italian laws, is treated for ac-
counting purposes as a defined-benefit fund and as such is recalculated at the end of each 
accounting period according to a statistical-actuarial criterion which also takes account of 
the effects of financial discounting.

The actuarial valuation of this obligation is carried out according to the actuarial crite-
rion of the “projected unit credit method” with the support of the data issued by Istat, the 
Inps and the Ania. The parameters used are as follows: 1) annual discount rate: 0.86%, 
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2) personnel rotation rate 5%, 3) annual inflation index 1.5%, 4) rate of advances 2%, 5) 
remuneration increase rate 2.625%.

The accounting treatment of employee benefits recorded in the financial statements 
complies with Ias 19 Revised for defined-benefit plans. For further details, see section 3.3.

Termination benefits are benefits to employees regulated by the laws in force in Italy 
and recognised in the financial statements of Italian companies.

On the basis of the changes introduced in Law 296/06, with effect from 30 June 2007, 
termination benefits maturing after 1 January 2007 must be paid into a specific treasury 
reserve established at the pensions agency Inps, or, if the employee so chooses, into a spe-
cial complementary pension fund. There are no more provisions for termination benefits 
with these contributions.  

Sensitivity analysis Ias 19 revised
The table below indicates the values of the Employee benefits provision as at 31.12.2016 

calculated in the case of changes in actuarial assumptions reasonably possible at that date 
with the following variables: 

› turnover frequency
› discount rate (taken from the Iboxx Corporate AA 7-10 index)
› inflation rate

Turnover  
frequency

Inflation  
rate

Discount  
rate

+1 % –1 % +0.25 % –0.25 % +0.25 % –0.25 %

Provisions for employee benefits 31.12.2016 9,799 9,938 10,090 9,741 9,666 10,071

Pension/retirement funds
Pension funds and similar for 0.8 million Euros (0.5 million Euros at 31.12.2015) main-

ly refer to liabilities recognised in the financial statements of Carraro Argentina S.A., Car-
raro India Ltd and Carraro Technologies Ltd.

Opening 
31.12.2015

Increases Decreases Change in 
consolid. 

scope

Change in 
currency

Closing 
31.12.2016

Pension and similar funds 513  253 –148 – 214  832

Number of employees
The number of employees refers only to the fully consolidated companies and is divided 

into categories:

Employees 31.12.2015 Changes 31.12.2016

Executives  29 –4  25 

Clerical staff  823 –162  661 

Factory workers  2,211 –205  2,006

Temporary workers  213 74  287

Total as at 31.12  3,276 –297  2,979
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Provisions for risks and liabilities (note 20)
The item can be broken down as follows:

Opening 
situation

Increases Decreases Reclassif. Change  
in the scope of 
consolidation

Exchange-rate 
adjustments

Closing 
situation

Non-current portion       

1) Warranty  1,682  –  – 435  –  –  2,117 

2) Costs of legal claims  138  – –2  –80  –  –  56 

3) Renovation and conv.  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 

4) Other provisions  1,433  849 516 –22  –52 –186  2,538 

Total  3,253  849 514 333   –52 –186  4,711 

Current portion       

1) Warranty  9,552  5,104 –4,272  –434 –1,059  –21  8,870 

2) Costs of legal claims  1,879  292 –889 150 – –97  1,335 

3) Renovation and conv.  5,486  3,998 –6,487  –  –594 15  2,418 

4) Other provisions  1,105  3,473 1,230 –49  –3,227 14  2,546 

Total  18,022  12,867 –10,418 –333 –4,880 –89  15,169 

For changes in the scope of consolidation, reference is made to section 2.2.

Warranty reserve
From the product warranty reserve, 4.3 million Euros was used for customer claims 

accepted and the reserve was increased by 5.1 million Euros on the basis of the expected 
warranty costs which will be incurred in relation to sales made.

Provision for costs of legal claims
The provision for costs of legal claims refers to tax liabilities that have been defined or 

are being defined and litigation concerning employees.
With reference to the Indian company, in the course of 2016, EY was commissioned to 

follow the tax disputes as a result of claims by the local tax authorities concerning several 
years and mainly related to the benchmark used for transfer pricing and to the evidence of 
services and related benefits received by the Indian plant for the deductibility of royalties 
and intercompany services. Extensive documentation has already been submitted in court 
in support of the defence arguments of the company. 

Supported by the opinions of its tax consultants, the risk of losing the case in court in 
relation to the claims of the Indian financial administration is estimated to be possible for 
a total of 4.2 million Euros. Considering the estimated degree of risk, it was not consid-
ered necessary to allocate a risk provision.
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Provision for restructuring and reconversion
The detailed movements of provisions for restructuring are shown below:

Provisions 
31.12.15

Increases Decreases Reclassif. Exchange-rate 
adjustments

Provisions 
31.12.16

Carraro Spa  550  – –168  –  –  382 

Carraro Drive Tech Spa  1,815  – –128  –  –  1,687 

Siap Spa  2,009  –  –1,660  –  –  349 

Elettronica Santerno Spa  970  – –376  –594  –  – 

Elettronica Santerno  
Ind. e Com Ltd.

 142  –  –157  – 15  – 

Carraro Argentina Sa  –  3,998  –3,998  –  –  – 

Total  5,486  3,998 –6,487  –594 15  2,418 

Other provisions
The item “Other provisions” includes amounts recognised for individual companies for 

future expenses and liabilities.

7.	Commitments	and	risks

There are no commitments and risks such as to have any effect on the financial state-
ments and related disclosure.

8.	Transactions	with	related	parties	(note 21)

The Carraro Group is controlled directly by Finaid Spa, which as at 31.12.2016 held 
39.9484% of the shares outstanding. 

Carraro Spa and all Italian subsidiaries are included in the tax consolidation area of the 
parent company Carraro Spa. The charges/income deriving from the transfer of the Ires 
taxable base are booked under current taxes. 

The transactions between Carraro Spa and its subsidiaries which are affiliated enti-
ties of Carraro Spa, were eliminated in the consolidated financial statements and are not 
pointed out in these notes. Significant transactions include the purchase of the R&D busi-
ness unit, to which reference is made in section 4.

The details of the transactions between Carraro Group and other affiliated companies 
according to principle Ias 24 and Consob requirements, are indicated below.
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Financial and  
commercial transactions

Economic  
transactions

Financial  
assets

Trade  
receivables  

and other  
receivables

Trade  
payables  

and other  
payables

Sales  
revenues

Purchases 
of goods 

and  
materials

Purchases 
of  

services

Other 
income 

and  
expenses

Purchases 
of assets

Related parties:     

Finaid Srl  –  842  90  6 – – – –

O&K Antriebstechnik 
Gmbh

 –  1,346  2,064  2,817  4,700 3 –117 178

Elettronica Santerno 
Spa

 8,163  1,017  79  – – – – –

Elettronica Santerno 
Ind. e Com Ltd.

 –  118  –  –  – – – –

Santerno South Africa 
Pty Ltd

 –  115  –  –  – – – –

Santerno Usa  –  541  –  –  – – – –

Total  8,163  3,979  2,233  2,823 4,700 3 –117 178

9.	Financial	instruments

9.1	 General	summary	of	the	effects	on	the	Income	Statement	deriving	from	financial	
instruments

31.12.2016 Financial 
income

Financial 
expenses

Positive 
exchange 

diff.

Negative 
exchange 

diff.

Suspension
costs 

revenues

A) financial assets      

A.1) Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Bank accounts, positive balance 387  –  –  –  – 

A.2) Non-derivative Financial Instruments:

A.2.1) Financial instruments at fair value (Fvtpl):

A.2.2) Financial instruments held  
to maturity (Htm):

A.2.3) Loans and receivables (L&R):

A.2.3.1) Loans:

Loans receivable –  –  –  –  – 

A.2.3.2) Other assets:

Trade receivables – –  85,834 –83,010  – 

Other financial assets  1,813 –  4,169 –  – 

A.2.4) Financial instruments available  
for sale (Avs):

A.3) Derivative Financial Instruments:

A.3.1) Hedging derivatives:

A.3.1.2) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on currencies:

Fair value through profit or loss  –  –  44  –  – 
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31.12.2016 Financial 
income

Financial 
expenses

Positive 
exchange 

diff.

Negative 
exchange 

diff.

Suspension
costs 

revenues

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  –  –  –  –  662 

Profit realised  – –  3,377 – – 

A.3.1.2) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on interest rates:

Profit realised –

A.3.2) Speculative derivatives (Trading):  –  –  –  –  – 

B) financial liabilities

B.1) Non-derivative Financial Instruments:

B.1.1) Financial Instruments at fair value:

B.1.2) Other Financial Instruments:

Bank accounts, negative balance  – –2,239 – –  – 

Trade payables  –  –  2,123  –4,859  – 

Loans payable   –10,896 – –  – 

Other financial liabilities  – –509 – –3,514  – 

B.2) Derivative Financial Instruments:

B.2.1) Hedging derivatives:

B.2.1.1) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on currencies:

Fair value through profit or loss  – –  –  –100  – 

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  –  –  – – –73 

Loss realised  –  –  – –5,900  – 

B.2.1.2) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on interest rates:

Loss realised  – –  –  –  – 

B.2.2) Speculative derivatives (Trading):  –  –  –  –  – 

Total  2,200 –13,644  95,547 –97,383 589

31.12.2015 Financial 
income

Financial 
expenses

Positive 
exchange 

diff.

Negative 
exchange 

diff.

Suspension
costs 

revenues

A) financial assets      

A.1) Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Bank accounts, positive balance 167  –  –  –  – 

A.2) Non-derivative Financial Instruments:

A.2.1) Financial instruments at fair value (Fvtpl):

A.2.2) Financial instruments held 
to maturity (Htm):

A.2.3) Loans and receivables (L&R):

A.2.3.1) Loans:

Loans receivable 11  –  –  –  – 

A.2.3.2) Other assets:

Trade receivables – –  14,354 –8,503  – 

Other financial assets  3,587 –  6,775 –  – 
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31.12.2015 Financial 
income

Financial 
expenses

Positive 
exchange 

diff.

Negative 
exchange 

diff.

Suspension
costs 

revenues

A.2.4) Financial instruments available  
for sale (Avs):

A.3) Derivative Financial Instruments:

A.3.1) Hedging derivatives:

A.3.1.2) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on currencies:

Fair value through profit or loss  –  –  –1,837  –  – 

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  –  –  –  –  260 

Profit realised  – –  9,853 –  – 

A.3.1.2) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on interest rates:

Profit realised –

A.3.2) Speculative derivatives (Trading):  –  –  –  –  – 

B) financial liabilities

B.1) Non-derivative Financial Instruments:

B.1.1) Financial Instruments at fair value:

B.1.2) Other Financial Instruments:

Bank accounts, negative balance  – –6,435 – –  – 

Trade payables  –   3,176 –11,709  – 

Loans payable  – –12,687 – –  – 

Other financial liabilities  – –1,047 – –6,299  – 

B.2) Derivative Financial Instruments:

B.2.1) Hedging derivatives:

B.2.1.1) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on currencies:

Fair value through profit or loss  – –  –  597  – 

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  –  –  – – –22 

Loss realised  –  –  – –10,878  – 

B.2.1.2) Cash Flow Hedging Derivatives  
on interest rates:

Fair value in shareholders’ equity  – –  –  –  –

Loss realised  – –13  –  –  – 

B.2.2) Speculative derivatives (Trading):  –  –  –  –  – 

Total  3,764 –20,182  32,321 –36,792 238

The source for foreign currency exchange rates is provided by the Ecb and the Bank of 
Italy for exchange rates with the Argentinian Pesos.
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9.2	 Derivative	financial	instruments	on	currencies

The following tables indicate all the key information relating to the portfolio of deriv-
ative financial instruments on currencies outstanding as at 31.12.2016. These are instru-
ments designated to cover:

› foreign currency sales budgets
› imbalances of current receivables and payables in foreign currencies.

A. Notional values 

Contract Swap (DCS) 1 Swap (DCS) 2 Total
notional values

Carraro Spa  –  9,188 9,188 

Carraro Drive Tech 53,186  14,563  67,749 

Carraro India 190 2,675  2,865

Siap 2,413 385 2,798 

Group Total 31.12.2016  55,789  26,811 82,600 

Group Total 31.12.2015  –37,426 31,630 –5,796 

1 Instruments hedging foreign currency sales and purchasing budget.
2 Instruments hedging current receivables and payables in foreign currencies.

B. Reference currencies and expiry dates of contracts

Contract Swap (DCS) 1 Swap (DCS) 2

Currencies Expiry dates Currencies Expiry dates

Carraro Spa – – Usd/Eur Jan 17

Carraro Drive Tech Usd/Eur
Cny/Eur
Inr/Eur

Feb 18 Usd/Eur Jan 17

Carraro India Inr/Eur Jan 17 Inr/Eur Mar 17

Siap Usd/Eur Dec 17 Usd/Eur Mar 17

1 Instruments hedging foreign currency sales and purchasing budget.
2 Instruments hedging current receivables and payables in foreign currencies.

C. Fair value

Contract Swap (DCS) 1 Swap (DCS) 2 Total

Carraro Spa – 66 66

Carraro Drive Tech 1,051 89 1,140

Carraro India 24 –190 -166

Siap –92  5 -87 

Group Total 31.12.2015 983 –30 953 

Group Total 31.12.2014 390 290 680 

1 Instruments hedging foreign currency sales and purchasing budget.
2 Instruments hedging current receivables and payables in foreign currencies.
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D. Details of fair value

31.12.2016 31.12.2015

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Fair Value/Cash Flow Hedge 
Exchange rate risk

1,234 –281 809 –128

E. Summary of fair values recognised before tax effect according 
to their accounting treatment 

 FV recognised 
in the income 

statement

FV recognised 
in net equity

Total

Carraro Spa 66  – 66

Carraro Drive Tech 478  662 1,140

Carraro India –166 – –166

Siap –14  –73 –87

Group Total 31.12.2016 364 589 953

Group Total 31.12.2015 441  239 680 

In relation to the positioning in the hierarchy of fair values pursuant to Ifrs 7 par. 27 the 
financial instruments described are classifiable as level 2; there were no transfers of level 
during the period.

The fair values as at 31.12.2016 of financial instruments on exchange rates were calcu-
lated using the forward exchange rate method.

The counterparties with which the contracts are stipulated are leading national and 
international banking institutions.

The financial instruments on currencies are used, on a basis consistent with the finan-
cial risk management policy adopted by the group, to hedge the risks deriving from ex-
change rate fluctuations and concern sales volumes compared with the budget exchange 
rate and the collections and payment of short and medium-term receivables and payables 
with respect to the historical value.

For accounting purposes in relation to contracts hedging sales budgets in foreign cur-
rencies effective at the reporting date, it should be noted that for the transactions exe-
cuted, especially Domestic Currency Swaps, and in accordance with all the conditions 
provided by the Ias/Ifrs standards, hedge accounting was applied.

With reference to cash flow hedges (hedging of future cash flows) the related changes 
in fair value are recognised in the equity reserve, net of the tax effect, while for fair value 
hedges (hedging the fair value of assets and liabilities) the related changes in fair value are 
reflected in the income statement, net of the tax effect.
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9.3	 Derivative	financial	instruments	on	interest	rates

A. Notional values and fair values
There are no derivative contracts on interest rates outstanding as at 31 December 2016.

Below is a summary table of the assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 
December 2016, as required by Ifrs 13, described in section 3.2:

Level 2 
31.12.2016

Level 2 
31.12.2015

Assets   

Foreign exchange derivative assets 1,234 809

Total assets 1,234 809 

Liabilities   

Foreign exchange derivative liabilities 281 128

Interest rate derivative liabilities – –

Total liabilities 281 128

 Sensitivity analysis
The table below shows the economic and financial effects generated by financial state-

ment assets and liabilities (as at 31.12.2016 and 31.12.2015 respectively), in the event of 
sudden changes in the following market variables:

› main foreign currencies with respect to the Euros: +/- 10%
› interest rates: +100/-15 “basis points” 
The interest rate oscillation bands represent the average expectations of maximum 

change that the markets currently express.
The following methods were used:
› for Interest Rate Swaps the discounted cash flow method was applied;
› Domestic Currency Swap contracts were calculated using the forward exchange rate 

method;
The exchange-rate risks deriving from translation of the financial statements of foreign 

subsidiaries from local currency into Euros were not considered.  

Balances as at 
31.12.2016

Interest rate risk Exchange rate risk

+1% –0.15% +10% –10%

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Assets

Trade receivables  –1,224 1,618 

Other fin. ass. -  
derivatives on currencies

 4,226 –4,226 –5,797 5,421

Other fin. ass. -  
derivatives on interest 
rates

 – –

Loans – –
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Balances as at 
31.12.2016

Interest rate risk Exchange rate risk

+1% –0.15% +10% –10%

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Cash and cash  
equivalents

269  –262  

Total gross effect – –  – –  3,271 –4,226 –4,441  5,421 

Taxes (27.50%) – –  –  – –900 1,162  1,221 –1,491 

Total net effect –  –  – – 2,371 –3,064 –3,220  3,930 

Liabilities

Trade payables  –115 290 

Loans 2,068 –310 –249  249 

Total gross effect 2,068  – –310  – –364  – 539  – 

Taxes (27.50%) –569  – 85  – 100  –  –148  – 

Total net effect 1,499  – –225  – –264  – 391  – 

Total 1,499 –  –225 –  2,107 –3,064 –2,829 3,930 

Balances as at 
31.12.2016

Interest rate risk Exchange rate risk

+1% –0.15% +10% –10%

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Financial 
effect

Effect  
on equity

Assets

Trade receivables  –1,236 1,831 

Other fin. ass. -  
derivatives on currencies

 2,908 –4,350 –2,548 4,310

Other fin. ass. -  
derivatives on interest 
rates

 – – – –

Loans – –

Cash and cash  
equivalents

403  –385  

Total gross effect – –  – –  2,075 –4,350 –1,102  4,310 

Taxes (27.50%) – –  –  – –571 1,196  303 –1,185 

Total net effect –  –  – – 1,504 –3,154 –799  3,125 

Liabilities

Trade payables  231 –29 

Loans 1,865 –280 –1,621  1,621 

Total gross effect 1,865  – –280  – –1,390  – 1,592  – 

Taxes (27.50%) –513  – 77  – 382  –  –438  – 

Total net effect 1,352  – –203  – –1,008  – 1,154  – 

Total 1,352 –  –203 –  496 –3,154 355 3,125 

Positive sign: expense (economic) - decrease (equity)
Negative sign: income (economic) - increase (equity)

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0

A
m

ou
nt

s 
in

 E
ur

o/
0

0
0



Consolidated Financial Statements

10.	 Events	subsequent	to	the	reporting	date

There were no events such as to have any significant effect on the financial statements 
and the related disclosures.

11.	 Information	in	accordance	with	article	149-duodecies	
of	the	Consob	Issuers’	Regulations

The auditing of the Carraro Group’s financial statements will be carried out, until the 
financial year ending on 31 December 2016, by Deloitte & Touche Spa, while auditing 
until 2015 was carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers Spa. The fees paid to the auditing 
companies accruing in the financial year, for auditing and other services, are summarised 
below.

2016 2015

Accounting audit   

 Carraro Spa  286  250 

 Subsidiary companies  408  507 

Total independent auditing services  694  757 

Other services   

 Carraro Spa  39  1 

 Subsidiary companies  16  149 

Total other services  55  150 

Total fees 749 907 
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Equity investments held by
Directors, Statutory Auditors and General Managers
and immediate family members

Name and surname Società partecipata: 
Carraro Spa

No. 
of shares 

held as at 
31/12/2015

No. 
of shares 

purchased

No.
of shares 

sold

No. 
of shares 

held as at 
31/12/2016

Mario Carraro Directly held 1,903,250 557,485 – 2,460,735

through Finaid Spa 18,372,203 – – 18,372,203

Julia Dora Koranyi Arduini Directly held 9,098,449 – – 9,098,449

Alberto Negri Directly held – 100,857 – 100,857

Antonio Cortellazzo Directly held 37,500 – – 37,500

ENRICO CARRARO
Chairman
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Certification of the consolidated financial statements
for the year pursuant to Art. 154-bis, subsection 5
of Leg. Dec. 58/1998 (Consolidated Finance Act)
and Article 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971
of 14 May 1999 as amended

1. The undersigned Alberto Negri, Chief Executive Officer, and Enrico Gomiero, Fi-
nancial Reporting Officer, also taking into account also the provisions of Article 154-bis, 
paragraphs 3 and 4, of Legislative Decree 58 of 24 February 1998, certify:

› the adequacy in relation to the characteristics of the enterprise;
› the effective application of the administrative and accounting procedures used to 

prepare the consolidated financial statements for 2016;

2. In this regard no significant aspects emerged which require disclosure.

3. We can also certify that:

3.1 the consolidated financial statements:
› were prepared in conformity with the applicable international accounting stand-

ards endorsed by the European Community under the terms of Regulation (EC) N° 
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council, of July 19, 2002;

› correspond to the accounting records;
› give a true and fair picture of the financial position and performance of the Group 

and of all the companies included in the scope of consolidation;

3.2 the report on operations includes a reliable analysis of the progress and results of 
operations, as well as the situation of the issuer and of the set of companies included in 
the consolidation, together with a description of the key risks and uncertainties they are 
exposed to.

Date: 15 February 2017

ALBERTO NEGRI     ENRICO GOMIERO
Chief Executive Officer     Financial Reporting Office
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Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
to the shareholders’ meeting pursuant 
to art. 153 of legislative decree 58/1998 and art. 2429,
paragraph 3 of the italian civil code

Dear Shareholders,
during the year ended 31 December 2016, we carried out the supervisory activities re-

quired by law (in particular by Article 149 of Legislative Decree 58/1998 or “Consolidated 
Finance Act – TUF”), in accordance with the Rules of Conduct of the Boards of Statutory 
Auditors of listed companies of the National Association of Certified Public Accountants, 
the Consob recommendations concerning corporate controls and activities of the Board 
of Statutory Auditors, the guidelines of the Code of Conduct, as well as in our capacity as 
the Internal Control and Auditing Committee pursuant to Article 19 of Legislative Decree 
39/2010.

We monitored compliance with the law and the Articles of Association without any 
observations or findings. We monitored compliance with the disclosure requirements re-
lating to regulated and insider information and the requests of the supervisory authorities 
received pursuant to Article 114 of Legislative Decree 58/1998.

On at least a quarterly basis, we received information from the Directors about business 
conducted and about transactions having a significant effect on the Company’s financial 
position and performance and on its subsidiaries. We can reasonably assure you that ac-
tions adopted and undertaken are in conformity with law and with the Articles of Asso-
ciation, were not manifestly imprudent, risky, or in conflict with resolutions adopted by 
the Meeting of the Shareholders, and did not compromise the integrity of the Company’s 
assets. Therefore, the Board of Statutory Auditors acknowledges that management de-
cisions are based on the principle of correct information and reasonableness. The Board 
of Statutory Auditors obtained information on transactions of major economic, equity or 
financial importance.

Within the scope of the group’s restructuring activities, the significant events for the 
Company during 2016 are described below: i) the Company resolved a capital increa-
se, with resulting amendments to the bylaws, as required by the agreement signed with 
the lending banks in 2015, for a maximum amount of 54 million Euros whose minimum 
guaranteed amount of 34 million Euros, was paid by Finaid shareholders and Julia Dora 
Koranyi Arduini on 29 June 2016. The capital increase will be finalised by 30 June 2017 ii) 
on 30 November 2016, the Company sold 51% of Elettronica Santerno SpA to Enertronica 
SpA, through the subscription of a capital increase of 2.25 million Euros. 

During 2016, the Company did not carry out any atypical and/or unusual transactions, 
as defined in Note 2 of Consob Communication no. DEM/1025564 of 6/4/2001.

With regard to transactions entered into with Group companies or with related parties 
pursuant to Arts. 2391 and 2391-bis of the Italian Civil Code, we noted:

 › the existence of intra-Group transactions concerning ordinary equity, economic and 



Relazioni

financial relationships with subsidiaries and associated companies, with the parent 
company, and with other related parties. Such relationships have been described in 
detail in the attached notes to the Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial 
Statements. In particular, we point out: 

 − that such transactions of an ordinary nature primarily concern transactions of a 
financial or commercial nature, the provision of services and advisory services; 

 − that such transactions with subsidiaries and associated companies, with the 
parent company, and with other related parties are considered as being made 
against suitable payments and conforming to the interests of the Company;

 ~ we did not note the existence of atypical and/or unusual transactions entered into 
with related parties and/or capable of having a significant impact on the Com-
pany’s financial position and performance; 

 ~ the information provided by the Directors in Report on Operations and in the no-
tes to the Financial Statements on intra-Group transactions and/or transactions 
with related parties and atypical or unusual transactions, is considered to be ade-
quate.

The reports pursuant to Arts. 156 TUF and 19, paragraph 3, of Legislative Decree 
39/2010 issued by the independent auditors on the financial statements and consolida-
ted financial statements did not contain any findings or requests for further information. 
During 2016:

 › we held periodic meetings with the auditing company, during which the auditing 
plan, results and key issues arising during the statutory audit pursuant to Article 19 
of Legislative Decree 39/2010 were presented. Such reports did not, however, reveal 
any pertinent data or information that would need to be highlighted in this report;

 › pursuant to Article 17 of Legislative Decree 39/2010, with communication on 7 
March 2017, the independent auditors also confirmed their independence and that 
they had also been engaged during 2016 within the Carraro Group to perform other 
non-audit services for a total fee of 42,000 Euros, of which 39,000 Euros for services 
to Carraro Spa. In any event, for our part we constantly monitored the independence 
of the auditing company without needing to make any findings.

During the course of the fiscal year, no complaints were received pursuant to Article 
2408 of the Italian Civil Code, nor were any petitions received from shareholders and/or 
third parties. We have verified and ascertained that the Articles of Association conform to 
and are adequate for legal requirements.

The Board of Statutory Auditors did not issue and formulate, in the course of 2016, opi-
nions required by Law and issued the advisory opinions required by the Code of Conduct 
and by policies and procedures adopted by the Company.

During the year, twenty meetings of the Board of Statutory Auditors were held. The 
Board of Statutory Auditors also participated; 

 › in its collegial composition, in nine meetings of the Board of Directors pursuant to 
Article 149, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 58/98;
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 › in its collegial composition, in eight meetings of the Control and Risk Committee and 
of the Board of Statutory Auditors;

 › in three meetings of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, in general, 
with only the Chairman and/or a standing auditor attending. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors collected evidence concerning the adequacy of the 
composition, size and operation of the Board of Directors with reference to the prepara-
tion of the strategic guidelines of the company, in the definition of the corporate structure 
of the group, as well as in the existence of adequate information flows to the Board of Di-
rectors required to monitor the performance of the company and of the group.

The Board, pursuant to Legislative Decree 39/2010, in addition to sharing control 
objectives and procedures with the Independent Directors that comprise the Internal 
Control and Risk Committee, based on the provisions of the Code of Conduct, exercised 
specific monitoring of internal audit procedures and of the audits carried out by the same, 
of financial disclosures and of corporate risk identification and management. In particu-
lar, meetings were held with the company’s management concerning the methods for risk 
analysis and assessment, also following the Company’s ongoing restructuring process.

We became familiar with and monitored, within our area of responsibility, compliance 
with the principles of proper management, the adequacy of the Company’s organisational 
structure, and of regulations issued by the Company for subsidiaries pursuant to Article 
114, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 58/1998, by collecting information from relative 
responsible parties and meeting with the independent auditors appointed to audit the 
accounts. 

We maintained contact with the corresponding control bodies of Italian subsidiaries, 
obtaining information from members of the Board of Statutory Auditors of such subsi-
diaries; the purpose of this was the reciprocal exchange of data and relevant information.

We evaluated and monitored the sufficiency of the internal control and accounting sy-
stems, as well as the reliability of the accounting system for correctly presenting the ac-
tions of management, by obtaining information from responsible parties in the various 
departments, examining company documents, and analysing the results of work carried 
out by the independent auditors, with the objective of monitoring the work of those in 
charge of internal control. In particular:

 › we monitored the constant updating and sufficiency of internal procedures concer-
ning the main Company cycles, as well as the verification activities put in place by 
internal control;

 › we monitored the adoption of administrative procedures designed to provide ne-
cessary information about operations and the financial position and performance of 
companies established and regulated by the laws of non-EU member states that have 
significant relevance, within the meaning of the combined provisions of Articles 36 
and 39 of the so-called “Markets Regulations”.
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The Board agrees with the contents of the Report on Corporate Governance attached 
to the Financial Statements, where an analytical description is given of the specific im-
plementation of corporate governance rules required by the Code of Conduct, which the 
Company, in disclosure to the public, has declared it adopts. This report was prepared in 
accordance with the instructions of the Regulations of the Organised Markets managed 
by the Italian Stock Exchange and of the TUF. As required by Article 149, paragraph one, 
letter c-bis, of Legislative Decree 58/1998 and by Code of Conduct, we monitored:

 › the methods of implementing the rules of corporate governance required by the afo-
rementioned code without needing to make any qualifications;

 › the correct application of the criteria and the verification procedures adopted by the 
Board of Directors to evaluate the independence of its members, as well as other pu-
blic tender procedures.

The Board agrees with the contents of the Report of the Appointments and Remunera-
tion Committee attached to the Financial Statements, providing a detailed illustration of 
the concrete implementation of remuneration policies.

The Board agrees with the contents of the Report of the Control and Risk Committee 
attached to the Financial Statements, providing a detailed illustration of the activities 
carried out and the assessments of the internal control system.

Pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements of Section 8 paragraph 1 of the 
Corporate Governance Code, we acknowledge to have verified the existence of requisites 
for the independence of members of the Board of Statutory Auditors, according to criteria 
required by the Code of Conduct and to have proceeded with reference to each member in 
accordance with procedures designed to ensure impartial and truthful evaluation. 

In accordance with the provisions of Legislative Decree 231/2001, as amended, of its 
Organization, Management and Control Model, and of its Code of Ethics, during 2016, 
the Company carried out activities aimed at ensuring the effective implementation of a 
system oriented to prevent any liability with regard to significant offenses. 

During the year, we constantly carried out monitoring activities as required by Article 
149 of Legislative Decree 58/1998, and we can conclusively confirm that in carrying out 
our activities, we did not ascertain any irregularities, omissions, or punishable acts and 
therefore do not have any proposals to make to the Shareholders’ Meeting pursuant to 
Article 153, paragraph 2 of Legislative Decree 58/1998.

The Financial Statements as at 31 December 2016 of Carraro Spa and the Consolidated 
Financial Statements as at the same date, were prepared in accordance with the interna-
tional accounting standards Ias/Ifrs issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (Iasb), in conformity with the provisions of Legislative Decree of 28 February 2005, 
no. 38, enacted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 19 July 2002. 
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The Board of Statutory Auditors has examined the criteria adopted in preparation of 
the above-mentioned Financial Statements, with particular reference to the content and 
structure, the basis of consolidation and uniformity of application of accounting stan-
dards, the existence of adequate disclosure on corporate performance and on evaluations 
carried out for impairment testing and on the continuation of the business as a going 
concern. 

Since analytical control of the content of the Financial Statements is not our responsi-
bility, we have monitored the general structure of the Financial Statements and Consoli-
dated Financial Statements, their compliance with the law with regard to their formation 
and structure and in this regard we have no particular observations to make.

To the best of our knowledge, the Directors, in preparing the Financial Statements, did 
not depart from the rules of law pursuant to Article 2423, paragraph four of the Italian 
Civil Code. 

We have verified that the Financial Statements and the Directors’ Report on Operations 
are consistent with the facts and information of which we are aware as a result of the exe-
cution of our duties and we have no observations in this regard. The statutory Financial 
Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements of Carraro Spa are accompanied by 
the required report of the independent auditors, to which we refer.

In light of the foregoing, the Board gives its favourable opinion for approval of the Fi-
nancial Statements for the fiscal year closed on 31 December 2016 as submitted by the 
Board of Directors, and is in agreement with the Board concerning the carryforward of 
operating losses.

Campodarsego, 9 March 2017

the board of statutory auditors

SAVERIO BOZZOLAN  STEFANIA CENTORBI  ANDREA CORTELLAZZO
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

PURSUANT TO ART. 14 AND 16 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010 

 

 

 

To the Shareholders of  

Carraro S.p.A. 

 

 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Carraro Group, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the consolidated income 

statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

The Directors of Carraro S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 

that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 

the European Union and the requirements of national regulations issued pursuant to art. 9 of Italian 

Legislative Decree n° 38/05. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) issued pursuant to 

art. 11 of Italian Legislative Decree 39/10. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

entity’s preparation that give a true and fair view of consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

Carraro Group as at December 31, 2016, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and 

the requirements of national regulations issued pursuant to art. 9 of Italian Legislative Decree n° 38/05. 

 

Other Matter 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Carraro Group as at December 31, 2015 were audited by other 

auditors, whose report dated March 23, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements. 

 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

Opinion on the consistency of the report on operations and of certain information included in the report on 

corporate governance with the consolidated financial statements 

 

We have performed the procedures indicated in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n° 720B in order to express, 

as required by law, an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations and of certain information 

included in the report on corporate governance required by art. 123-bis, n° 4, of Italian Legislative Decree n° 

58/98, which are the responsibility of the Directors of Carraro S.p.A., with the consolidated financial 

statements of the Carraro Group as at December 31, 2016. In our opinion the report on operations and the 

information included in the report on corporate governance referred to above are consistent with the 

consolidated financial statements of the Carraro Group as at December 31, 2016. 

 

 

DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A. 

 

Signed by 

Gianna Adami 

Partner 

 

 

Padova, Italy  

March 9, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of international readers. 
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Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Carraro Spa
of 31 March 2017

Chairman: Enrico Carraro

Shareholders present: 10 shareholders in person or by proxy representing 66.304% of to-
tal share capital amounting to 30.493.394 ordinary shares with voting rights.

 The Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting:

› approved the Financial Statements at 31/12/2016 and the Report of the Board of Di-
rectors on the operations of 2016, resolving to carry forward the loss for the year of 
1.437.173,17 Euros;

› approved the first section of the Report on the Remuneration of Directors and Key 
Managers;

› approved the proposal to determine the annual fees for the office, establishing this to 
be 40,000 Euros for each Director - valid until the date of the shareholders’ meeting 
to approve the 2017 financial statements - and determining the total annual amount of 
2.100.000 Euros - also valid until the date of the shareholders’ meeting to approve the 
2017 financial statements - for fees to be assigned to members of the Board of Directors 
with particular positions, including the Chairman, Deputy Chairman, Chief Executive 
Officer and members of committees, giving the Board of Directors the power to distrib-
ute the amount among its members.
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